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(2022-2023)

The Nielsen Company & IQVIA
JERFR D A] & IQVIA

% Wai Yuen Tong Hou Tsao Powder Ranked 1st in Sales Value & %
Sales Volume for 9 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong

o 7 3 Ak 3 B8 B A O AR S S U R BN S R AR —

* Based in part on data reported by Nielsen (June 2013 to May 2020) and IQVIA (June 2020 to May 2022)
through its Retail Index Service for the defined Hou Cho Powder segment of Cough Remedy category
for the 9-year period ending May 2022, for Key Account Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong
Kong (Copyright © 2020, The Nielsen Company; Copyright © 2022, IQVIA)

* RiENielsen BB R E) (201346 A E 202095 7) KIQVIA (2020496 A E2022F5A) + #iE2022F
SAILOFHIR - 2 EHEET -« EAERER R IEZEREARE) T ERERE (© 2020H
FRAFIRMERTA + © 2022 IQVIARRIEFTA)

Pearl’s
L
a
The Nielsen Company IHEE EEH% BH 855
RRHAR MOSQUITOUT =t
7280 Keep Mosquitoes Away @
Pearl’s Mosquitout Patch Ranked 1st in Sales Value (HK$) EE%;E%;?M
Share for 3 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong nzngo maerT
il G 1508 e 3R T i 2o A 3 AR S B L A R — ‘ A
‘%‘QQ
* Based in part on data reported by Nielsen (March 2019 to February 2022) through its Retail Index 915124 ,‘;’::'“
Service for the defined Patch segment of Mosquito Repellent category for the 3-year period ending
February 2022, for Total Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong. (Copyright © 2022, Pearl’s
NielsenlQ) Your Family Choice
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The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
== B RGN
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ﬁ#@%ﬁ'l% Wai Yuen Tong — 10 Years Plus Caring Company
caringcompany B8 2 — 104 Plus i 2 B 4
Awarded by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
B GRS R R
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
BB ERGHS years+
S _— | s mREE
Luxembourg Medicine — 15 Years Plus Caring Company Carln compan
Eﬁ%k%m - 15ﬂaplusﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ Awarded byTh%ng Kongéoincﬂﬁ}eoga\ Sem%ye
St EREHEE
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Chairman’s Statement

£ e

With a century-long history and well-established reputation, “Wai Yuen Tong”
has continuously strived for excellence in both Western and Chinese medicine
products, as well as traditional Chinese medicine outpatient services for over
125 years. | hereby express my heartfelt gratitude to all colleagues for their
dedication during the past challenging year in the inheritance of tradition, and
contribution to the health of people in the community.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Wai Yuen
Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”), | present to the shareholders the annual report for the year ended 31
March 2023 (the “Year” or the “year under review").

Traditional Chinese Medicine (“TCM") is a unique health resource in the PRC,
with enormous economic potential, scientific and technological resource with
original advantages, excellent cultural resource and important ecological resource,
which play an important role in socio-economic development. With the in-depth
development of the PRC's new industrialisation, informatisation, urbanisation,
and agricultural modernisation, accelerated aging population, the booming
development of the healthcare services industry and the increasing demand for
TCM services by the public, it becomes imperative to inherit, develop and utilize
TCM effectively, fully leveraging its role in deepening the reform of the medical and
health system to benefit the health of mankind. The State Council has formulated a
planning outline for the future development direction and work priorities of TCM in
the PRC to promote the health development of the field. In March 2022, the State
Council further refined and adjusted the Implementation Plan on the basis of the
“14th Five-Year Plan” for the Development of Traditional Chinese Medicine, clarifying
the goals and tasks for the development of TCM during the “14th Five-Year Plan”.
These policies fully demonstrate the Chinese government’s absolute determination
to promote the long-term and stable development of the TCM industry.

Wai Yuen Tong has upheld the philosophy of “Preparing Medicine with Dedication,
Growing Strong with Reputation” since its establishment in 1897. With sincerity
in promoting the profound healthcare wisdom of TCM, we are committed to
promoting the national TCM industry to the world. We aim to lead the industry in
establishing higher quality standards, while providing comprehensive and attentive
pharmaceutical products and services to every customer.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
EN &AW

Business Development

Currently, the Group holds “Wai Yuen Tong”, a widely-known Chinese medicine
and health food brand, through Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited ("Wai
Yuen Tong"’ or "WYT Medicine’, together with its subsidiaries, the “WYT Medicine
Group’), and holds “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, two world-renowned Western
medicine brands, through Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited ("Luxembourg
Medicine’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Luxembourg Medicine Group”),
creating synergy through the two-pronged development of the Group’s Chinese
and Western medicine and healthcare businesses. Despite the challenges and
uncertainties brought by the recurring COVID-19 pandemic over the past year,
the Group has actively faced and bravely resolved difficulties, achieving significant
growth in its pharmaceutical business throughout the Year. During the year under
review, amid repeated outbreaks of COVID-19, the demand for Chinese medicine
clinic services in Wai Yuen Tong retail stores continued to rise, with particular growth
in residential districts. During the Year, the Group opened 9 new stores in Hong
Kong and Macau, located in Tuen Mun, Yuen Long, Tin Shui Wai, To Kwa Wan, Mong
Kok, Chai Wan and New Yaohan, etc.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had over a hundred stores in Mainland China,
Hong Kong and Macau, with more than 80 Chinese medicine practitioners in
Hong Kong. According to Ipsos’ market survey on consumers of Chinese health
supplement products conducted in April 2023, Wai Yuen Tong is considered as
the most trustworthy brand among TCM practitioner’'s network by the majority
of respondents. We also have two Chinese medicine clinics in the PRC, and our
products are sold in over 30 countries worldwide where Chinese people are present,
and such cooperative operation has lasted for around 30 years. As for the Chinese
medicine business, with the help of the business operation model of franchised
stores, the business development of our stores has been rapidly expanded. During
the year under review, new products have been launched in the five major product
categories of Chinese medicine (proprietary Chinese medicines, dietary supplement,
homology of medicine and food, decoction and concentrated granule, and lifestyle
products), providing a richer and more diverse selection of products within each
category. Wai Yuen Tong has three flagship products, including the most well-
known “Angong Niuhuang Wan (& &4 & #1)" series (including gold-packed
Angong Niuhuang Wan which uses three natural ingredients and Angong Niuhuang
Wan with pharmacopoeia prescriptions), our most classic “Young Yum Pill (Zk&
A", also known as “Young Sheng Pill (B4 #1)", which was awarded the Lingnan
Traditional Chinese Medicine Cultural Heritage of Guangdong Province in 2009,
and last but not least, "Hou Tsao Powder (R ZEFR ZEER)", ranked first in sales for 9
consecutive years in Hong Kong, making it a preferred choice of healthcare product
for many consumers. The Group has established in Hong Kong for years and is well-
supported and recognised by our customers with its large and experienced team of
in-store registered Chinese medicine practitioners.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Meanwhile, the sales channels of the Western medicine business have been
expanded through the hospital and health and beauty product chain store
deployment in Mainland China. To further enhance the sales efficiency of Western
medicine products, the Group has strengthened the production of OEM product line
during the year under review. The Group has invested nearly HK$S600 million in the
construction of a TCM and Western medicine Good Manufacturing Practice ("GMP”)
factory in Yuen Long (the “Yuen Long Factory"), in accordance with the standard
of “The Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme” ("PIC/S"), a stringent
manufacturing practice regulation with worldwide recognition. In line with the
government’s target to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050, the Group commenced
the installation of solar panels at its Yuen Long Factory in 2022 as planned to
reduce carbon emissions. While consolidating our corporate brand strength with
continuous effort in leveraging our advantage of “100% made in Hong Kong”, the
Group also focuses on reducing emission and enhance efficiency to achieve a win-
win situation for the environment and the economy.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
305 Wl o)

The intelligent automatic packaging system jointly developed by Wai Yuen Tong
and the Hong Kong Productivity Council was put into use in October last year. This
unique system was designed to meet to the needs of Wai Yuen Tong and is capable
of handling the packaging for all types of one-dose vials with different box shapes
(including fan-shaped and rectangular shaped), materials and volume. With the
integration of fully intelligent computerized numerical control and precision robotic
arms for assistance in production, the packaging efficiency can be increased by six-
fold. Besides, the system significantly enhances the stability of the packaging and
reduces material waste resulting from errors.

Outlook

Looking ahead, despite the various uncertainties in the market following the
COVID-19 pandemic, we anticipate a rapid recovery in the economic and cross-
border tourism industries as social distancing measures are lifted. We also believe
that the domestic and local retail sectors will see improvements in performance
compared to the previous year. Furthermore, in the post-COVID era, there is an
increasing focus among the general public on personal health and well-being,
which is beneficial for the development of the proprietary Chinese medicines and
dietary supplement industries. The Group will continue to focus on its core business
operations, including one-stop integrated Chinese medicine clinics, e-commerce
and the pet market. Additionally, we will embrace a spirit of “change and innovation”
and actively explore opportunities in different markets, including Chinese and
Western proprietary medicine, dietary supplement and personal care products.
Through mature and diversified sales models, we aim to increase the Group's
revenue and provide the maximum investment return for our shareholders.

1 0 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Appreciation

I would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank our business partners and
shareholders for their continuous trust in the Group, and express my gratitude to
all employees for their dedication and unremitting efforts. We will continue to exert
our utmost efforts to enhance the long-term sustainable development of the Group,
with the aim of achieving satisfactory return for the shareholders.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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For over the past century, Wai Yuen Tong has been an internationally
renowned brand with roots in Hong Kong. Looking forward,
we will continue to develop our core business with flexible operational
mechanisms and give full play to the synergy of TCM and western
pharmaceutical medicine and health food.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Consolidated Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year”), total revenue of the Group
decreased by approximately 7.5% to approximately HK$1,286.4 million, which was
mainly attributable to the decrease in sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets.

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the parent of
approximately HK$20.5 million (2022: loss attributable to owners of the parent of
approximately HK$108.9 million). Such reduction in loss was mainly attributable to
the combined effect of (i) increase in gross profit generated from the production
and sale of pharmaceutical and health food products; (i) decrease in fair value losses
on owned investment properties; (iii) decrease in fair value losses on financial assets;
and (iv) decrease in loss on disposal/redemption of debt investments, as partially
offset by the absence of compensation income from litigation judgement for the
financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the
financial year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). No interim dividend was declared for
the six months ended 30 September 2022 (30 September 2021: Nil).

Business Review

The Hong Kong economy experienced a significant contraction in 2022, following a
visible expansion in 2021. The contraction was due to the fifth wave of the COVID-19
epidemic in Hong Kong, a deteriorated external environment and tightened financial
conditions. The real GDP of Hong Kong for 2022 as a whole contracted by 3.5%
compared to that of 2021. Hong Kong's total exports of goods suffered a significant
drop, with exports to major markets such as Mainland China, the United States,
and the European Union declining sharply. This was attributed to the moderated
global economic growth and the disruption to cross-boundary truck movements
between Hong Kong and Mainland China. Exports to other major markets in Asia
also witnessed a decline in performance.

Moving forward, it is expected that the Hong Kong economy will experience
a significant rebound in 2023. Although demand from advanced economies is
projected to be weakened further, which may negatively impact Hong Kong's
exports of goods, the expected faster growth of Mainland China’s economy and the
removal of cross-boundary truck movement restrictions between Hong Kong and
Mainland China should provide some support for exports of goods from Hong Kong.
Additionally, with the lifting of quarantine arrangements for inbound visitors and the
resumption of normal travel between Hong Kong and Mainland China towards the
end of the Year, visitor arrivals are expected to record a strong comeback and serve
as a key driver of economic growth in the upcoming year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Chinese Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

The fifth wave of the COVID-19 epidemic hit Hong Kong rapidly and fiercely. In
March 2022, the highly transmissible Omicron variant strain caused a turbulent
epidemic phase, during which the number of COVID-19 infections peaked and many
Hong Kong residents were left suffering from post COVID-19 symptoms, commonly
known as Long Covid. As a result, there has been a strong demand for Chinese
medicine practitioners’ consultation services and health supplements. At Wai Yuen
Tong, we prioritize the health of our customers. To facilitate proper treatment, we
activated online Chinese medicine practitioners’ consultation services. We also
launched several campaigns to help Hong Kong residents address Long Covid
symptoms, boosting sales of most of our respiratory-related products.

Despite the challenges posed by the epidemic, Wai Yuen Tong launched several
new products to reinforce our position in the Angong Niuhuang Wan market and
also entered the cancer supplements segment. In order to extend our care and
provide easier access of our products and services to the public, we continue to
expand our business by opening new retail outlets, listing in key drug stores, and
investing in our online presence.

As a result of the Group's efforts described above, the total revenue of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food products increased to approximately HK$635.0
million, equivalent to approximately 23.9% growth from the previous year.

Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

During the first 9 months of 2022, the economy of Hong Kong continued to be
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. However, stepping into the fourth quarter of
2022, Hong Kong has started resuming to normal with less restriction on commercial
and social activities. Notwithstanding this, the Group still faces business challenges
such as uncertain retail market sentiments and changes in consumption pattern.

Responding to such a turbulent market environment, the Group keeps striving
different efforts in realizing business opportunities in the market. “Madame Pearl’s”,
our flagship brand, achieved the Hong Kong cough syrup sales champion for 12
consecutive years, underpinned by our continuous efforts in strategic sales and
marketing activities. During the Year, the Group made sound and solid progress on
building up the effective Hong Kong trade channels on distributing “Luxembourg"-
branded products. Furthermore, to comply with Mainland China’s relevant
regulations, the Group has engaged various local distributors to increase the channel
penetration of the “Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s” brands into Mainland China.

"

As regards “Pearl’s”, another key brand of the Group, we have established leadership
in mosquito repellent product category in the Hong Kong market. The revenue of
"Pearl’s” Mosquitout product range reported a satisfactory growth over last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the pandemic period, consumer purchasing behavior has greatly shifted
from offline to online. In response to this trend, we have been actively deploying
resources to develop our e-commerce business channels, including the distribution
of “"Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl's” products through our own online platform (WYT
eShop) and selected third-party e-commerce platforms, e.g. HKTVmall, Ztore, etc. as
well as developing our cross-border e-commerce business.

"

As a result of the Group's efforts described above, the total revenue of Western
pharmaceutical and health food products delivered a growth of 100.1% over same
period of last year.

Property Investment

As at 31 March 2023, the Group owned 13 properties in Hong Kong which are all
retail properties or industrial building (whereas the Group has entered into two sale
and purchase agreements with respect to the disposal of two properties which
transactions are pending completion as of 31 March 2023). A majority of these
properties were used as the retail shops under self-operating and franchise modes.
The Group also owned agricultural produce exchange markets in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The net fair value losses on owned investment
properties for the Year amounted to approximately HK$14.1 million (2022: net fair
value losses of approximately HK$83.3 million) as a result of the further deterioration
of property market condition.

During the Year, the Group subdivided a property at Ground Floor and Cockloft, Nos.
581 and 581A Nathan Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong into two properties. A
property was used by the Group as retail shop and another one was leased out for
generating rental income.

During the Year, the Group completed the disposal of a property-holding company
holding a property situated at Ground Floor of Bowring Building, No.14 Bowring
Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a consideration of HK$48.8 million on 22 March
2023. Please refer to the joint announcement dated 6 January 2023 of the Company
and Wang On Group Limited ("Wang On”) for details of the property disposal.

On 6 February 2023, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to sell a property-holding company
holding a property situated at the 11th Floor of Well Town Industrial Building
(together with the related roof portion and a carparking space), No. 13 Ko Fai Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$71.0 million, completion of which
took place on 19 June 2023. This property was classified as assets of a disposal
company as at 31 March 2023. Please refer to the joint announcements dated 6
February 2023 and 19 June 2023 of the Company and Wang On for details of the
property disposal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

OB Y a B o T oa)

On 21 March 2023, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to sell a property situated at Shop B on
G/F and Portion of the Yard, Nos. 66, 68, 70 & 72 Tai Wai Road, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$66.8 million, completion of which will take
place on 30 June 2023. This property was classified as assets held for sale as at 31
March 2023. Please refer to the joint announcement dated 21 March 2023 of the
Company and Wang On for details of the property disposal.

Management and Sale of Properties in Agricultural Produce Exchange
Markets

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ("CAP’, together with its subsidiaries, the
“CAP Group’) is principally engaged in the management and sale of properties in
agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC. The CAP Group managed 11
agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC, across five provinces. During the
Year, CAP recorded revenue of approximately HK$562.8 million (2022: approximately
HK$830.5 million) which included (i) approximately HK$393.8 million (2022:
approximately HK$411.9 million) generated from operating of agricultural produce
exchange markets, and (i) approximately HK$169.0 million (2022: approximately
HK$418.6 million) generated from sale of properties.

Hubei Province

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Wuhan
Baisazhou Market’) is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange operators
in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated in the Hongshan District of Wuhan
City, the PRC with a site area of approximately 310,000 square metres and one of
the most notable agricultural products market in Hubei Province. Wuhan Baisazhou
Market was awarded top 50 of agricultural produce exchange markets by China
Agricultural Wholesale Market Association. The award was a sign to the market
contribution being made by the CAP Group's effort and expertise as an agricultural
produce exchange market operator in the PRC. Rental income from properties
letting is the major income generated from Wuhan Baisazhou Market.

The COVID-19 epidemic phased out since the beginning of 2023. During the Year, it
did not cause significant effect on this market which was able to remain in normal
operations.

1 6 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

N_EBE_=F=F-+—H KEHRE
BUYF=—HUBRKEEDRS  UWEE
BEAMADHKREE6H - 685 © 705
K725 T R E 0 R HBIRE A ZE - R
1B 566,800,000/ 7T * ZX BN _ZE =
—FRAZTHER - HEZZTZ-=F
—RA=+—8 ZWEHESBEAFELD
EEE BHHAWELNE S H2H
AR RRLEABHR-_E-_=F=A=
+—BZBE R -

EENRHEREMXSTHZWE

FPRRERRSBERAR(FTEHEE
m] o ERENBAGAIPEHEER
EEDIZEFERERERR I TS
CHEEERHEE FRREREEH
RAEREEHEERNHAEERR S
mE - RAFEE  FREERBESFSK
% #7562,800,0008 T (ZEZ=F : 49
830,500,000/ 7L) + HABIEOEERE
MR 5 W5 E 4 2 49393,800,0007 7T (=
T~ 4 1 %9411,900,00058 7T) 0 R (i) 8
EWEE A 2 49169,000,000/8 T (T =
— 4 #9418,600,000/87T) °

il

e =
RzAPMEREESRRSFMHE(RER
DHNTED 2R BEEANEERR D
MEEEBER 2 — o READMNTIBAR
PR EM LR - (SHEEFE4Y310,000
K WETILERAMERNRER
MiEz— - REBD MM 5L E 2B
MEEFRLEAETAITEEAERA T
EMS] c RBBERTTRHEERSEEE
ATHEERRIMIGEERUELSE N
MEEMBEHMISAELRNER - W
MBS WATRZADMTIZES
ZEBIWA

FHBEBRESHARBEE S _=F4
BHHER - RAFE  FIABEHRESM
KEBHZMBTESIREAFE B
B R EE -



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Huangshi Market

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Huangshi
Market") is a joint venture project of the CAP Group founded in January 2015
with an operating area of approximately 23,000 square metres. Huangshi city is a
county level city in Hubei and around 100 kilometres away from Wuhan Baisazhou
Market. Huangshi Market, as a second-tier agricultural produce exchange market,
created synergy effect with Wuhan Baisazhou Market, facilitating vegetables and by-
products trading. During the Year, the operation performance of Huangshi Market
was steady.

Suizhou Market

Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Suizhou
Market’) is another joint venture project of the CAP Group founded in March 2018.
It occupied approximately 240,000 square metres. The CAP Group pursued asset-
light operation business model by taking up the contract management rights to
operate this market. During the Year, the turnover of Suizhou Market increased as
compared to that of the last financial year.

Henan Province

Luoyang Market

Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Luoyang Market")
is the flagship project of the CAP Group in Henan Province, the PRC, with a site area
of approximately 255,000 square metres. The turnover of Luoyang Market decreased
due to the decrease of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to
that of the last financial year.

Puyang Market

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Puyang Market")
is one of the CAP Group's joint venture projects in cooperation with a local
partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, Puyang Market faced keen
competition from a new market. The turnover of Puyang Market increased due to
the improvement in agricultural products transaction commission during the Year
as compared to that of the last financial year.

Kaifeng Market

Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Kaifeng Market"),
with a gross floor construction area of approximately 140,000 square metres, is the
CAP Group's third market operation point for the facilitation of the building of an
agricultural produce market network in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year,
the turnover of Kaifeng Market decreased due to the decrease of properties sale
recognition as compared to that of last financial year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region

Yulin Market

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin Market”)
is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets in Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC ("Guangxi Region”) with a site area of approximately
415,000 square metres. The turnover of Yulin Market decreased due to the decrease
of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of the last
financial year.

Qinzhou Market

Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Qinzhou Market”),
with a gross floor construction area of approximately 180,000 square metres, is
the CAP Group's second market operation point for the facilitation of the building
of an agricultural produce market network in the Guangxi Region. The operation
performance of Qinzhou Market was steady during the Year.

Jiangsu Province

Xuzhou Market

Xuzhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Xuzhou Market") occupies
approximately 200,000 square metres and is located in the northern part of Jiangsu
Province, the PRC. The turnover of Xuzhou Market decreased slightly during the Year
as compared to that of the last financial year.

Huai’an Market

Huai'an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Huai’an Market"),
occupies approximately 100,000 square metres, is located at Huai'an City of Jiangsu
Province, the PRC. Phase one of Huai'an Market had been in operation since October
2015 and it is expected that the transaction volume of Huai'an Market will gradually
improve after the market becomes more mature.

Liaoning Province

Panjin Market

Panjin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Panjin Market"),
with a construction area of around 50,000 square metres, is the CAP Group's first
attempt in investment in Liaoning Province, the PRC. Panjin Market focused on the
trading of river crabs and held regular market fairs. During the Year, the operation
performance of Panjin Market was steady. The turnover of Panjin Market decreased
slightly during the Year as compared to that of the last financial year.

E-commerce development

With the robust mobile network and widespread use of intelligent mobile devices
in the PRC, the CAP Group allocated cost effective resources to e-commerce
development. The CAP Group has launched a new electronic trading platform for
energizing the efficiency of agricultural products market. At the moment, the CAP
Group would take cautious cost control in electronic trading platform development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Unsecured Notes Due in 2024 (“Unsecured Notes”)

In May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term note program. The
Unsecured Notes issued under the program are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) by way of debt issue to professional
investors only (Stock Code: 5755). As at 31 March 2023, the Unsecured Notes in the
principal amount of HK$150.0 million (2022: HK$290.0 million) remained outstanding
after the repurchase and cancellation in the principal amount of HK$140.0 million
during the Year. As at 31 March 2023, carrying value of the Unsecured Notes was
approximately HK$125.2 million (2022: approximately HK$219.5 million).

Financial Review

Liquidity and Gearing and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$7,013.8 million
(2022: approximately HK$7,597.7 million) which were financed by current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,657.2 million (2022: approximately HKS$1,881.3 million),
non-current liabilities of approximately HK$1,668.2 million (2022: approximately
HK$1,755.8 million) and shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$3,688.4 million
(2022: approximately HK$3,960.6 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposit
were approximately HK$559.4 million (2022: approximately HK$541.4 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total interest-bearing debts amounted to
approximately HKS$1,646.9 million (2022: approximately HKS$1,681.2 million), all of
which bore interest at fixed and floating interest rates and were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and RMB.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The table below summarises the Group’s borrowing profile: TRBMAEENEES)
As at 31 March 2023 As at 31 March 2022
R=-TB== N
=H=+—8 =HA=+—H
Approximate Approximate
effective effective
HKS$ million interestrate HKS million interest rate
B4 A
BEABT BER=E BEETT BERAI=
Unsecured Notes R R E 125 12% 219 12%
Financial institution borrowings SRIKBEE 1,516 5% 1,392 4%
A subsidiary of Wang On Ri— BB AT - N/ATE A 70 10%
Other borrowings HtEE 6 7% - N/AZ 3 R
Total HRET 1,647 1,681

As at 31 March 2023, the Unsecured Notes issued by CAP will mature in September RZEBEZ=F=A=+—0 " PERE
2024; the financial institution borrowings of the Group will mature during the period uu RETIEERZRERENR T -_MNFN

from May 2023 to May 2029; the loan from a subsidiary of Wang On of HK$70.0 BH  REBZEeRMEBEESR
million was fully repaid in August 2022; and the other borrowings of the Group will —ET-= Efﬁﬂ EZTNFHRAHME
mature in April 2023. kAR —ERBRAREMNEER

mwww%naﬁfz::iﬂﬂuﬁ
BE  AEENHEMEEBER T =
PN A RIH o

The current ratio, being a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities, was mELEEME RS EEHARDEE L

approximately 1.6 (2022: approximately 1.5). The gearing ratio, being the ratio of RN BI6(ZEZ2F - 4915) - BE

total interest-bearing debts net of cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits BEL X BEHBENRIES KB

to equity attributable to owners of the parent, was approximately 46.3% (2022: LERBEEREERBERETR T%ﬁ

approximately 45.3%). The Group always adopts a conservative approach in its AR 2 R B Ba63n(ZF ==

financial management. F 1 #H453%) o REB —MFITEEMN
MBER -
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Significant Investments Held
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$193.7 million and approximately HK$47.4 million respectively,
details of which were set out as follows:

Name of Investments

e

(a)  Financial assets at fair

() RAVESEHZERE

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Asat 31 March 2023
R=B==
ZA=t-H

Percentage

to Group's

netassets

Amount
held

fEA%E

fsel REFE

For the financial year ended

ZA=t-HLYHEE

Fair value
gain/(loss)
AYE
s,/
(&8
HK$000

31 March 20

O B o e B g BT o)

FiEEARE
MNRZZE_=F=A=+—8  A&EHEK
AFELEMEEREAR s CREE
RIEARTFELERARZEHEED
7l £ 49193,700,0007 7T & #947,400,0007
JC - BEFFIEEIINT ¢

Fair value/
23 carrying amount

BEZ3C-=

Interest
income

RSB

LAY/ BEE
Asat
31 March
2023

Asat
31 March
2022

Investment
costs

Dividend
received

R-B-=fF NZB=Z
ZA=t-H
HKS000
{‘s’E‘TE

RERA

EkBE
HKS 000

value through other ANEZEHEE
comprehensive income:
- Eouityinvestmens - RERE
Wang On Ny f) 89271 Y] (30901) - - 89271 12017 81,506
Others Hth i) 54378 147 1456 - 98 54378 26954 75851
- Debtinvestments - EBRE ] 50036 136 936 215 - 50036 19839 64653
Sub-total N 193,705 525 (28509) 2153 908 193705 166,965 W00
(b)  Financial assets at fair h) BAFESERAEZ
value through profit SREER:
or loss:
- Unlisted funds - FLmER i) 41637 13 (5431) - 1192 41637 99,644 %750
- Others - E i) 5812 016 15 - - 5812 1009 5470
Sub-total NGt 47449 129 (5306) - 1192 47449 109,740 102220
Total @ 241154 654 (3819) 215 2120 241154 276,705 34230
AT EEEERERAA
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

Wang On

Wang On is principally engaged in (i) management and sublicensing of fresh markets
and treasury management in Hong Kong and the PRG; (i) property investment, property
development and asset management in Hong Kong through Wang On Properties
Limited (Stock Code: 1243), its 75%-owned listed subsidiary; (i) manufacturing and/
or retailing of pharmaceutical and health food products through the Company,
its 67.26%-owned listed subsidiary; and (iv) management and sale of properties in
agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC through CAP, a 53.37%-owned listed
subsidiary of the Company. As at 31 March 2023, the Group is interested in 1,716,749,000
shares in Wang On, representing approximately 10.74% of all its issued shares.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other equity securities and bonds,
the fair value of each of which represented less than 1.00% of the net assets of the
Group as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other unlisted funds and derivative
financial instruments, the fair value of each of which represented less than 1.00% of the
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023.

Financial Review and Prospects of Significant Investments Held

(a)

22

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include
listed equity securities and listed debt investments. The Group has always
adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely monitor the market
changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and when necessary. The
Group intended to hold these investments for long term purpose aiming to
generating a stable income.

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the Group’s investment in bonds
and equity securities amounted to approximately HK$50.1 million (2022:
approximately HK$19.8 million) and approximately HK$143.6 million (2022:
approximately HK$147.1 million), respectively.

The Group recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income of approximately HK$28.5
million in the other comprehensive income for the Year (2022: net loss of
approximately HK$55.8 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
As at 31 March 2023, the Group maintained an investment portfolio of
unlisted funds and derivative financial instruments. The Group has always
adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely monitor the market
changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and when necessary.

The Group had recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$5.3 million for the Year
(2022: net loss of approximately HK$31.7 million).

Foreign Exchange

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has material foreign exchange exposure
in RMB. A majority of bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
RMB. The revenue of the Group, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB,
matches the currency requirements of the Group's operating expenses. Currently,
the Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.

The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly arising
from its operations in Mainland China. The RMB exposure of the Group is mainly
derived from currency translation risk arising from the net assets of our Mainland
China subsidiaries. The re-translation of these net assets denominated in RMB into
Hong Kong dollars using the exchange rate as of the reporting date resulted in a
re-translation loss of approximately HK$243.1 million (2022: gain of approximately
HKS$132.6 million). The re-translation loss/gain was recognized in other
comprehensive income/exchange reserve.

Treasury Policy

With an aim to ensuring adequate financial resources are available for business
growth whilst maintaining a prudent capital structure, the Group manages its
financial risks including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. The Group
invests its surplus funds in equity securities and debt investments to maximize assets
efficiency.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had capital commitment of approximately HK$225.9
million (2022: approximately HK$272.9 million) in respect of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and payments of construction contracts, which were
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2023, certain bank loans of the Group were secured by the Group's
property, plant and equipment, owned investment properties and certain rental
income generated therefrom, properties held for sale, assets classified as held
for sale, assets of a disposal company, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, and pledged deposits, with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$3,086.8 million (2022: approximately HK$2,926.4 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

OB Y a B o T oa)

Financial Guarantee

As at 31 March 2023, the Group provided guarantees of approximately HK$36.1
million to customers in favor of certain banks for the loans provided by the banks to
the customers of the properties sold (2022: approximately HK$45.5 million). Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on mortgage payments by
these purchasers before the expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales
proceeds.

Other Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals of
Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant investment held, nor was there any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the Year. As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets nor acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.

Litigation

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-Product
Grand Market Company Limited ("“Baisazhou Agricultural’) from independent
third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and
Commercial Development Co., Limited (“Tian Jiu") for their respective 70% and 20%
interests in Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Baisazhou Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of civil proceedings in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil proceedings in Mainland China and
Hong Kong in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the CAP
Group:

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced proceedings against the PRC
Ministry of Commerce (‘MOFCOM’) in the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s
Court, seeking, inter alia, a direction that MOFCOM revoke its approval in respect of
the Baisazhou Acquisition.

Itis alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

(@)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements (the “Contended
Agreements’) in relation to the Baisazhou Acquisition wherein the related
consideration was understated and the manner of settlement of the
consideration was inaccurately described;
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(b)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation for filing with
MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For Industry and Commerce (the
“Hubei AIC"), and that such documentation and the Contended Agreement
involved forged signatures; and

(0 MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou Acquisition and
processed the related fillings on the basis of the above documents that are
allegedly forged.

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court directed
MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In May 2016, MOFCOM decided that
its approval issued in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked
and shall remain to be in force (the “Reconsidered Decision”).

In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced administrative proceedings
against MOFCOM in the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court seeking to set
aside the Reconsidered Decision. In March 2017, the Beijing Second Intermediate
People’s Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (the “31 March
Judgement’). On 20 December 2018, the Beijing Higher People’s Court upheld
the 31 March Judgement (the “20 December Judgement”’). Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu applied to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial and for dismissal of (i) the 31
March Judgement, and (i) the 20 December Judgement, but this application was
dismissed by the Supreme People’s Court on 29 December 2020.

As advised by the CAP Group’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by MOFCOM
in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and remain
to be in force, and the CAP Group continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of
Baisazhou Agricultural.

In May 2015, the CAP Group commenced legal proceedings against Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province (‘Hubei Court”) seeking,
inter alia, declarations and orders that the sales and purchase agreements for the
Baisazhou Acquisition (the “SPA”) have been legally made, and that Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its contractual duties under
the SPA to make the necessary filing with MOFCOM (which were subsequently
withdrawn in April 2019 in light of the decisions in respect of the MOFCOM
approvals). Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed their counterclaim for, inter alia, the return of
the CAP Group's 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural, which was dismissed by the
Hubei Court in December 2019 (the “23 December Judgement”).
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OB Y a B o T oa)

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23 December
Judgement. On 29 March 2021, the CAP Group received the judgement of the
Supreme Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29 December Judgement”) which
upheld the 23 December Judgement and dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu. As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the CAP Group, according to the 23
December Judgement and the 29 December Judgement, the CAP Group continues
to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as defendants:

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the Court of First Instance in the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “CFI") against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. CAP (as purchaser)
sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of various
provisions of the SPA. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu counterclaimed for, amongst others, an
order that CAP shall cause and/or procure the shares in Baisazhou Agricultural to be
transferred back to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect that undertakings (the
“Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not to (i) indorse, assign,
transfer or negotiate the two instruments (purportedly described as promissory
notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments’); and (ii) enforce payment in relation to
the SPA by presentation of the Instruments until the final determination of these
proceedings or further court order. Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments
will no longer fall due for payment by CAP on 5 December 2012.

The CFI handed down its judgement on 18 January 2021 awarding damages in
favor of CAP for sums exceeding the sum owed under the Instruments (the “HK
Judgement’). The CFl also ordered that the damages awarded to CAP be set-off
by the sum owed under the Instruments, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not be
allowed to enforce the Instruments against CAP. In effect, CAP is not required to
make any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian Jiu. Further, as the
counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed, CAP continues to be the legal
and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

On 20 April 2023, the CFI ruled in respect of the total damages that Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu shall pay to CAP in respect of the HK Judgement and ruled that Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu shall pay to CAP damages in the sum of HK$567,037,325.74, together
with interest thereon at judgement rate from 18 January 2021 until payment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Up to the date of this report, CAP is seeking legal advice for the recovery of damages
against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

Prosecution commenced in the PRC by Wuhan Jianghan District People’s
Procuratorate against the former director of Baisazhou Agricultural, Mr.
Zhou Jiu Ming (“Mr. Zhou")

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Jianghan District People’s Court
("Jianghan Court’) dated 19 November 2021 (the “19 November Judgement’),
the former director of Baisazhou Agricultural, Mr. Zhou, instructed other associated
personnel of Baisazhou Agricultural to unlawfully misappropriate funds of Baisazhou
Agricultural in the sum of RMB40.0 million for his personal use. Wuhan Jianghan
District People’s Procuratorate commenced prosecution against Mr. Zhou for
a penalty. Jianghan Court ordered in the 19 November Judgement that: (1) Mr.
Zhou was guilty of misappropriation of funds and was sentenced to five years of
imprisonment; (2) Mr. Zhou shall return the misappropriated funds of RMB40.0
million to Baisazhou Agricultural in accordance with the law.

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Intermediate People’s Court ("Wuhan
Court’) dated 11 January 2022 (the “11 January Judgement’), Wuhan Court
ordered that the appeal by Mr. Zhou against the 19 November Judgement be
dismissed. The 11 January Judgement is final.

The case has now come to an end.

Further details regarding the material civil proceedings of the CAP Group can be
found in the interim/annual reports and announcements issued by CAP.

Events After Reporting Period

On 12 April 2023, CAP repurchased outstanding Unsecured Notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$10.0 million via open market. The repurchased notes
had been cancelled on 21 April 2023. Details of repurchase were disclosed in the
announcement of CAP dated 12 April 2023.
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Relationship with Employees, Suppliers and Customers

The Group recognizes our employees as the key element that contributes to the
Group's success. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 1,941 (2022: 1,872) employees,
of whom approximately 35.4% (2022: approximately 34.4%) were located in
Hong Kong and Macau and the rest were located in Mainland China. The Group
remunerated its employees based on industry practices and individual performance
and experience. On top of the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and
share options may also be granted to selected staff by reference to the Group’s
performance, where appropriate, as well as the individual's performance. In addition
to the Company’s existing share option scheme, CAP has in August 2022 adopted
a share option scheme to incentivize eligible participants under such scheme to
reward and encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of CAP. The
Group also provides a defined contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund as
required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong) for our eligible employees in Hong Kong and pays
retirement contributions in accordance with the statutory requirements for our
Macau and PRC staff. Other benefits such as medical and retirement benefits and
structured training programs were also provided. Meanwhile, the Group endeavors
to provide a safe workplace to our employees. The Board believes that the Group
maintains admirable relations with the employees.

Besides, the Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationships
with the stakeholders, including business partners, suppliers, customers,
shareholders, investors and bankers to achieve its long-term business growth and
development. With an aim to enhancing the competitiveness of the brands of the
Group, it endeavors to provide consistently high quality and large range of products
to its customers; and to build up and maintain a trustworthy and long-term
relationship with its suppliers.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group examined the principal risks facing the Group through our risk
management and internal control system and we considered that the major risks
and uncertainties that may affect the Group included:

(i) industrial policy risk: (a) with the deepening of medical system reform
and the issuance of a number of industrial policies and laws in respect
of medical charge control and control of medicines and certification for
traditional Chinese medicine significant effect may be brought to the future
development of the pharmaceutical industry; and (b) obtaining all necessary
licenses and permits for the development, construction, operations and
acquisition of agricultural produce exchange markets;
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(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

environmental protection policies: environmental impact caused by waste
and wastewater generated during the pharmaceutical manufacturing process
and the construction and operations of agricultural produce exchange
markets, efficiency and security of key infrastructure;

cost control: the Group may not always be able to implement cost control
measures to effectively counter the effect of rising product cost and/or
decrease in income;

allowance for obsolete inventories: allowance for obsolete inventories due to
weather, expiry date of unsold products and other damages;

supply chain disruption: raw material shortage or price inflation due to
industrial issues, risks of supplier control and flexibilities, to deal with
competitive pricings;

inability to penetrate emerging markets: the Group may not be able to
effectively penetrate traditional industries and traditional products into
emerging markets;

respond to customer behavior: the Group may not be able to respond
effectively to economy recession, reduction in consumer spending and
change of impulsive shopping behavior;

sourcing: less globalized sourcing and lower cost competitiveness;
volatility in retail rental: continuously increasing in retail rental may reduce

our profitability if we are unable to pass on the effect of such increases to our
customers; and

foreign exchange: unfavorable fluctuations in the exchange rate may
adversely affect the Group’s cash flow and profits.

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In response to the above mentioned possible risks, the Group has been closely
monitoring the changes in the policies in Hong Kong and Mainland China, and
would strengthen our interpretation and analysis of policies and adjust strategies
in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment. In particular,
the Group will strengthen the marketing management to cope with changes
in consumer behavior and needs, closely control inventories, establish our own
sales policies and product development, safety management and environmental
protection level, and push forward the construction of lean management and risk
control system. For possible risks, the Company would actively propose solutions to
lower their impacts on the business of the Company.

Prospects

Chinese and Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

Although advanced economies may be experiencing recession, the expected
faster growth of the Mainland China’s economy and the lifting of cross-boundary
restrictions between Hong Kong and Mainland China should offer some support for
exports of goods in Hong Kong. Additionally, it is expected that there will be strong
rebound in visitor arrivals which serves as a significant driver of economic growth in
the upcoming year.

Moving forward, with the largest team of professional Chinese medicine
practitioners in Hong Kong, Wai Yuen Tong will follow its motto “Preparing Medicine
with Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation”. Our key focus is to increase our
market share by opening both self-operated and franchised retail outlets in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Macau. We will also strengthen our overseas footprints. Furthermore,
we will continue introducing new products to meet the customers’ evolving needs.
E-commerce is expected to play a crucial role in serving our consumers online in the
next financial year.

Management and Sale of Properties in Agricultural Produce Exchange
Markets

During the Year, the tension between the PRC and the United States worsened and
has slowed down the economic growth. However, such friction has little impact
on the CAP Group's operation which mainly focused on the domestic market.
Looking ahead, the CAP Group will continue to build a nationwide agricultural
produce exchange network by leveraging on its leading position in the industry,
readily replicable business model, well-advanced management system, information
technology infrastructure and quality customer services.

30 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

Y EEERR  ARE-ETUH
EEERTFBAMEBREREER - INEER
ROMIH - BRFBRGRE - AR
NTE 2 E/RE - BHIR  £K
B EHE R AR EEETRAR
FREML - BREBIEFKF - HlEB
FZHEBRRRERHE  Z2EER
RRACE - WHEGEREE B R ERIZES
R c NEBECRR - ARAIE
BEERAD R REFRRREAR
RIEBZHE -

Hil 57

TRAERREEREM
BERELERAULEAERR  BPH
M EEFEMMRIER R B BEPEA
2 BB RRGOERE  BEHELE
MEYH O M — LS5 o heih - FBH]
IEREABGLIRRYRE - KRR
FREZRENERHES S -

REARR  BETEZAFEETEE
BRI TERBREERE [LHERLE
B OREEREERK] - RMEHES
R BB MRFRRKREE RIFFFE
BEENEAEMNMTISHEE - JAITH

HE—FINREIME D  BEHN - RFIHG AR
BHRLFER MEEPTEHELNT

feRTEMBFEE  EFEFEMY
BRWER EEEERGEMESR -

EEREERERREMHEZWE

RAFE  PEEXBEZHANERBE
THR - SEBIRERE - A BHEE
SERETPEEEREETIZETNE
AMEMEEZEEM - REHHK - &
BHEEREEBEBREANITENE
Bl AIERMEBRA - TENE
BEX BANMRERKREREEERP
R% - TE—AEE2ENEEMRS
Mg



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Since the beginning of 2023, COVID-19 epidemic phased out in the PRC and the
local governments have lifted most of the health and hygiene measures imposed. Al
of the CAP Group's agricultural produce exchange markets followed but maintained
a certain level of health and hygiene measures as its competitive edges over many
local and less-sophisticated competitors. This also helps it be better adapted to the
post-pandemic market environment as public health and hygiene become a major
topic in the future.

Once again, agricultural development is the PRC Central Government's first priority
policy for the next consecutive years. In 2023, the Central Committee of Communist
Party of China and the State Council of China released the “No. 1 Central Document
of 2023". The document vows to promote investments in agricultural produce
markets, expand the agricultural produce network, build logistic infrastructure
and storage facilities for agriculture products and improve regional cold storage
infrastructure. On the other hand, it is expected that the “Belt and Road Initiative”
policy will continue to drive the overall growth of the PRC economy and provide a
sustainable way for the PRC's continuing development.

In order to capture new business opportunities, the CAP Group has taken further
steps to expand its operations in the PRC by cooperating with different partners
with an “asset light” strategy. It has also explored online platform development to
capture the opportunity brought by technology advancement and data economy. A
further expansion of the CAP Group's scope to wet market and trading is also being
pursued. With its leading position in the industry, the CAP Group is confident that its
business strategy and operation model will deliver long-term benefits to CAP and its
shareholders as a whole.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

ERGLRAEHE

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, 685, Jp, aged 61, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company in August 2001 and also assumed the role of Managing Director with
effect from 1 April 2018. He is also an authorised representative and a member of the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee and the chairman of the
executive committee of the Company. He is a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. He is responsible for the strategic planning, policy making and business
development of the Group. He has extensive experience in corporate management.
He is also the chairman, an executive director and an authorised representative
of Wang On Group Limited, and the chairman, an executive director and an
authorised representative of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (a subsidiary of
the Company), both of which are companies listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tang is a deputy director of the Committee on Education, Science,
Health and Sports of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC"), a committee member of the 12th to 14th
National Committee of CPPCC and a standing committee member and convener
of the 10th to 13th Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of CPPCC.
Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive chairman of the Federation of
Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations and the chairman of Federation
of Hong Kong Shenzhen Associations. He is the father of Ms. Tang Wai Man, an
executive Director and is also a controlling shareholder of Wang On Group Limited
which is a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Tang Wai Man, aged 32, joined the Group in January 2016 and was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 April 2018. She is an authorized representative of the
Company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance and also a member of the
executive committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration committee
of the Company. She is a director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Tang
is responsible for sales and marketing, channel sales and retail operation in Hong
Kong and Macau of the Group. She graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK
with a Master of Arts with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining the Group, she
had worked for Wang On Group Limited since July 2014 as an assistant to chairman
and other experience in financial analysis, sales and marketing and business
development in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom. She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and Managing
Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita, aged 60, joined the Group in 2004 and is the Assistant
General Manager — Purchasing Processing of the Group. She was appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the executive committee of the Company on
8 February 2021. She is a director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Law is
responsible for overall strategic planning, sales and marketing, raw material sourcing
and retail operation in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China of the Group. She
has extensive experience in pharmaceutical industry covering strategic planning,
sales and marketing, new products development and production management.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ho, v+, aged 73, was re-designated as an Independent Non-
executive Director in April 2006 from a non-executive Director and he joined the
Group in 1994. Mr. Leung is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He has more than
57 years and 26 years of experiences in the watch industry and financial industry
respectively. He is a member of the 11th and 12th plenary session of the National
Committee of the CPPCC, the chairman of Greater Bay Area Committee (also being
an Honorary Standing Committee Member) of The Chinese General Chamber
of Commerce, a Committee Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association
of Hong Kong, the Chief Supervisor of Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce in
Guangdong and the Chartered President of the Dongguan City Association of
Enterprises with Foreign Investment. Mr. Leung has also been appointed as a
candidate of 2021 Election Committee of HKSAR Chief Executive, Subsector—
Commercial (Second). Mr. Leung has also been appointed as a member of the
Election Committee of HKSAR 2022 Chief Executive Election.

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, aged 49, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director in August 2001. He is a member of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company and the chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a practising solicitor of the High Court of
Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Hong
Kong in 1996 and is a partner of a law firm, namely Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum, and a
China-Appointed Attesting Officer. His areas of practice include corporate finance,
capital markets, securities, mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and general
commercial matters. Mr. Siu is also an independent non-executive director of each
of Litu Holdings Limited (stock code: 1008), Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1706) and HKE Holdings Limited (stock code: 1726), all of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cho Wing Mou, aged 82, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director in September 2001. He is a member of the audit committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Cho was formerly a director and deputy general
manager of Hua Chiao Commercial Bank Limited and a deputy general manager
of The China State Bank Limited. He was a committee member of the 8th Political
Consultative Conference Guangxi and is also a committee member of the 4th
plenary session of the Guangxi Yulin Committee of the CPPCC, Life Chairman of
Hong Kong Guangxi Yulin Friendship Association, the Life Chairman and the advisor
of Hong Kong Guangxi Yulin City CPPCC and Life Chairman of Gee Tuck General
Association Hong Kong Limited.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

HEGAHRE N

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, v+, aged 68, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 17 March 2015. He is the chairman of the audit committee
of the Company. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, UK. Mr. Li is an independent non-executive director and the chairman
of the audit committee of Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited
(stock code: 563). Mr. Li is also an independent non-executive director, the chairman
of the audit committee, member of the nomination committee and member of the
remuneration committee of China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1123), Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 120)
and Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock code: 533), an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the audit committee and member of the remuneration
committee of China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 144), an
independent non-executive director, member of the audit committee and member
of the remuneration committee of Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding
Limited (stock code: 232), all of such companies are being listed in Hong Kong.
Mr. Li has retired as an independent non-executive director and ceased to be the
chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration committee, and a member
of the nomination committee of CR Construction Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1582), a company listed in Hong Kong, on 25 June 2021.

Senior Management

Ms. Cha Yan Fong, joined the Group in November 2022 as the General Manager
of the Group. She is responsible for managing the Chinese medicine business
unit, overseeing and supervising sales and marketing team and non-retail and
product marketing team. Prior to joining the Group, she had over 20 years of
experience in well-known companies, in which she took various senior positions in
sales, marketing management, business development with proven track records,
especially in pharmaceutical and personal care product industries. Ms. Cha obtained
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honors) specializing in marketing in
the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Dr. Tsang Yuen Wo, joined the Group in September 2018 and he is currently
the Director (Technical) of both the Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Group and the
Luxembourg Medicine Group, principal subsidiaries of the Group. He is responsible
for technical operations of the Group including quality assurance, quality control,
production, research and development, regulatory affairs, engineering and logistic
issues. Dr. Tsang received his BSc(Pharm)(Hons) degree at the Aston University and
the PhD degree at the University of Sydney. He is a registered pharmacist and a
registered Authorized Person of the Pharmacy and Poisons Board of Hong Kong. He
has more than 20 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Academically,
Dr. Tsang was the Honorary Associate Professor of the Department of Pharmacology
and Pharmacy, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, the University of Hong Kong from
2010 to 2023 and he is currently the Adjunct Associate Professor, College of Life
Sciences and Technology, the School of Professional and Continuing Education,
the University of Hong Kong. Regarding professional services, he was the Chairman
of the Pharmacy Central Continuing Education Committee from 2013 to 2017 and
he was responsible for continuing education of all registered pharmacists in Hong
Kong. He is currently the Managing Editor of the Hong Kong Pharmaceutical Journal.

Mr. Chan Siu Fai Daniel, joined the Group in September 2021 as the Head of
Factory Operations and he is responsible for monitoring factory routine operations,
implementing, reviewing and improving factory workflow to achieve efficient
management in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration in University of South Australia and a Bachelor Degree of Engineering
(Honors) in Manufacturing Engineering in Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr.
Chan has more than 31 years of experience in factory operation.

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus, joined the Company in February 2021 as the
Company Secretary and is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute.
He holds a Master Degree of Professional Accounting, a Master Degree of Corporate
Governance, a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Bachelor Degree of Arts in Translation.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung has over 11 years of experience and held
company secretary positions in several Hong Kong listed companies, including
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (stock code: 149), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board recognises that good corporate governance practices serve as an effective
risk management for the growth of the Company that will promote and enhance
the benefit of its shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). The Company
is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance with a strong
emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity and independence.

The Company continued to adopt the principles and comply with the code
provision of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules during the year under review. The Board has periodically
reviewed the compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that throughout the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Company had complied with the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board, also
assumed the role of managing Director. Currently, the Company does not propose
to comply with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code for the time being but will
continue to review such deviation to enhance the best interest of the Group as a
whole. Details of such deviation are set out below in the section headed “Chairman
and Managing Director”.

Code for Securities transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers, as amended from time to time, (the “Model Code") contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries by the Company, all of
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code throughout the year under review.

The Company also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions on
no less exacting terms than the Model Code by the relevant employees of the Group
who are considered likely to be in possession of inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities. To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, all
relevant employees complied with the required standard of such code throughout
the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Dividend Policy

In November 2018, the Company adopted a dividend policy, which is intended to
be prudent and sustainable and will be evaluated from time to time. There is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any particular
period. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, the Board
may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of payment of dividend(s) to
its Shareholders in any amount, frequency in any financial year depending on,
among other things, the Company’s operation and financial performance, liquidity
condition, capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate.

Business Model and Strategy

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing and sale of traditional
Chinese medicine; (i) the manufacturing and sale of Western pharmaceutical, health
food and personal care products; (i) property investment; and (iv) the management
and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC. The
Group continues its proactive expansion strategy for generating and preserving
shareholder value over the longer term.

With respect to the core Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products business, the Group will further leverage its edge in vertical integration. In
order to achieve this objective, the Group is enhancing the effort on new products
research, development and registration, especially focus on those Chinese and
Western medicinal products which possess their own uniqueness and curative
effect. The Group also extends its retail and medical service network aggressively to
gain market share.

With respect to the property investment business, the Group acquired CAP in mid-
February 2020 and continues to look for and acquire sizeable and potential retail
premises for mitigating the effect of rental costs.

On the other hand, the Group continues to closely monitor the market for merger
and acquisition opportunities if it can bring synergy to our existing business, as well
as diversification of its investment portfolio for strengthening and broadening its
income base. The Group also takes active and prompt measures from time to time,
reviewing and adjusting its business strategy and adopting various controls over
costs, if necessary, so as to maintain the Group's profitability. Besides, the Group
strives to maintain a healthy financing structure and devotes effort to securing
banking facilities which is regarded as an important element for supporting
continuous business development of the Group.
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The Board

Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, G8s, Jp
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, MH

Ms. Tang Wai Man is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho. The biographical details of
the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 34 of this annual report.

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. The opinions
raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices. As at the date of this annual report, the Board has four INEDs,
representing more than one-third of the Board, and at least one of the INEDs has
the appropriate professional qualification and/or accounting and audit experience
expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. A
balanced composition of executive and non-executive Directors (including INEDs)
also generates a strong independent element on the Board, which allows for an
independent and objective decision making process for the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board's composition includes different gender,
age, cultural and educational background, and professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The Company has reviewed the composition of the Board and discussed
from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary
expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group's businesses and to
enhance the Shareholders’ value. All Directors are aware of the required levels of
fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence under Rule 3.08 of the Listing Rules.

In compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of the
Directors identifying their roles and functions are available on the websites of the
Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The nomination
committee of the Company (the “"Nomination Committee’) and the Board will
review the composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board
possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the
needs of the Group's business and to enhance the Shareholders’ value.
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Appointment and Re-election of the Directors

All INEDs are appointed without specific term set out in respective letters of
appointment and all of them are subject to retirement by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)"). All INEDs' terms of office will
be renewed automatically after the re-election, unless prematurely terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the letter of appointment, the
Bye-Laws, the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act’) and the Listing
Rules, each as amended from time to time. Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the
CG Code and bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) are required to retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Director, including those appointed for a specific term, is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years, and shall be eligible for re-election at each
annual general meeting. In addition, any Director who is appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board are subject to re-election
at the first annual general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.

Independence of INEDs

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their appointment and
on an annual basis. All INEDs are free from any business or other relationship with
the Company. The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the financial
year ended 31 March 2023. The INEDs would not participate in the Group’s daily
operation and they would abstain from voting on any resolution(s) in which he had
any interest and, therefore, the Company continues to consider the four INEDs to be
independent for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and the Senior Management

The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities and performance of the
Group and its primary functions cover, among other things, the formulation of
overall strategy, the review of corporate and financial policies and the oversight
of management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart from these, the Board
reserved for its consideration and decision on major acquisitions and disposals,
review of interim and annual financial results, appointments and removals of
directors and auditors, the evaluation on the performance and compensation
of senior management, any material capital transactions and other significant
operational and financial affairs. With a view to maintaining an appropriate balance
between authority and responsibility, such functions are either carried out directly
by the Board or indirectly through various committees established by the Board,
with respective functions set out in their written terms of reference.
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The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not involved in the day-
to-day management of the Group. The general management and day-to-day
management are delegated to management of the Company, including but not
limited to the preparation of regular financial information, execution of designated
assignments, and implementation of sustainability practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter(s) shall abstain from voting at
such Board meeting(s) and the INEDs with no conflict of interest shall attend at such
meeting to deal with the matter(s).

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge their
responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors have disclosed to
the Company the identity and nature of offices held in any public organisation and
other significant commitments from time to time.

During the year under review, regular Board meetings of the Company were held
four times to review, consider and approve, among others, annual and interim
results and to review the business operations, corporate governance practices and
the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems of the Group.
Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings are also held, as and when
necessary, to consider, among others, material transactions of the Group. At least
14-day notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors. All such minutes are
kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Apart from the regular Board
meetings and pursuant to the CG Code, the chairman of the Board also met with the
INEDs without the presence of any executive Director during the year under review.
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Chairman and Managing Director

During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board,
has also assumed the role of the managing Director. Mr. Tang has extensive
management experience in corporate management in the industries of the
Group and is responsible for overall corporate planning, strategic policy making
of the Group which is of great value in enhancing the efficiency to cope with the
recent fierce competitive and ever-changing retailing market environment and
the communication between the Board and management, so as to ensure the
effective execution of the Board's strategies. Furthermore, the Board considers that
Mr. Tang is an executive of high caliber with a wide range of skills and diversified
business expertise and there are various committees and experienced individuals
dealing with specific assignments and business unit(s) and managing the daily
business operations. Moreover, the Board comprises three executive Directors and
four INEDs with balance of skills and experience appropriate for the Group's further
development. The Company had no intention to make any change to comply with
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e. the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual) at the
moment but will continue to review and propose, as and when appropriate, by
taking into consideration of such deviation and any other relevant factors, to ensure
the maximisation of the benefit of the stakeholders of the Company.

Corporate Governance

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is committed to ensuring that
an effective governance structure is in place to continuously review, monitor and
improve the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard to the
prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group's corporate governance, reviewed the code of conduct applicable to the
Directors and employees, monitored the policies and measures on the Company’s
legal and regulatory compliance, training and continuing professional development
of Directors and reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in this annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of its
corporate governance function.

Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable and balanced
development. In June 2013, the Company adopted a Board diversity policy (the
"Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to diversify the Board and
was reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board
composition on behalf of the Board and will recommend the appointment of new
Director, when necessary, pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy and the nomination

policy.
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In designing the Board's composition, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
independence and length of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider
factors based on the Company’s business model, specific needs and meritocracy
from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board recognises the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board
level and shall continue to take initiatives to identify suitable candidate(s) to enhance
the gender diversity among the Board members. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board comprised seven Directors, of whom five were male and two were female.
The Board considered gender diversity on the Board has been achieved. When
selecting and making recommendations on suitable candidates as Directors in the
future, we will consider our diversity policy and ensure the diversity of the Board.

Our diversity philosophy including the gender diversity was generally followed in
the workforce throughout the Group for the year under review. As at the date of this
annual report, approximately 25% of our senior management and approximately
67% of our total workforce were female, excluding the CAP Group. We will continue
with our endeavor to achieve a balance in gender ratio.

During the year under review, the Board comprises seven Directors, including three
executive Directors and four INEDs, thereby promoting critical review and control
of the management process. The Board is also characterised by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and the Board's
composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in
the Board Diversity Policy had been met.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
so as to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The company secretary
of the Company regularly circulates training materials or reading materials to all
Directors in respect of the updates on, among other things, the Listing Rules, the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)
or other useful guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and financial or accounting standards
which may be of the interest to the Directors and benefit for them to discharge their
duties. Each of the Directors (being Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Tang Wai Man, Ms. Law
Man Yee, Anita, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou and
Mr, Li Ka Fai, David) has complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code and has
participated in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills for the year under review.
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In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides and circulates to
the Directors with monthly and regular updates relating to the Group's business,
financial position and business environment, in which the Group operates. During
the year under review, all Directors complied with the code provision in relation to
continuous professional development. Apart from reading materials relevant to the
Company’s business, the updated rules and regulations and other director’s duties
and responsibilities by all Directors, the Directors also enhanced their professional
development by way of attending seminars and/or forums.

The company secretary of the Company updates Directors constantly on the latest
developments regarding the Group's business and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

During the year under review, all Directors have provided to the Company with their
training records, and such records have been maintained by the company secretary
of the Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
to indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate
activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed with consultant advice
on an annual basis.

Board Committees

The Board has established various committees including executive committee (the
‘Executive Committee’), the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination
Committee, each of which has the specific written terms of reference that will be
reviewed and updated, where necessary. Minutes of all meetings and resolutions
of the committee meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company
and open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions and
recommendations, where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005 with specific written
terms of reference setting out authorities delegated by the Board. Its primary
function is to undertake general management and supervise the day-to-day
management, performance and operations in accordance with the business strategy
of the Group. It exercises leadership, develops and keeps under review strategy and
business development initiatives of the Group and monitors their implementation.
Currently, the Executive Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Tang
Ching Ho, Ms. Tang Wai Man and Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita. Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes
the chair of the Executive Committee.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with specific written terms of reference
stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and
the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). Currently, the Audit Committee comprises
four INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon
and Mr. Cho Wing Mou. Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among other things, to assist the Board to
review and monitor the financial reporting independently, including interim and
annual results, to supervise over the Group's internal control and risk management
systems, to monitor the internal and external audit functions, the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the auditor and to make relevant recommendations
to the Board to ensure effective and efficient operation and reliable reporting. The
functions of the Audit Committee will be reviewed regularly by the Board and
amended from time to time, as and when appropriate, in order to be in compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code (as amended from time to time) so as
to ensure that management has discharged its duty to have an effective internal
control and risk management systems including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff to implement the Group's accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties
and may access to independent professional advice according to the Company's
policy, if considered necessary. During the year under review, the Audit Committee
held two regular meetings with the Group’s senior management and the external
auditor.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee met to discuss and review,
among other things, the following matters:

(@)  the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the interim results
for the six-month ended 30 September 2022 to ensure the full, complete
and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the
accounting standards and other legal requirement for presenting the same to
the Board for approval;

(b)  the terms and remuneration for the appointments of Ernst & Young as
external auditor to audit and report on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 and to perform the
agreed upon procedures on the interim results for the six months ended 30

September 2022;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

(0 the terms and remuneration for the appointments of external auditor to
perform non-audit services, other special corporate projects and review the
overall significant control system;

(d)  the independence of the external auditor especially for those non-audit
services;

(e)  the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

() the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems; and

(g the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff and the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting matters and their training
programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees, effectiveness of
the audit process, independence and objectivity of the external auditor and
has recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the
Company's external auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since September 2005
with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties. During the year, the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was revised to include the reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as a duty. The revised terms
of reference was published on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and
the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) on 30 December 2022.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members, including Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai
Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during the year under review and up to the
date of this annual report. Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon is elected as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice in
accordance with the Company's policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.
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The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(@)

46

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing a
remuneration policy;

to review and approve the senior management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, including but not
limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not
excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding his
own remuneration;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules;

to advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service contracts
of directors that require shareholders’ approval under Rule 13.68 of the Listing
Rules;

conform to any requirements, direction, and regulation that may from time to
time prescribed by the Board, the Bye-laws or any other applicable laws and
regulations; and

the chairman or another member of the Remuneration Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared to respond
to questions raised by shareholders on the Remuneration Committee’s
activities and responsibilities.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings, in
which it reviewed the existing remuneration policies by reference with the market
research and current market circumstance, communicated with the chairman and
managing Director, recommended amendments to the existing remuneration
policies and performance-based bonus, if appropriate, and approved the
remuneration package and performance-based bonus paid to the other Directors
and senior management of the Company (i.e. the model described in the CG code is
adopted). No Director took part in any discussion about his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to discharge its major
roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the service agreements of the
Directors and the senior management, make recommendations with respect to the
remuneration and policies of the Directors and senior management of the Company
and to review the remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses,
including the incentive awards for Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to financial statements.
The annual remuneration of the senior management by bands for the financial year
ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration to the senior management by bands
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since September 2005 with
specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). It currently consists of five
members, including Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Leung Wai Ho,
Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during the
year under review and up to the date of this annual report pursuant to the Listing
Rules. Mr. Cho Wing Mou is elected as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and evaluation
of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a Director and senior
management. The Board has formalised and adopted its existing practices into
a nomination policy in October 2018. The nomination policy stipulated the key
selection criteria and procedures for identifying and nominating suitably qualified
candidates for appointment to the Board. The selection criteria and procedures
specified in the nomination policy include:

1.  Selection Criteria
- in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination
Committee will consider the factors (as reference), including reputation,
integrity, accomplishment and relevant experience in relation to the
principal businesses of the Company from time to time, commitment
in respect of available time and relevant interest, diversity in all its
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above),
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. These factors are for reference
only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate;

- retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. For those who have served as
INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years standing for re-election,
the Nomination Committee will consider the independence of such
Director for nomination by the Board to stand for election at a general
meeting and state the reason in the circular to the Shareholders for the
re-election;

- candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal information
in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to be
appointed as Director(s) and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or
in relation to their standing for election as Director(s); and

- the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s) to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidate(s) from
Board members, if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee
prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidate(s) who are not nominated by Board members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the Shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting;

in order to provide information of the candidate(s) nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to invite
nominations from the Shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period for the
Shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
proposed remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed
candidate(s) will be included in the circular to the Shareholders;

the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company secretary within
the lodgment period of its intention to propose a resolution to elect a
certain person as Director, without the Board's recommendation or the
Nomination Committee’s nomination, other than those candidate(s) set
out in the circular to be sent to the Shareholders. The particulars of the
candidate(s) so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for information
by a supplementary circular;

a candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary;
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the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any general
meeting; and

as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies available, and
the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall be
elected as Director, the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s) by
the Shareholders shall therefore take the same form as the resolutions
proposed for the candidate(s) recommended by the Board.

In respect of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of the benefits
of diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors implementation of
this policy as part of the process of selecting and nominating candidates for
appointment to the Board. Candidates are considered against a broad and
diverse range of aspects specified in the nomination policy, which among
other aspects also include gender, ethnicity and cultural background.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(a)

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence
and length of service) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify and nominate individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In identifying
suitable individuals, the Nomination Committee shall consider
individuals on merit against the objective criteria, with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board;

to assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs" annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its review
results in the corporate governance report of the Company;

to regularly review the time required for a director to perform his/her
responsibilities;

to review the balance between executive and non-executive directors
and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity on the
Board;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of the
organisation with a view to ensuring the long term success of the
Group;

to review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the
board diversity policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives;
and make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report annually;

to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election every three
years by shareholders;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking
into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every director should
receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a service contract
with the Company, as appropriate;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an INED
at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting:

- the process used for identifying the individual why the board
believes the individual should be elected and the reasons why it
considers the individual to be independent;

- if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship, why
the Board believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board;

- the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

- how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board; and
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the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared
to respond to questions raised by shareholders on the Nomination
Committee’s activities and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice
according to the Board Diversity Policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held two meetings
to review the Board Diversity Policy, evaluate the Board performance and
succession planning and discuss the criteria and procedures for retirement by
rotation. The Nomination Committee would recommend to the Board for re-
appointment of Ms. Tang Wai Man, Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita and Mr. Siu Man
Ho, Simon at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Attendance of Directors at Various Meetings

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and shareholder meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March
2023 are as follows:
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Special Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General General
Committee = Committee = Committee Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors ERZEEE FMZEE REZEE RRBIAE BRREFAS
Tang Ching Ho HEm 44 N/ATER 22 22 0N 1/1
Tang Wai Man HEs 44 N/ATER 22 22 1/1 1/1
Law Man Yee, Anita BHYE 44 NATER  NATER NATER 0/1 11
Leung Wai Ho 2% 4/4 3/3 22 22 0N 0/1
Siu Man Ho, Simon B 4/4 313 22 22 0/1 11
Cho Wing Mou Eke 4/4 3/3 2/2 22 0/1 11
Li Ka Fai, David FHE 4/4 33 NATER  NATER 11 1/1
Risk Management and Internal Control J\ B 4 B K% A G
The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and o BEERETERAEE
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, ® Ek H *ﬁ RREEAENRRIEE K2
and ensuring that the Group established and maintained appropriate and effective B BRASEERINEFSEMBX
risk management and internal control systems covering financial, operational, HERERRANEZERG  REY
compliance and risk management aspects. %8 aAkREBERESIE -
The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls that are EREESREENEAEEMEEE
significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee would consider 7( R EIE RN IR E - B%ZE

the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience and training of staff and
external advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining, implementing
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems to ensure
adequate control in place to safeguard the Group's assets and stakeholder’s interest.
Management may report from time to time any finding, recommendation and
remedies to the Audit Committee.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address and handle all
the significant risks associated with the businesses of the Group. The Board would
perform an annual or periodical review on any significant change of the business
environment and establish procedures to response to the risks resulted from the
significant change of business environment.

Management would identify the risks associated with the businesses of the Group
by considering both internal and external factors and events which include political,
economic, technology, environmental, social, governance and staff. Each of risks
has been assessed and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be applied to each type
of risks according to the assessment results. Each type of risk management strategy
has been listed as follows:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or undertake actions by
the Group to reduce the impact of the risk;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to avoid the risk;

- Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or allocate to
different location or product or market; and

- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce the risks
associated with the businesses accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact results from the risks. The risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external advisory firm to
undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. All findings and
recommendations on internal control deficiencies were communicated with the
Audit Committee and the Board.
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Management confirmed that no significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system was identified by the external advisory firm for the
financial year ended 31 March 2023. The Board conducted an annual review on
the risk management and internal control systems and procedures of the Group,
covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance and
it was considered that the internal controls and risk management functions were
reasonably effective and adequate for the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Inside Information Policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of communication
between the stakeholders and the Group and has established policies and
procedures for timely disclosure of inside information to the public when available.
The senior management of the Group will take all reasonable measures from time
to time to ensure that the disclosure of inside information is in compliance with the
requirements of all applicable laws and regulations.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young,
for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 which has been reviewed and approved
by the Audit Committee, are set out as follows:

FHEERR REE_ZT-_=F=A=
T—RIEFRFE - SNEBEM AR E
B AEPEEIE RS AT I (R 2 KERFA K
BE o oHE-ZE-_=€=A=+—HI
BEE  EECCRAEEZRARE
BREASEERGREFCREMT - &
BENAREMAERNERER ETFE
EHIRE - NIEERERERRE
EEAMI TR -

REHBBER
AEE-BEIERNERNEE ZHDN
BEBBAN YERIERERERF - A
EEBRAARALTHREANRTHEE - A&H
SRERBE TR — ) A EEM
HRABHEENRENAMBERER
FOEMM B -
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HE_Z_=—4F=-A=+—HIUHKF
EEAR EAARRIINEZHME XS
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Fees paid/payable to

Ernst & Young

et B =K

Bz EA

HK$’000

Services rendered for the Group [ 7= £ (8 Fir 12 1 AR 75 TET

Audit services: EZRE

—annual financial statements - FEBBHRE 5,580
Non-audit services: IEEIZRT

- agreed-upon procedures -BEEF 678

~ taxation and professional services - M REERE 303

- other professional services - Hith BE R 28

Total #at 6,589
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Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and publication of
the timely financial statements and ensure that they are prepared in accordance
with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. In preparing
the accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors have
adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group’s operations
and relevant to the financial statements and have presented an understandable
assessment of the Group's position and prospects.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the accounts are prepared on a going concern
basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to the events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. The Directors continue to explore any opportunities with potential
investors to enhance its financial position and business development of the Group
by way of refinancing, extension of borrowings and/or fund raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out on pages 84 to 91 of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant laws and regulations,
such as the Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance, the SFO, the Listing Rules
and other rules and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. As far as the
Board is concerned and save as disclosed herein, the Group has complied in material
aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening efforts on environmental
protection, so as to facilitate industrial upgrading. The Group proactively implement
environmental protection policies, gradually adjust its portfolio, conduct energy-
saving, using recycled paper, emission reduction and pollution prevention and
so forth. The Group not only improved the quality management system but also
strengthened the quality of the audit to ensure the quality and safety of Chinese
and western pharmaceutical project control. Being an environmental friendly
corporation, the Company does not print hard copy of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report. The environmental policies and performance of the Group
are disclosed in a separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be
published on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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Investor Relations and Communications with
Shareholders

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective communications with
shareholders and investors (both individuals and institutions) to ensure that the
Group's information is disseminated to stakeholders in a timely manner and enable
them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance. A shareholders
communication policy has been adopted by the Company and the same is
available on the website of the Company (www.wyth.net). Other major means of
communications includes:

Disclosures on Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group's activities and financial position will be
disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports, announcements, circulars and
other corporate communications which will be sent to shareholders and/or
published on the websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.wyth.net). Other inside information will be released by way of formal public
announcements as required by the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings and various general
meetings are valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly with the
Shareholders. Members of the Board and the members of various committees are
encouraged to attend and answer questions at such general meetings.

In order to let the Shareholders to make an informed decision at the general
meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 14 clear days for every general
meeting and 21 clear days for every annual general meeting were given to the
Shareholders pursuant to paragraph 14(2) of Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, bye-
law 59 of the Bye-laws and any other applicable laws. The chairman will explain
the detailed procedures for conducting a poll during the proceedings of meetings
and answered all questions raised by the Shareholders on voting by poll. All
resolutions put to vote at general meetings are taken by poll and the poll results
are published on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk) immediately following the holding of the general meetings.
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Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2022 annual general meeting on each
substantive issue and the percentage of votes cast in favour of such resolutions as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2022 are set out
below:

Percentage
of Votes
READL

Resolutions proposed at the
2022 annual general meeting

REB-_FRRBFASLRHZRER

LE ZEREWEE T -_—_F=ZA=1+—
HIEFEARRRGEEZGATHESRE 5
REMIZHANRE -

1 To receive, consider and adopt the audited
consolidated financial statements and the reports of
the directors and auditor of the Company for the

year ended 31 March 2022. 99.9%
2()  To re-elect Mr. Tang Ching Ho as a Director. BEWBNLERES - 99.9%
2(i))  To re-elect Mr. Leung Wai Ho as a Director. EEREETERES 99.9%
2(iii)  To re-elect Mr. Li Ka Fai, David as a Director. EREFRELEERESE - 99.9%
2(v) To authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ EEZEESETEEN: -

remuneration. 99.9%
3 Tore-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company /B2 %2 5k @ 1Al =5 75 BT A& AN A B 4% 2160 30 15 4

and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration. ~ ZEEEEBTHME - 99.9%
4(A)  To grant an unconditional general mandate to the RTYESKE  FOIREEREARRRAZES

Directors to allot, issue and deal with securities inthe 2 (& —ARIRHE -

capital of the Company. 99.9%
4(B) To grant an unconditional general mandate to the BTEERERM < BIEHE—RRE -

Directors to repurchase Shares. 99.9%
4(C) To extend the general mandate granted to the BARTESIRELOROEBERITESZ

Directors to issue securities by the number of Shares ~ —f&IRHE °

repurchased. 99.9%
5 Toapprove the new share option scheme of CAP. HEPRERER ZIERETE - 99.9%

To approve and adopt the new Bye-laws of the o MR AR B2 SR TR o
Company. 99.9%

REEBR
AEBICHIELTBHOREE B R
g ERELHERRGEANEE 2K
BR - AURFEAIREBEEHEEHN - 1
EEFER  RARREERTEZRE
& ANBREEEGENGCES

Investor Relations

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that keeps investors
and the Shareholders abreast of the Group's latest development and discloses
relevant information to the public in a timely manner. During the year under review,
we held various meetings with investors and participated in investor and press
conferences.

ARBCEHBERBBBERZATER
REXE ARAKERDEFEANE
R o

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy and considered it to be effective during the year under
review.
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Shareholder’s Rights

Convening a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, the
Board whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings and shareholder(s) holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company to require a special general meeting (the “SGM") to be
called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM,;
and (i) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

Such requisitions will be verified by the Company’s share registrars and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the company secretary of
the Company will inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to
all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order,
the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the SGM will not
be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists or any of them representing
more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act, but any SGM
so convened shall not be held after expiration of three months from the said date of
deposit of the requisition. A SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened by the
Board.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Section 80 of the Companies Act and bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, to
put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company, the shareholders at the
date of deposit of the requisition representing not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require general meetings of the Company to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution specified in
such requisition. The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F,
Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries
Limited, at 17/F,, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong with a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than six
weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or
not less than one week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as director(s) at a general
meeting are set out in the “Corporate Governance” under section headed under
"Corporate Profile” on the website of the Company at www.wyth.net.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing by email
to contact@waiyuentong.com or by addressing their enquiries to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company in the following manners:

In respect of corporate affairs:
Company Secretary

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Secretaries Limited

17/F., Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the achieving of
high possible standards of openness, probity and accountability. Procedures are
formulated to enable individual employees to disclose internally and at a high level,
information which the individual believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety
within the Group. During the year under review, no incident of fraud or misconduct
was reported from employees that have material effect on the Group’s financial
statements and overall operations.

Company Secretary

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus, who was appointed as company secretary of the Group,
reports directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter alia, providing updated and
timely information to all Directors from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, Mr. Cheung complied with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

Corporate Social Responsibility

While the Group endeavours to promote business development and strives
for greater rewards for our stakeholders, we acknowledge our corporate social
responsibility to share some burden in building the society where our business
has been established and thrived. The Group is conscious of its role as a socially
responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community well-being
from time to time, supported the communities and encouraged its employees to
participate in any charitable events and caring services. Given the support from
management, the Group built up a team of staff volunteers to get involved in
volunteer work.

Constitutional Document

With a view to complying with the applicable provision of Core Shareholders
Protection under Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules and making certain housekeeping
amendments, the Company has adopted the amended Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws of the Company by a special resolution passed on 26 August 2022.
Details of the amendment were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated
25 July 2022. Save for the above, there was no change in the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Memorandum of Association and the new bye-laws are available on the
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company at (www.hkex.com.hk) and
(www.wyth.net), respectively.
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Conclusion 45 v

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate governance RERNK  NEBREETHRTED

practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance the Company’s XERBFHUEFSKEZERE @ 18

competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure its sustainable development AERRBZHEFNDRBERE - WHE

and to generate greater returns for the stakeholders. REABERR  ARMHEBAEESE
W e
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Report of the Directors
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities
of the principal subsidiaries comprise the production and sale of traditional Chinese
and western pharmaceutical products, health food, personal care products, property
investment, management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets. Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
financial statements. During the year under review, there were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and the Group's
financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 92 to 96 of this annual report.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a revenue and loss
attributable to owners of the parent amounted to approximately HK$1,286.4 million
(2022: approximately HKS$1,391.4 million) and approximately HK$20.5 million (2022:
loss of approximately HK$108.9 million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the financial
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). No interim dividend was declared for the six
months ended 30 September 2022 (for the six months ended 30 September 2021:
Nil).

Business Review and Analysis of Key Financial
Performance Indicators

The business review and the key financial performance indicators to the businesses
of the Group, including, among other things, the information set out below, are
disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 31 of this
annual report:

(@) afairreview of the Group's business;

(b)  principal risk factors;

(©  ananalysis using financial key performance indicators; and

(d)  future development in the Group's business.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and performance of the
Group are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” in this annual report. More details will be disclosed in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in due course. These discussions form part of
this report of the Directors.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Share Capital and Share Option Scheme

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of the Company
during the year under review, together with the reasons therefor, are set out in notes
33 to 34 to financial statements, respectively.

Equity-Linked Agreements

During the year under review, other than the Share Option Scheme as set out in the
section headed “Share Option Schemes” under the “Report of the Directors” and
note 34 to financial statements, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked
agreements.

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements, is set out on page 248 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities of
the Company

During the year under review, the Company repurchased a total of 27 million shares
of HK$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange. All the repurchased shares
were subsequently cancelled by the Company on 27 September 2022.

Details of the share repurchases during the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:

Number of
share
repurchased

ERERGEBE

(in million)

(BER)

Month of repurchase

September 2022 —E-—FNA 270

Purchase price per share

3 G R T T N i
T 27

REBEFEEA » KRBT A
A a4 ££27,000,0000% A% E{E0.0175 7T
2D ARBEBER T -__FNA
Zt+EBEHEERBLRERY -

HE-Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—RALFEZ
BAn BB EIFHEIT

Aggregate
amount
EREDE B
Highest
RS
HKS
BTT

Lowest

K
HKS
BT

HKS (in million)
AEATT
0.38

0.36 9.96

27.0

9.96

The repurchases of the Company'’s shares during the year ended 31 March 2023
were made pursuant to the mandate granted by the Shareholders at the 2022
annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022, with a view to
benefiting the Shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net asset value per share
and earnings per share of the Company. As at 31 March 2023 and up to the date of
this report, the total number of shares of the Company in issue was 1,204,642,888
shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the financial year
ended 31 March 2023.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs
of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, losses, damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done about the execution of the duties of their respective offices
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other officers of the Group
for the year under review.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

64

BE-_Z-_=F=ZA=1+—BItFE
RARBRRMO DIREBEREAR 2T ==
FNAZFANEHBITHNARRI ZZE =
FREAFRG LRHOREET B
TEBREARREREEFERER
BHAFERREES S N -_=F=
A=T—BREZXHREAH - AAF
BEITRD B E0UA1,204,642,8880% °

BREXFERBEEN RBE-T_=F
ZA=ZT-HUEMREE - ARAIHE
EAMERRHMERE hEXERA
REER EHFES

Y e w5 A DR 6 0 S

NEARRE - BERARFHEMRFS
TEZBREFHHMSABEDEE
RARB 2 EE RGN TESHENE
REETGERNTE B BB LEREE
PEITERITAM AR BARI Z
Bk BE BERXEWMRERE
T oRNEEFEARN  ARACDAANEE
EEPHEMSABELHAEIEER
= AR E B ERR o



Report of the Directors (Continued)

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to equity
holders of the parent, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Act,
amounted to approximately HK$48.1 million (2022: approximately HK$26.3 million).

Directors

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, 685, Jp,
Chairman and Managing Director
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH

In accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws of the Company, Ms. Tang Wai Man,
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all INEDs,
namely Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou and Mr. Li Ka
Fai, David, and as at the date of this annual report, the Company still considers them
to be independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 32 to 35 of this annual report.

Update on Director’s Information

Details of the change in remuneration of Directors, if any, were disclosed in note 9 to
financial statements.

Mr. Tang Ching Ho was appointed as a deputy director of the Committee on
Education, Science, Health and Sports of the National Committee of CPPCC in March
2023.
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Mr. Li Ka Fai, David was re-designated from a member to the chairman of the audit
committee, from the chairman to a member of the remuneration committee and
retired as a member of the nomination committee of China Merchants Port Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 144) in December 2022.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above, there is no other change in
information of the Directors since the publication of the 2022 interim report which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by such company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts

Save as disclosed in notes 9 and 41 to financial statements and the section “Directors
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations”, no Directors or a
connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company, the holding company of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

Director’s Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a business,
apart from the businesses of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules during the year under review.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short FHEBEITBABRAL
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures ) % HOAH Wk 2 e 4y ~ A B
of the Company and its Associated Corporations Ji& A B A HE 8 b 2 B 4 B R

<

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the RZEBE_=F=A=1+—H EEZNEAK
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates in the RAIEETBABR SEESEZME
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated ] BE B AN TR AR Bl sk E AT ] #E 55
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register (EERBHFLEEEMIEXVE) 2 &
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as - ABERDREEED  BEEHAR
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of NAERIBER S KB GOIFEIS2EFE
the SFO or the Model Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows: 2 &M iR E S KR GRAIZEXY
sk ETARR 2 BEESFRIE STAE R
NRIRE R R FORBINT ¢

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated RARB RERE ZERL FEIEE

corporations, Wang On, CAP and Wang On Properties Limited (“WOP"): mERTHERAR AR ([ZRBE])E
BRZHR
(@) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (a) MEQATFEBERZHFE

Approximate

percentage of

the Company’s

total issued

share capital

(Note 1)

HAERT BT

IR BEEB A

ATk

Name of Director Number of shares (Hiat1)

EERE RHOEE %

Mr. Tang Ching Ho 810,322,940 (Note 2) 67.26
GNP vt (K17#2)
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(b) Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On (the “Wang On
Shares”), an associated corporation of the Company:

Name of Director Name of corporation

EEHSR REEHE
Mr. Tang Ching Ho Wang On
R RE

(b) RAQFAEBEERZNERR

(TRZBRGBDZEFR
Approximate
percentage of
Wang On’s
total issued
share capital
(Note 1)
HEREBITRA
BEMYBDL
Number of shares (Mtat1)
BRG B %
7,780,645,772 (Note 3) 4869
(BfE3)

() Long positions in the ordinary shares of CAP (the “CAP Shares”), an

associated corporation of the Company:

Name of Director Name of corporation

EEgE YNCIECE
Mr. Tang Ching Ho CAP
BEEA A HERER

(0 REQAEBEIETERERNE
BR(HERERKROGDZFR :

Approximate

percentage of

CAP’s

total issued

share capital

(Note 1)

HHEEER
ERTRAAEEMY

Aot

Number of shares (Htat1)
R EE %

7,320,095,747 (Note 4) 73.54

(Hat4)

(d) Long positions in the ordinary shares of WOP, an associated
corporation of the Company:

Name of corporation

ExpE DEEE

Name of Director

Mr. Tang Ching Ho WOP
BB M EE

11,400,000,000 (Note 5)

(d) REQBAEBEIERZMBENEE
Rz :

Approximate

percentage of

WOP’s

total issued

share capital

(Note 1)

HEZMER
BITIRABEMD

ALt

Number of shares (MfaE1)
B BB %

75.00 (Note 2)
(f17£5) (Htat2)
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The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms filed
under the SFO as at 31 March 2023.

Under the SFO, Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang") was interested in 810,322,940
shares of the Company held by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE") which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his
associates were taken to have approximately 48.69% interest.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, amongst the 7,780,645,772 Wang On Shares, 28,026,339 Wang
On Shares were beneficially held by Mr. Tang, 4,989,928,827 Wang On Shares
were taken to be interested by Mr. Tang by virtue of being the founder of a
discretionary trust, namely Tang's Family Trust, 28,026,300 Wang On Shares
were taken to be interested by Mr. Tang in which his spouse, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin,
was interested, and 486,915,306 Wang On Shares were held by Caister Limited
(@ company wholly owned by Mr. Tang), 531,000,000 Wang On Shares were
held by Billion Trader Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Loyal Fame
International Limited (‘Loyal Fame”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Easy One Financial Group Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang),
and 432,475,200 and 1,284,273,800 Wang On Shares were held by Suntech
Investments Limited and Hearty Limited respectively (both direct wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Total Smart Investments Limited (“Total Smart’), which is directly
wholly-owned by the Company, which is owned as to approximately 67.26% by
Rich Time.)

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, amongst the 7,320,095,747 CAP Shares, 2,007,700,062
CAP Shares of which were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger
Investments’) and 5,312,395,685 CAP Shares of which were held by Goal
Success Investments Limited (‘Goal Success”). Onger Investments was directly
wholly-owned by Loyal Fame. Goal Success was directly wholly-owned by
Biomore Investments Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart.
The Company was owned as to approximately 67.26% by Wang On which was
owned as to approximately 48.69% by Mr. Tang, together with his associates. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tang is deemed to be interested in the 2,007,700,062 CAP
Shares which were held by Onger Investments and the 5,312,395,685 CAP Shares
which were held by Goal Success.

With reference to note 2 above, 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by
Earnest Spot Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE).

Hist

5.

=R WA

ZEED LRBRE S R EGIR =
T-=F=A=1-A2RERNEH
BERERE -

RIEES MGG - B8t A (88
%4 J) 7 Rich Time Strategy Limited ([Rich
Timel) (BRRZ 22 &AM B A FWang
On Enterprises (BVI) Limited([WOE]) Z &
EW B AR R A R8103229400 AR A 7]
RO - BB E R
8 AWAR BYER £4869%.2 fEam o

BEAERBIAML ESEER
1% 187,780,645, 772 ELZ BB H
28,026,339/ R R R {7 B BL 5E A B w1 %
A 4,989,928,827 % LR 1A EE B —
EHaRER AN RKKET) 28Iz
AMBEEERZERD PR D -
28,026,300/% 72 & AR 10 #i AR /5 R BD e A
RERBHERLIRETHEAER
B D R HEE Es - 486,915,306/%
% B A7 H Caister Limited (— & R &8 4
E2EWAE 2 ARDFFA 531,000,000
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any other
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFQ), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Scheme(s) of the Company

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2013, the
shareholders of the Company approved the termination of the share option scheme
previously adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting held on 18 September 2003 (the “2003 Scheme”) and the adoption
of a new share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Upon termination of the 2003 Scheme, no share
options was granted thereunder but the subsisting share options granted prior
to the termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed
exercisable period in accordance with the terms of the 2003 Scheme. The 2013
Scheme became effective on 22 August 2013 and, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by shareholders at a general meeting, will remain in force for a period of 10
years from that date.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, share options may be granted to any Director or
proposed Director (whether executive or non-executive, including INEDs), employee
or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time), secondee, any holder of
securities issued by any member of the Group, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group or any substantial
shareholder or company controlled by a substantial shareholder, or any company
controlled by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes of
participants (the “Participants”).

Under the 2013 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the Participants
to subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each
lot of share options granted which must be accepted within 30 days from the
offer date. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings. There is no specific requirement that an option
must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of
grant of any particular option. The period during which an option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may
be exercised for a period of more than 10 years from the date of grant.
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Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of share options that may
be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is the number, upon their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding any shares issued
on the exercise of share options. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other
schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue, as at
the date of approval of the 2013 Scheme limit or as refreshed from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each Participant
(except for a substantial shareholder or an INED or any of their respective associates)
under the 2013 Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the number
of shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of such limit must be separately approved by shareholders of the Company
with such Participant and his/her associates abstaining from voting. Share options
granted to any Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
(or any of their respective associates) must be approved by the INEDs (excluding
any INED who is the grantee of the option). Where any grant of share options to
a substantial shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) will
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of share
options already granted and to be granted to such person under the 2013 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at each date of
grant, in excess of HKS5 million, such further grant of share options is required to be
approved by shareholders of the Company in a general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of a share option granted to a substantial
shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) is also required to be
approved by shareholders of the Company. The exercise price must be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company. The 2013
Scheme, which was adopted on 22 August 2013, will expire on 21 August 2023.
Following the expiry of the 2013 Scheme, the Company proposed for the adoption
of a new share option scheme for shareholders” approval in the forthcoming annual
general meetings of the Company and Wang On. Details of the new share option
scheme were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 28 July 2023.
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During the year under review, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled under the 2013 Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue
under the 2013 Scheme is 126,514,288 shares, representing approximately 10.5% of
the Company’s total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2013 Scheme are set out in note 34 to financial statements.

The Share Option Scheme(s) of CAP

On 3 May 2012, CAP adopted a share option scheme (the “CAP 2012 Scheme”)
for the primary purpose of providing incentive to selected eligible persons to
take up options for their contribution to the CAP Group. The CAP 2012 Scheme
was terminated on 2 May 2022, the last effective date of the CAP 2012 Scheme,
no further share options was granted under it since then but the share options
granted prior to such termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during
the prescribed exercisable period in accordance with the terms of the CAP 2012
Scheme.

CAP adopted a new share option scheme (the "CAP 2022 Scheme") with
the approvals of the shareholders of CAP, Wang On and the Company at their
respective annual general meetings held on 26 August 2022 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives and recognition to eligible participants (the “CAP
Participants’) for their contribution or potential contribution to the CAP Group as
detailed below.

CAP Participants include directors of CAP Group, including independent non-
executive directors and employees, who work for any member of the CAP Group
and/or any person or entity that provides services to any member of the CAP Group.
The CAP 2022 Scheme became effective on 26 August 2022 and will remain in force
for a period of 10 years to 25 August 2032.
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Under the CAP 2022 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP (the “CAP Board”) may
grant share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for CAP Shares. The offer of
a grant of share options must be accepted by the relevant CAP Participants within
14 days after the date of grant upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 for each lot
of share options granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the CAP Board
and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the CAP Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the CAP Shares
as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
a CAP Share.

The number of CAP Shares in respect of which options may be granted to any CAP
Participant in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the CAP Shares in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the shareholders of CAP. Options granted to substantial shareholders of CAP or
independent non-executive directors of CAP, or any of their respective associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the CAP Shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the shareholders of CAP. There is no
specific requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before
it can be exercised but the CAP Board is empowered to impose at its discretion
any such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by CAP Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised for a period of more than
10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of CAP at general meeting, the board of
CAP may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of CAP Shares in
issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at its general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the CAP Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the CAP 2022
Scheme and any other share option schemes of CAP at any time shall not exceed
30% of the CAP Shares in issue from time to time.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme during
the financial year ended 31 March 2023 were as follows:

BE_Z_=—F=ZA=t+—HLFHEF
ftT : qalJ_Euu_? —ZFHETHE

Number of share options
FRELE
Exercise Closing price
Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Forfeited  Outstanding price per immediately
Name or category of asat 1 April during during during during asat31March  Date of CAP  Exercisable before
Participant 2022 the year the year theyear the year 2023  grant ShareHKS  period (Note)  date of grant
R-B-ZF it St £330
BA-H ZA=t-A SRTERER R#Af
SREN SRR HAGR EACRE FREAE  FACHE ERERR  HAGE  RUAH ROTEEER GREWD) Gl
CAP Director
TERERES
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond 50,000,000 - - - - 50000000 312022 018 312022212032 0117
Other employees 176,000000 - - - 15000000 161,000000 312022 018 312022212032 017
HfEE
Total 226,000,000 - - - 15000000 211,000,000
aft
Note: Kt -

The share options granted under the CAP 2012 Scheme were vested as follows:

On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant:
PR B ESE3EF ¢
On the 4th anniversary of the date of grant:
B BB 4B F ¢
On the 5th anniversary of the date of grant:
AR B ESESBF
On the 6th anniversary of the date of grant:
AR B BEeEF
On the 7th anniversary of the date of grant:

PR EEE7ESF

During the year under review, 15,000,000 share options were forfeited and no share
options were granted, exercised and cancelled under the CAP 2012 Scheme. As at
the date of this annual report, the total number of CAP Shares available for issue
under the CAP 2012 Scheme was 186,000,000, representing approximately 1.87% of
the existing issued share capital of CAP. As the CAP 2012 Scheme expired on 2 May
2022, no more share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme could be granted.
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During the year under review, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled under the CAP 2022 Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the total
number of CAP Shares available for issue under the CAP 2022 Scheme is 995,306,782,
representing approximately 10% of the existing issued share capital of CAP.

Other particulars of the CAP 2012 Scheme and the CAP 2022 Scheme are set out in
note 34 to financial statements.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” and “Share option schemes” above and in the share option
scheme disclosures in note 34 to financial statements, at no time during the year
under review were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons
had, or were deemed or taken to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO:
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Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of shareholders

Number of shares

BREEEB

RARAEBROFE

Approximate percentage of
the Company's total issued
share capital (Note 3)
ERDRTEBITRAE
RESNEIL

(Kiz£3)

RHEE %

Rich Time (Note 1) Rich Time(A7&E1) 810,322,940 67.26

WOE (Note 1) WOE(Ht5£1) 810,322,940 67.26

Wang On (Note 1) R (Hiati) 810,322,940 67.26

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Note 2) B Rt (HaE2) 810,322,940 67.26
Notes: et -

Under the SFO, Mr. Tang was interested in 810,322,940 shares of the Company held by
Rich Time, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his associates held approximately 48.69%
interest.

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is taken to be interested in the shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang is
interested.

The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms filed under
the SFO as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, there were no other persons who
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions

2 and

3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year under review, the following transaction continued to be continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules:

(@)

76

On 19 September 2016, Daywin Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the following office sub-licensing agreements
for a term commencing from 18 September 2016 and expiring on 17 July
2019 which were renewed for further three years commencing from 18 July
2019 and expiring on 17 July 2022:
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Wang On Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Management Services
Limited ("WOMS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On,
to sub-lease Units 02, 03, 05, 06 and 15, 32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly fee of
HK$188,940 (up to 17 July 2019) which was increased to HK$193,375
(from 18 July 2019 onwards until the end of the tenancy agreement),
together with other monthly expenses (including management fee and
air-conditioning charge, rates and Government rent, subject to annual
increment); and

WOP Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Properties Services
Limited ("WOPS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WOP, to sub-
lease Units 01 and 07 to 12, 32/F,, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly fee of HK$414,672 (up
to 17 July 2019) which was increased to HK$425,745 (from 18 July 2019
onwards until the end of the tenancy agreement), together with other
monthly expenses (including management fee and air-conditioning
charge, rates and Government rent, subject to annual increment).

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate office sub-licensing fee
received by the Group from WOMS and WOPS amounted to approximately
HKS$3.1 million, which were within the prescribed caps, as disclosed in the
Company’'s announcements dated 19 September 2016 and 17 July 2019,
respectively;
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On 2 September 2021, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited, an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, as supplier, and Wang On Management Limited
("WOM"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, as purchaser,
entered into a new master sales agreement for supplying Chinese and
Western pharmaceutical products, health food and personal care products
by the Group to WOM (for itself and on behalf of other members of Wang
On excluding the Group but including the CAP Group) for the three financial
years ending 31 March 2024 at annual caps of HK$9.9 million, HK$9.9 million
and HK$9.9 million, respectively. During the year under review, total sales
proceeds received by the Group from WOM was approximately HK$4.7 million
which were within the prescribed annual cap of HK$9.9 million. Details of the
new master sales agreement were disclosed in the joint announcement of the
Company and Wang On dated 2 September 2021; and

On 1 October 2022, CAP, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Wang On entered into a master licensing agreement which sets out
the general principles and key terms governing the definitive licensing
agreements under which relevant members of Wang On may grant license of,
and the CAP Group may take up the license of the premises from 1 October
2022 to 30 September 2025 with the annual caps for the recognition of right-
of-use assets of HK$11.2 million, HK$9.7 million, HK$16.3 million and HK$4.9
million for the six months from 1 October 2022 to 31 March 2023, the year
ending 31 March 2024, the year ending 31 March 2025 and the six months
from 1 April 2025 to 30 September 2025, respectively. The recognition of right-
of-use assets amount during the six months from 1 October 2022 to 31 March
2023 was approximately HK$9.6 million which was within the prescribed
annual cap of HK$11.2 million. Details of the master licensing agreement were
disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company, CAP and Wang On
dated 1 October 2022.

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and confirmed that the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of the Group's business; (ii) in accordance with the terms
of the respective agreements governing such transactions on terms that were
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole; (iii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than those available to or from independent third parties; and (iv) have not
exceeded the respective caps.
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Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Further details of other related party transactions and/or continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group in the ordinary course of business during the
year under review, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, are set out in
note 41 to financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were no other
transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions

During the year under review, the following are connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@)

80

On 3 May 2022, (i) CAP and Ping An Bank Co,, Ltd. (the “Bank”) proposed to
enter into a proposed bank loan agreement, pursuant to which the Company
is required to enter into a proposed guarantee agreement and would agree
to guarantee all liabilities of CAP to be owed to the Bank under the proposed
bank loan agreement, including the principal amount of RMB300 million (in
its HKD equivalent), any interest, penalty, compound interest, damages and
other expenses of the Bank in enforcing the proposed bank loan agreement
(the “Provision of the Proposed Guarantee”); (i) CAP, Double Leads
Investments Limited (“Double Leads”, an indirect subsidiary of Wang On) and
Winning Rich Investments Limited ("Winning Rich”, an indirect subsidiary of
the Company) entered into a revolving loan facility agreement, pursuant to
which each of Double Leads and Winning Rich agreed to grant the revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$576 million to CAP for
a term of five years ending 2 May 2027 for the purpose of refinancing an
existing loan (the “Grant of the Revolving Loan Facility”). The Provision
of the Proposed Guarantee and the Grant of the Revolving Loan Facility
constituted connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules which is subject to announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The provision of the Proposed
Guarantee and the Grant of the Revolving Loan Facility were approved
by the Shareholders on 22 June 2022, details of which were set out in the
announcements published by the Company dated 3 May 2022 and 22 June
2022 and the circular of the Company dated 7 June 2022; and

On 5 October 2022, Wai Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited, an indirect subsidiary of
the Company, as tenant, entered into a tenancy agreement with Rich Idea
Limited, an indirect subsidiary of WOP, as landlord, to lease the shop 9 on
G/F of the Parkville including the signage area(s) and air-conditioning area(s),
No. 88 Tuen Mun Heung Sze Wui Road, Tuen Mun, New Territories for a term
of 31 months commencing on 3 October 2022 and expiring on 2 May 2025
(both dates inclusive) at a monthly rental of HK$100,000 per month with the
additional turnover rent (exclusive of government rates, government rent,
management charges and all other outgoings of a non-capital and recurring
nature). The tenancy agreement constituted a connected transaction for
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which is subject to
announcement requirement under the Listing Rules, details of which were set
out in the announcement published by the Company dated 5 October 2022.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Group in the
ordinary course of business, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, during
the year under review are set out in note 41 to financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were no other
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Emolument Policy

The Group's emolument policy for its employees is in place and approved by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration Committee
and the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual general meeting,
having regarded to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme at the annual general
meeting held on 22 August 2013, as incentives to Directors and eligible employees.
The 2013 Share Option Scheme would expire on 21 August 2023 and a new share
option scheme would be proposed for shareholders” approvals by the Company
and Wang On’s shareholders at the respective forthcoming annual general meeting.
Following the expiry of the CAP 2012 Scheme on 2 May 2022, CAP has adopted the
CAP 2022 Scheme on 26 August 2022. Details of the 2013 Scheme and the CAP 2022
Scheme are set out in note 34 to financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for less than approximately 8.1% (2022: approximately 4.6%) of the
Group's total sales and the sales to the Group’s largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 3.2% (2022: approximately 1.3%).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 13.2% (2022: approximately 8.8%) of the Group’s purchases and
the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 36.4% (2022:
approximately 30.1%) of the Group's purchases.

At no time during the year under review did a Director or any of their close
associates or a shareholder of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares, had any beneficial
interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

wRgHE @

Donations

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other donations
totaling approximately HK$8.5 million (2022: approximately HK$7.8 million).

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of
Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.

Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 41 to financial statements,
no controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any contract of significance
of the Company or its subsidiaries during the year under review.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year under review.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout
the year under review, except for the deviation of the code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code as disclosed in this annual report. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 36 to 61 of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of
public float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year under review
and up to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Audit Committee

The Company has established its Audit Committee with specific written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
comprises Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon and Mr.
Cho Wing Mov, all of whom are the INEDs, and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had two regular meetings
with management and the external auditor to review and consider, among other
things, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the audit
plan, the financial reporting matters (including the review of audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the condensed interim
results for the six-month ended 30 September 2022), the statutory compliance,
internal controls and risk management, continuing connected transactions and
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function as well as their training programs
and budget. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 with the external auditor and
management of the Company.

Events after the Reporting Period

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set out in
note 47 to financial statements.

Auditor
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been audited
by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
M 37 A% B e A

e
EY:

To the shareholders of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 92 to 246, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘"HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

W S B B )
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for BMEBITARE [ ZBML B RE N
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including BMEAENE T —SEINET - 2
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance FEEELERETEEMEAANEE - 48
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material JEHL - BB TERRBNITRES
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit STk BV AR S B TS SR 2k B K 85 AR Rt 3 B
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, Mt EET - BPIITE 2R
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial AR BIEEY T BERETEEN

statements.

Key audit matter

MITHRT  REAMBRABRER
BB AEMTER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RARELEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZIGE

The Group holds various investment properties in
Hong Kong and Mainland China for rental earning
purposes. Such investment properties are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period and
the aggregate carrying amount of these investment
properties was HKS$3,099,676,000 as at 31 March
2023, which represented approximately 44% of the
total assets of the Group.
ERERNEBRTEANMHEZEREMENU
EMEE - FAREMENSHMERRIZAF
B E MZEREVENR_ZT_=F=A=
+— B 2 BREE A3,09967600087T - 15 &
SEBEELL4% °

The Group engaged external valuers to perform the
valuation of these investment properties as at 31
March 2023 and in the absence of current prices in
an active market for similar properties, the external
valuers considered information from a variety of
sources such as current prices of properties with
similar locations and conditions. This has been
identified as a key audit matter because significant
estimation is required to determine the fair values
of the investment properties, which reflect market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.
EEER T -_=F=A=+—HZEINBMH
EMUZEFREMFLETHE - RRZEUD
FHEERMIST 2HRITERERT » SMNEMEE
MEZRKRBSERRZER - AR R
KRR 2 MERRITER o WIARIIR—IAH
REFFEDABEREME 2 A FEAED
BAME - AAIRBREREHR 2 TSR -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation
to the valuation of investment properties are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRAREMEGLEZGABRERKERANGS
BA MR MiEE24 ~ 3/%15 ¢

EMNETNMNEEFARETSE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties
included the following:

BAFHEREMERAECBAEFERN TSR

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the external
valuers engaged by the Group;

ERKENGA BEREREZINIEEMMRER 2 EERS

assessing the external valuers’ qualification, experience and expertise
and considering their competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHESNEBIGER 2 B - KR EEEMBIZREELS - TE
MREYM R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the assessment
of the valuation methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuations.
BEBRPNABEEER B RFFEEETEB 2 EERE
ARERAZ g2 8 -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RARETEE

78 o 2 5 = JH ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AN FTNMTEEFERETSR

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

RETYERIFIELEY R BT F(E

The Group holds properties under development and
properties held for sale in Mainland China, which are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate carrying amount
of these properties was HKS$1,427,369,000, which
represented approximately 20% of the total assets of
the Group.

EXRERETEANM c BERTFYMERFFELHE
MERK AR F R FEMEPRIEETR -
RZZZ=F=A=+—80 hEMEEK
E{E 414273690008 7T © 16 BEEBEBEELD
20%

During the year, write-down of HK$11,000,000 was
recognised in profit or loss against properties under
development and properties held for sale.

FA- RBERPYELFELEDELERRR
SRR 11,000,000/ 7T

The Group engaged an external valuer to perform
the valuations of the properties under development
and properties held for sale as at 31 March 2023.
This has been identified as a key audit matter
because significant estimation is required to
determine the net realisable value of the properties
under development and properties held for sale,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

EEER T =F=A=+—"HZEIIBME
ERMHERTYERFIELHEMFELETHE -
ILIEHI R —IBRAREA TR OABEEERF
MERFELEMENAERFEBELEKR
lar - Hal RS EBRR 2 TISMRN o

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation
to the properties under development and properties
held for sale are included in notes 2.4, 3, 19 and 20
to the consolidated financial statements.
BRERPYERFELEMEZ GABER
REBEHN GRS A mRMIEE24 3~ 19520 °
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Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale included the following:
BT EERTYERFELENENERFEZ BEAREFBEAUT

I -

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the external
valuer engaged by the Group;
ESLENG BESEERBEZINMEERMMARRZEERS

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience and expertise
and considering its competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHEINERIEERI 2 B1E - KM L BEXMNB T EZEEE ) BE
MREME R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the assessment
of the valuation methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuations, on a sampling basis.
BRBMANABEEERBHRABMETEEETEAZGEE
RN 2 FR2 8 -



Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RARETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AN FTNMTEEFERETSR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Y= - BB KRR RER S

As at 31 March 2023, given that there are internal
and external sources of information that indicate
impairment or reversal of impairment may exist,
management of the Company performed an
impairment assessment of the property, plant
and equipment of the Group to determine their
recoverable amounts based on either their value in
use or fair values less costs of disposal.
RZTZ=Ff=RA=+—H BHRBRHR
HNED & K SRR R ] B 17 72 R 1B 3R B #
B BERAGREEREYH ESENYE BE

REEITRENL - RIBEBEESNATE
W EKAEEAKEEHE o

During the year, net impairment losses of
HK$12,941,000 was recognised against the property,
plant and equipment.
REAR - ERYE - BELREBERREBRE
JFRE12,941,00078 7T ©

The impairment assessment has been identified
as a key audit matter due to the materiality of
the carrying values of the property, plant and
equipment, and the significant judgements and
estimations involved in the assessment of their
recoverable amounts.

ME - BERRXEREEEE M RTMHE
AT Ug B & BRI 8 e ORI K (R - B UERE
AR AR R RS IR o

The accounting policies and disclosures in
relation to the impairment of property, plant and
equipment are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BEME - BERRXEREZ GABERLKE
WA M ERRMET24 - 3Kk14 -

For impairment assessments using the value in use calculations, our audit
procedures included the following:
MUAGTECRBEETRENEMES @ RMNEARFEEUTE
17 :

enquiring of management in relation to the key assumptions applied in
the cash flow projections, such as the revenue growth rates and gross
profit margins, and comparing them to historical information and our
understanding of the latest market information and conditions; and
MEREESRARERIDANPEAZ ARERRWMEAERERE
M 2 NI % P £ R ) R 41 1R % B R S B M B M SR TR &
FRARRE IR AR TS ¢

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us with the
assessment of the methodologies and the discount rates used to
determine the recoverable amounts on a sampling basis.

BRI ABEEER BRI T E T 7 Y e 2 T
RAZIERFEE -

For impairment assessments using the fair values less costs of disposal of the
relevant property, plant and equipment, our audit procedures included the
following:

HARFEBEEREYE - BERREBOXETRETEHE -
BB EFREATRIEA

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the external
valuer engaged by the Group;
BiEhERS S£EEREZIMNIGERMARR MERS

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience and expertise
and considering its competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHESNBIGER 2 B - KREEEFMBIZREES - TE
MREYME R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the assessment
of the valuation methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuations.
BREBANABEEERBHRAFEEETERAZEES A
ARERA 2 FASR 2 8L -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
sO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
W S B B R o)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

20

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

% B R 7 B AR A B R
R YE W B AT ()

HEERAFELEGTERNR
EUHELHER - RIBAEDRNHE
FHEE MERLGFEEEERENE
MBBENERTHEEN - WAl
BHY BERENFEKERENE
HBRRE - MRRMRREFEE
ARTHEEM - QG B EEZEENR
SHIRECAEIEAFEMBEHRER
TEREBEERE BREAROKE
T AIRFEEERFBRRER
R o B AR EEN B RS
B IEPTES B ESHRE A - R
REEZBERAATEEH EEET

4k 4 438 g A
RERFERE o

HESAMBERENERIEST
X BEBNAT  BRERERE UK
REMBRRETTERRRZ HHM
FH-

B EBEERNEENESTEN
BENERRZR BENETR
HOUNEHEAMBERRERE
R-BMAE BE£BEEINF
M~ EEEMBIT - RMAEFER
EERHEF -

BREMERS  RABEZZEGER
THENEASE  BHETH  EXF
AHERE  BRAMERSTEEA
ERPR I BT EAEREA o

BAERNEZZESRIBH AR
MENEEEBIENEEERERE
Koo WM FIEEA A LA B AR
EXERMBLUENMEBENEMLE
B AREBEBROERT - BIAERY
B EEERENITE RN EBE
It



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
W S B B )

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the B BB A A W B Rk
consolidated financial statements (continued) AR YE AT @)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those WEFZZESBFBNEEFR - BME
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial TP BIRE KRB G PR R ER
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We BAEZE  AMBKERETSEE K
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or reqgulation precludes TITEAZ AN SR 5 R Al S LE 2T - BRI
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we ERIBOAT AT ARABEELEIE -

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the HERKERHBERLT MREEEH
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the EREMHEFEREEEENNAME
public interest benefits of such communication. REBBEENARNEZE - JKFPRETE

TEREFBERZEIE -

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report PERB I ZEMRENEFBEE SR

is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling. ABEEEER T AE o

Ernst & Young TKE MBI
Certified Public Accountants HEDEED

27/F, One Taikoo Place BEHEE

979 King's Road 2 EI795%

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong Ry —E271E

28 June 2023 ZEZ=FA=1+NAR




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

o 4H £ K 3Ll 4 MK 4R AR

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#& T T 7T
REVENUE Wz 5 1,286,428 1391411
Cost of sales 4 R AR (674,651) (821,021)
Gross profit EH 611,777 570,390
Other income and gains, net Ha WA Rz - 558 5 83,159 144,869
Selling and distribution expenses HER DAY (270,945) (246,127)
Administrative expenses TR (266,167) (253,068)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net CRVEEREEE - TR 7 (16,735) (12,875)
Other expenses, net B - JFEE 6 (19,283) (41 424)
Write-down of properties under development 3% FF ) 3£ HURL 19 (4,600)
Write-down of properties held for sale FHE L E VI SEMOA, 20 (6,400)
Finance costs B 8 (106,306) (95,695)
Fair value losses on financial assets and BAFELBRARZ @R
liabilities at fair value through BEENBEZAFEEIE -
profit or loss, net pEit-E (5,306) (31,693)
Fair value losses on owned investment BEREME L N FEBE -
properties, net it 15 (14,076) (83,253)
Share of profits and losses of associates DEHE S AT R EE 17 2,946 1,572
LOSS BEFORE TAX BREATER 7 (11,936) (47,304)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiE e, (FAx) 11 15,283 (40,519)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR TEERR,(F8) 3,347 (87,823)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

A 1H AR R A 4 v M 2R 5% o)

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—g== —z—-

—=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Ht2mUkz, (EE)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may ~— AJBEREZ BRI EFT 7452
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 8752 Bt 2 EH L 75

periods: (E518) -
Debt investments at fair value through other 22 FEALE i 2 WS A
comprehensive income: R EBIRE :
Changes in fair value NEES) 936 (57,083)
Reclassification adjustments for losses/ FTABE=EZEER (W)
(gains) included in profit or loss: LB DA
~ Impairment losses, net - REEE - FRE 7 6,860 4913
- Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption, -hE EEZEES
net Mezs) - HER 56 (784) 40,865
7,012 (11,305)
Translation reserve: b R
Translation of foreign operations BREGINETE (243,127) 132,557
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) AT T2 B E T D 4R
that may be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEm s HMEH
subsequent periods Was/(B518) F8 (236,115) 121,252
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that BT EREERIRIET 748
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in EERZAEMEE K
subsequent periods: (Ei18) -
Equity investments at fair value through BEAFELEMEZEREA
other comprehensive income: ARz IRt A -
Changes in fair value NEEEE (29,445) 1,322
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that T @REFRIBEFT HEE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in BRzHbrmEmkes (5
subsequent periods 8))F (29,445) 1322
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) A FEH A2l ~
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B518) - HRH A (265,560) 122,574
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) AFE2@EWKE /(B5R) 45
FOR THE YEAR (262,213) 34,751

R ERRERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

BB 1H AR R A A i W 2R 3R o)

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= —_F_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT T
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AT AL SR, (E518) -
Owners of the parent ISYNSIETFEPN (20,515) (108,912)
Non-controlling interests ElE g 23,862 21,089
3,347 (87,823)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) AT ALREZERES
attributable to: (E518) 4238 -
Owners of the parent [SYNEIEZZE PN (156,856) (34,610)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR (105,357) 69,361
(262,213) 34,751
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBERSEEAEM
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS sREE
OF THE PARENT 13
Basic and diluted EXRREE HK (1.69) cents  HK (8.84) cents
AL AL
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
&5 A Bk O &

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#& T FAETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E N 14 961,159 956,400
Investment properties LEME 15 3,099,676 3,562,503
Net investments in subleases DI E TR 16 7,306 9,093
Investments in associates REERRZIEE 17 4,500 3,804
Financial assets at fair value through other RATFELEMEEEEA
comprehensive income RramEE 18 192,892 147,126
Loans and interest receivables FEUR B R FI B 23 17,209 13,340
Financial assets at fair value through BATFELEESZAR SR
profit or loss BE 25 = 135
Prepayments and deposits A RIE R 24 17,070 16,558
Deferred tax assets ELERIREE 32 11,633 48
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 4,311,445 4,709,007
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development BRERAPME 19 192,950 189,944
Properties held for sale FHELEEWE 20 1,234,419 1,490,847
Inventories "rE 21 209,232 188,179
Trade receivables B SR RIA 2 68,028 63,346
Loans and interest receivables W E SRR FE 23 10,749 17,528
Prepayments, deposits and other TENFIAE - Be REM
receivables W R IE 24 259,226 244,004
Net investments in subleases DI EFEE 16 5,205 5,592
Financial assets at fair value through other ZAFELEMEEmREA
comprehensive income R oMEE 18 813 19,839
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEESRAERS
profit or loss TRIEE 25 47,449 109,605
Tax recoverable B EEE 5,790 11,115
Pledged deposits [REEw i EE 26 33,496 31,250
Restricted bank balances ZRRHIRTTAE B 26 12,174 7311
Cash and cash equivalents Re R\ EREE 26 525,869 510,146
2,605,400 2,888,706
Assets classified as held for sale and assets of D IEAFIEHEZEEN
a disposal company HERRICEE 27 96,970 -
Total current assets BRBEE 2,702,370 2,888,706
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Trade payables B S ENFIE 28 79,489 86,357
Other payables and accruals EtbpE AN ERTE R 29 690,388 769,384
Contract liabilities BaREE 29 175,870 242,967
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B RIT R HAEE 31 614,390 640,262
Tax payable JERTTRIE 95,848 142,344
1,655,985 1,881,314
Liabilities of a disposal company HERAEzAE 27 1,203 -
Total current liabilities SV EDN=N 1,657,188 1,881,314
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,045,182 1,007,392
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERKEBAE 5,356,627 5,716,399

(7T FR AR A
B
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

BaMBEIRNEE)

31 March2023 —Z2 - =9¢=H=+—H

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERBABEE 5,356,627 5,716,399
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBEE
Other payables EoAth e FRIE 29 66,403 72,589
Unsecured notes EEAERE 30 125,189 219,497
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITEE 31 907,272 821,403
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBAE 32 569,379 642,299
Total non-current liabilities WIETEIAE 1,668,243 1,755,788
Net assets BEZE 3,688,384 3,960,611
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 T H A BIERER
Issued capital BE TR 33 12,046 12,316
Reserves B 35 2,337,145 2,503,482
2,349,191 2,515,798
Non-controlling interests eI AR AE = 1,339,193 1,444,813
Total equity g 3,688,384 3,960,611
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
iE WEH
Director Director
E2 -
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Wi 0 BE B 52 Bh

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E = =A=+—HIFE

A1 Apr 2001 W-E--%MA-A 12316 2106799 sy 2569 56462 1191 - 2007 8749 104117 B 256535 138504 3950349
Profifoss)forthe year KEERH/ (BR) - - - - - - - - - S (089 (g9 a0 (@78
Other comprehensivencomeloss) KERANAENE/
forthe year (BR):
Deb nvesiments tairvalue thiough ROTRIABZEN
othercomprehensive ncome: BARZERRE:
Changesinfarvalie ATEE - - - - - - - (8% - - S L (1 B3
Reclassficaton adjustment forlosses HABEERE
incuded i pofit orloss gt
~Impaiment osse,nt -HEBE 78 - - - - - - - - - T4 T
~Lossondisposeledemption, net -HE/882

BR BE - - - - - - - - - 7 TN )
Fauity invesmentst fir value BOTEEAR2E
throughother comprehensie fE\Ez
come RiExa: - - - - - - - SE))] - - -
Changesinfarvalue LTEES
Translaton reserve: EXEE:
Fichange diferences on tiansiionof BEEsRAE:
foreign operaton EREE - - - ) - - - - - SR S} I 1]
Totacomprehensive incomeoss) RERAENE/

fortheyear (BR)aE - - - Y - SN 1K RN ) SN (1 /R R 04
Diidend paid tonon-contoling nterests B RFEERER R IRE - - - - - - - - - SR 1Y, Y
Recassfcatonadjusment foraganon~ HHHERATREE 2
dsposd ofequiyivestmentsatforvalie — EREARZBERE

through other comprehensie ncome HhaNETAERE - - - - - - - - () - 3 - - -
Diposalofpatal merestinasubsiiay i E—EHBATHHS
& - - - - B S 1) - - - S 71 R -
Recoqriton ofashere based pymentofa. B -FEIHBLANRE
subsidary note 4 BER {3 (M) - - - - - - - - - - - - 119 1139
Transertoresenve funds SRTRELD - - - - - 90 - - - - (o01) - - -
4131 March 202 RIBZZE
Zh=1-A 10316 2006799 (QIISOF A9 1389 200 (11019# 92788 10018 10417 (B463F 2515798 1444813 3960611

7 B ANARA T
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

for o BE 25 55 W) 2 (49

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HILFE

Attributableto owners of the parent

BOTEE ARG

Fairvalue  Fairvalue Asset Non-

Issued Share  Special Contributed Translation ~ Reserve  Merger  Capital  reserve reserve(non- revaluation Accumulated controlling Total

capital  premium  reserve  surplus reserve funds  reserve  reseve  (recyding) recycling)  reserve losses Total  interests equity
0PE AVE
B B i ke E2
B ROEE HREE REER EREE REEE GHER E4ER  (THE (FTHE) EGEE  ZiER it BE R
HKS000  HKY000  HKS'000  HKY000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000
TEn TEr  TEn  TEn TR TEn  TEn TR fRn TR TR fER TEn  TER TR

(note33)  (note35 (i) (note 35 i) (note 35 i) (note35 (i)} (note35 () (note35 vil)
(FfE33) (ko) - (Roatssi)  (BtaE3sii) (HfeE3sii)  (BfE3si) - (HfRE3st)

At Aprl 2022 H-5--fRA-A 12316 2106799  (27,150) 275693 136,849 209 - (11019 (9278) 10018 104117 (84639 2515798 1444813 3960611
Profios)for theyear TEREH/ (BR) = = = = = = = = = = - (0515 (0515 BER 33
Othercomprehensive income/oss)forthe year: KEEEHRELE/(ER)

Debtinvestments it valuetiough other BRATEEER2 AN

Compiehensieincome: NEBRRE :

Changes nfairvlue 1TERS 0 = = = : = = = 936 = = = 936 = 936

Reclassfcaion adustment o ossesgaing nchdedin.~— STABRZEE/ )2

oot orloss B

~ mpaimentlosss net -REE 5B 0 = 0 = = - - - 680 - - - 680 T 680

- Gainon disposalfedemption et -L&/5E 0

E - - - - - - - - (784) - - - (784 - (784

Fouiy investments at i valuethiough oher BATERER2ENE

comprehensive ncome NELRIERE -

Changes nfaralue LTERY - - - - - - - - - (oM - - o) - (o)
Tensaton esene EifE:

Bchange ifrences ontranstion oforegnoperation - AEINERFEL L

Eiz8 - - 2 - (113908 . 2 . 2 . 2 < (13008 (129219 (3121)

Tota comphensie incomeloss)forthe ear FERAENE/ (Bl)gE S o S - (11390 o c - (M) - (0515 (156856)  (105357)  (262213)
Didend pidto non-contoling nteests REE TR 2 C 2 = 2 - - - - - - - S B3 (530
Busiess combinaons under cormmon cortrol ERAHTHERAR - - - - - - P} - - - - - 0 0 601

Redassfication adustment foralossondisposalofequiy ~~ SEHERATEEAMRE
nvestmentsatfinlue trowghotercomprebensie.— REAB 2 RERENEE

income HERAREE - - - - - - - - - 5m - Mg o = o
Shares repurchased and cancelled fote 3) BEERHERA () 1) (9690 - - - - - - - - - - (990) < (990
Recogion o ahare bised payment o a subsiday E2-BRELENRRE

[note34) ERHRMRY > = > - > - > - > - > - S e 4e6
Tendertoresene funds EAZHRES = = > = - = = = = -y = = =
At31 March 203 WZEZZEZR=1-R 12046 2097109 (27,050  275693* 22941 4615 9% (1019 (2266) (13709 104117 (113395 2349191 1,339,193 3,688,384

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,337,145,000 (2022: * ZEREREBRERAMBRAEKF
HK$2,503,482,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 4R A FE#52,337,1450008 L (T2 - =
4 1 2,503,482,00078 7T)

o8 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Yearended 31 March 2023 82 —ZE - =4 =7

2023
—E-=

HK$'000
TERT

GaBeRaER

=t+—BIFE

2022
—E--

HK$/000
FHETT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXBCRERE
Loss before tax BRELATEE (11,936) (47,304)
Adjustments for: ERABNTEIA
Finance costs AMENAR 8 106,306 95,695
Interest income on loans receivables ERREZ 2 FIBWA 5 (2,911) (4,486)
Interest income on financial assets at fair value BATEEER AR SRIEE
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair R A FELEMETEIEA
value through other comprehensive income R emEE 2 EIA 5 (2,153) (6,842)
Interest income on bank deposits RITFERLZFEWA 5 (6,064) (4,048)
Finance income on net investments in subleases DIILE FE 2 B BIA 5, 16(ii) (368) (555)
Dividends from financial assets at fair value RERATERERZAR 2/
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair BEREATECHEMEER
value through other comprehensive income BARZEREE RS 5 (2,120) (9,414)
Gain on modification/termination of lease B/ BRI ES Nz I
contracts 5 (627) (491)
Gain on disposal of investment properties, net HEREWE 2 Wi T8 5 (357) (8,169)
Gain on early redemption of unsecured notes REBELIEEMZR 2 0 5 (11,544) -
Fair value losses on financial assets and liabilities at ~ AFEAL RS\ 2 S RA
fair value through profit or loss, net EREBECATERE  FH 5,306 31,693
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, plant ~ HEME - MEKRZEER 2
and equipment Eie/ () 56 (317) 6,355
Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption of HE ERIEAFELEMS
debt investments at fair value through other Al S AR EBREZE
comprehensive income, net 18,/ (Ukes) - 38 56 (784) 40,865
Loss on modification of debt investments at fair ERRAFELEMEEN SR
value through other comprehensive income AR BHEE 2 B8 6 867 -
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value HERRFELBERARZE
through profit or loss MEE R 6 = 599
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHEAREE 6 1,769 -
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) W B RSB ES RE JEE
on property, plant and equipment, net 1B/ (REEERR)  F58 6,14 12,941 (6,395)
Equity-settled share option expense Dt 8 v BRER 7 4,646 1,139
Impairment losses on financial assets, net CREERNEEE  F8 7 16,735 12,875
Depreciation of owned assets FEREENE 14 54,609 61,000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ﬁﬁﬁ REERE 14 58,440 46,797
Accrued rent-free rental income EEre MBS A 15 262 147
Fair value losses on owned investment properties, P)ﬂ?ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁz N THEE
net 18R 15 14,076 83,253
Fair value losses/(gains) on sub-leased investment R &Y% 2 A FEEE,
properties, net ) ' FE 15 (2,237) 3,764
Allowance for obsolete inventories REFERE 2,965 4,970
Write-down of properties under development R AR MUR 19 4,600 -
Write-down of properties held for sale ?%T’F;':HE%%W/}EQ 20 6,400 -
Share of profits and losses of associates DIEEE R T/ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬂﬁ (2,946) (1572)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors ﬁ HAFREEF TR RS
R ARENEEER 16 (774) (3,860)
244,784 296,016
Increase in inventories FE®EmM (24,957) (30,208)
Increase in properties under development BRAYIEIE N (13,712) (17,596)
Decrease in properties held for sale RIELEMER D 133,576 350,828
Increase in trade receivables g %JT'EW%\IEP 7]1] (14,004) (14,426)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank balances SR EISRITH AR D (R 0) (5,403) 15,696
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, depositsand ~ TBAS R Eﬁ&ﬁ‘rﬂl [
other receivables FIER D,/ (42 0) (29,444) 77423
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B S EMTEEm/ (Rd) (3,143) 12,209
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (49,003) (372,943)
Decrease in other payables and accruals HA R FIB R EFTERR D (32,185) (80,667)
Cash generated from operations %&%Fﬁ EERS 206,509 236,332
Proceeds from subleases DTS HIE 16(1i) 6,297 10,599
Interest received on bank deposits ﬁEﬁﬁ%ﬁ(Z REEESS 6,064 4,048
Tax paid [SANEE (53,055) (81,873)
Net cash flows from operating activities RERBMGZRERE TR 165,815 169,106
L= %%?zhﬁﬂ?\\ A
ZEC=FFRH 929



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

ol emER @)

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E== —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Net cash flows from operating activities RERBRGZREREFHE 165,815 169,106
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFHZRERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment B E 1% « iR KR ETEE (31,826) (26,036)
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of property, ~ WEHE - BEMREFEBE ZE
plant and equipment Fizs (1,620) -
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—fEHTB A B SR 37 46,647 -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant ~ HE¥E « BiERREEE FE
and equipment IR 2,603 883
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEMERIA 21,210 43971
Additions to investment properties NEREME 15 (20,387) (51,558)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BEERATELEZAREZER
profit or loss BE (15,000) (58357)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value HER A FELBEARZ 25
through profit or loss BEMBRA 67,621 18,081
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BERATELEM2EREA
other comprehensive income RromEE (80,075) (39,252)
Proceeds from disposal/redemption of debt HE /BEEAFELCEMEE
investments at fair value through other W \BR 2 BRI A FTS TR
comprehensive income 24,073 99,757
Decrease/(increase) in loans and interest receivables  JEUX & 3% & JEULFI 208/
(&) 1,819 (3,398)
Dividends received from associates [REEHNET 3N 2,250 600
Interest received from loans receivables and REEBEFRREBRIRE 2B K
debt investments FME 2,335 12,360
Dividends received from financial assets at fair value R B IR A FELEMEE KA
through other comprehensive income and FremBERBERTFELE
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss mAReREEZEWRE 2,120 9414
Net cash flows from investing activities BREZHMERENRETFE 21,770 6,465
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEZHHERE
New bank and other borrowings BRI REMEE 952,195 589,868
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EEFITRAMER (850,153) (480,364)
Shares repurchase B B (9,960) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests AR R AR A (5,301) (25,628)
Redemption of unsecured notes BEEEERRE (95,937) -
Redemption of convertible notes e EIR el e - (134,800)
Principal portion of lease payments HENR AT (58,094) (64,342)
Interest paid [EANELES) (86,345) (58,464)
Increase in pledged deposits BEAFZIE (5,315) (30,683)
Net cash flows used in financing activities RERSIARESRNEFHE (158,910) (204,413)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRBEEFEREM
CASH EQUIVALENTS (B2 #8 28,675 (28,842)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FOzBEeReERIER 510,146 507,234
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEH o T2 FHE (12,118) 31,754
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZRERALEFEE
END OF YEAR 526,703 510,146
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERRELEEERZERIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be RBITHEH 419,564 474,889
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity ~ REERRIIEAR DR =184
of less than three months when acquired ok Siiw il iVEE 106,305 35,257
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the ReRAeEREE (HnGzse
consolidated statement of financial position BRSR R R P ) 525,869 510,146
Add: Cash and bank balances of a disposal company il : —EHERFZRE M
RITHER 27 834 -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the AeRESZREE (HMmics
consolidated statement of cash flows RenERmid) 526,703 510,146

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its head office
and principal place of business are both located at Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:

production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products

production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products

property investment

management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Wang On Group Limited ("Wang On"), which is incorporated in
Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. 2w R 5 HE B @
Information about subsidiaries M@ AR ZER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: RABEEWBARZFFBOT ¢

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

ARAEERER DL
Direct Indirect
Place of incorporation  Issued ordinary/ E# [
and business registered share capital 2023 ) 2023 22 Principal activities
AMKUREREY EROLE/HERRE =8-S = = IEEH
Asia Brighter Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
HERABRAA B LERET VESE
Billion Good Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 99.79% 9979%  Property investment
(‘Billion Good')
BERARRAA B kAT NRRE
(&)
China Agri-Products xchange Limited™ Bermuda Ordinary HK899,530678 - - 53.37% 5337%  Investment holding
(AP
PERERRARRLT" [ 5 ERR99S0678ET REAR
(HERER)
Cloud Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Provision of financial senvice
B LaRET RS RRE
Full Gainer Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
SRRERRAR B LERET Ve
Grand Quality Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
ENERARAR B LaRET Ve
Good Excellent Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BEEARLT B LERET Ve
Info World Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
HARERRAR Bk LERET MRRE
Jet Success Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS10 - - 32.02% = Management of Chinese wet
('Jet Success’) (note (b)) markets
RRERARLT B LiaR0ET (B3 (b) hamER
(E-1:4)
Kingtex Investment Limited (‘Kingtex) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS10 - - 32.02% = Management of Chinese wet
(note (b)) markets
BEREARAR(EE] B LiaR0ET (B3 (b) hamER

102 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



1.

Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited

—

EREABHARLT

Qriental Sino Investments Limited

RERARRLA

Sino Fame Investments Limited
('Sino Fame’)

ERREERAR
i5:4)

Star Sense Limited
FRERAT

Sunbo Investment Limited

REREARLE

Sunny Victor Limited
RHERAT

Topmate Investment Limited

EXRARRAA

Total Smart Investments Limited

Wai Yuen Tong Company Limited
frm2ARAA

Castle Park (Regional) Limited (formerly
known as Wai Yuen Tong (Regional)
Limited)

FE(E)ARLT
(BT E () BRAR)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation
and business

GRS

Hong Kong
3
Hong Kong
3
Hong Kong
30
Hong Kong
30

Hong Kong
30

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Bitish Virgin Islands
ZERUES

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong

Bk

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital

BRTEE/ MR

Ordinary HK$933313
ERRon33ET
Ordinary HKS2
LamET
Ordinary HKS1
LERET
Ordinary HKS1
TRRET

Ordinary HKS1
TRRET

Ordinary HKS2
TERET

Ordinary HKS1
LakET

Ordinary USS1
LERET

Ordinary HKS1
LERIAT

Ordinary HKS1

EERET

St B ¥ R W BE ()
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1. AW REMER @
B 2 0 2 (A

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARAEERER DL
Direct Indirect
B L
2023 ) 2023 022 Principal activities

“E-=E -—F--fF CEC-S TEER

- - 99.79% 99.79%  Production and sale of Westem
pharmaceutical and health food
products

FERHERERRRRAM
Em

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
nERE

- - - 100%  Property investment
VESE

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
nERE

- - 100% 100%  Property investment
VESE

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
YES]

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
Ve

100% 100% - = Investment holding
REBR

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
VESiL]

- - 100% 100%  Property holding

UESE

7 B ANARA T
—zo—sem 103



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. 2w R 5 HE B @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) M AR 2 ER (&)

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARAEERREIL
Direct Indirect
Issued ordinary/ E# L

Place of incorporation

104

Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited

g (AF)ERAR

pesll]

Wai Yuen Tong (Retail Limited

g (FE)ERAR

pesll]

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited
('WYT Medicine Company’)

TEERARAA
(e %)

MImEREREARLT

=

RERERERARAA

R EERRAR AT

RERYHRIERADZARLD

and business

BRI

Macau

#A

Hong Kong

3

Hong Kong

3

People's Republic of China
(the "PRC’)/ Mainland
(China

hE\REAE
(B /B

The PRC/ Mainland China

RE/ SRR

The PRC/ Mainland China

R/ SRR

The PRC/ Mainland China

R/ SRR

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

registered share capital 2023
BEAEE/MRRE  -%-C

-2

Ordinary Macau -
Pataca 25,000

AR5 0008 7T

Ordlinary HK$300,000 =

ERR300000% 7T

Ordinary HKS 13417374 -
Non-voting deferred
shares™ HKS17,373 750
LER 47345 T
ERZEER
Blp=17373 75087

Registered capital Renminbi -
('RMB") 102,000,000

HMERARE
(AR ])1020000007C

Registered capital -
HK$100,000,000

HExR
1000000007

Registered capital -
RMB61,220000

AMERARY
612200007

Registered capital -

RMB180610000
HER
ARH1806100007C

2023

—g—=

—F==

99.79%

99.79%

99.79%

99.79%

100%

27.22%"

53.37%

99.7%%

99.7%%

99.7%%

99.7%%

100%

2.20%"

5337%

Principal activities

Retail sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food
products

FEERRERRER

Retailsale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food
products

FEERRERRER

Production and sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food
products

FERHEPERRR

AO o
RmEm

Retail sale and wholesale of
Chinese pharmaceutical and
health food products

ZERBETERRE

AnEm
Property holding

kS

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation

BERERRANE

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation

BERERRANE



1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation
and business
AMRAIRE £ S
INREZEERHBETEERAR  ThePRC/Mainland Ching
('Yulin Hongjin')*
INTEERERNENSERA  wE/REARY
([EMEE)"
INEENTERERAR The PRC/ Mainland China
RE/RER
YMTEBIERNETMSARDAA  ThePRC/Mainland China
RE/RER
RHTEZEERUETAERLE  ThePRC/Mainland China
RE/RER
EHERESEERMETEERAR  ThePRC/Mainland Ching
RE/RER
ERTESEERHBETEERAR"  ThePRC/Mainland China
RE/FER

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital

BRAEE/ERERK

Registered capital
RIMB34,285,700

AR
ARH34285 700

Registered capital
RIMB320,000,000

AR
AR 3200000007

Registered capital
RMB450,000,000

AR
AR 84500000007

Registered capital
US$23230000

AR
BI0000ET

Registered capital
RIMB443,000,000

AR
AR 4430000007

Registered capital
RIMB140,000,000

AR
AR H1400000007C

St B ¥ R W BE ()
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1. AW REMER @
P 2 0 2 B (A

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ADAEEREE AL
Direct Indirect
E# ;3
2023 2023
-§-= -§-=

- —F==

Principal activities
IEER

21.22%" 2720%*
(note (3))

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
S

GED)

53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE
37% 37%  Agricultural produce exchange

53.37% 5337%  Agriculturalprod h
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE

53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE

53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE

40.03%" 4003%*  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE

T EBEIER AR AR

—zo—gsem 103



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARAEERREIL

Direct

Place of incorporation
and business

BRI ~§-=

-2

BRAEE/ERERK

Issued ordinary/ E#
registered share capital 2023

Indirect

2023

—g—=

—F==

G
2022 Principal activities

“ECCF FERR

BRTEEEERNEMSERAT  ThePRUMainland China  Registered capital = 53.37% 5337%  Agricuttural produce exchange
RMB200,000,000 market operation and property
sales
8 /RE R iheEx BERERRATAER
ARE2000000007T NEHE
ERTERRERMRARAR The PRC/ Mainland China ~ Registered capital = 5337% 5337%  Agricultural produce exchange
15435000000 market operation and property
sales
8 /RE R iheEx BERERRATAER
350000000 NEHE
ERLERIERMETAERAT  ThePRCU/Mainland China  Registered capita = 070% 4970%  Agicutural produce exchange
RMB2,000,000 market operation
8 /RE R iheEx BERERRAME
ARB20000007

*¥

##

106

CAP is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. It is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are the management and sale of properties
in agricultural produce exchange markets.

The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights nor rights to dividends. On
the winding up of WYT Medicine Company, holders of the non-voting deferred
shares have a right to repayment in proportion to the amounts paid up on all
ordinary and deferred shares after the first HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof has
been distributed among the holders of the ordinary shares.

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.

Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

A subsidiary of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, accordingly
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control over it.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

(a) On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP, and a substantial shareholder of Yulin
Hongjin (the “PRC Shareholder’) entered into an agreement in relation to the
reduction of registered capital contribution of Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin.
Pursuant to the agreement, Century Choice also transferred 14% equity interest
in Yulin Hongjin to the PRC Shareholder in the course of the transaction at a
consideration of RMB40,950,000 (equivalent to HK$49,214,000). The registered
capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin was reduced by an
amount of RMB41,944,000 (equivalent to HK$42,328,000) after the transaction.
As a result, Century Choice's equity interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from
65% to 51%. Accordingly, the Group's effective equity interest in Yulin Hongjin
was decreased from 34.69% to 27.22%.

(b)  On 1 October 2022, the Group entered into shares transfer agreements with
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wang On, which are fellow subsidiaries of the
Group, to acquire 60% equity interests in each of Kingtex and Jet Success,
together with the shareholder loans owed by Kingtex and Jet Success to the
fellow subsidiaries of the Group at an aggregate consideration of HK$997,000,
which was settled through current account with the wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Wang On (the “Acquisition”). Given that Kingtex and Jet Success are
ultimately controlled by Wang On before and after the business combination,
the Acquisition is accounted for as a business combination under common
control, and the Group has elected to account for all the common control
transactions using the principle of the pooling-of-interests method. The net
assets of Kingtex and Jet Success have been consolidated using the existing
book values from the perspective of Wang On in these financial statements.
All differences between the consideration paid and the amounts at which the
assets and liabilities are recorded (net of any reserves of the acquired entities)
have been recognised directly in equity as part of merger reserve. The financial
statements and results of Kingtex and Jet Success are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date such control ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.1

108

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
which have been measured at fair value. Assets and a disposal company
classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2023. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in
control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the
current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

2.1

2.2
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

110

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable to the
Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework") issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer
to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset
or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRICO)-Int
21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or
HK(FRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to business combinations that occurred
on or after 1 April 2022. As the business combinations occurred during
the year were outside the scope of HKFRS 3, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items as determined
by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 April 2021. Since there was no sale
of items produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being
available for use, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative costs
do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The Group
has applied the amendments prospectively to contracts for which it
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 April 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41. Details of the amendment that is applicable to the Group are
as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity includes
when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial
liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied
the amendment prospectively from 1 April 2022. As there was no
modification or exchange of the Group's financial liabilities during the
year, the amendment did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have

been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

112

Annual Report 2023

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts'
Insurance Contracts'>

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current (the 2020 Amendments’)**

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
‘2022 Amendments’)?
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction'
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020

Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
= Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change
in conclusion

s As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1
January 2023

° An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the classification
overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to
the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

114

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses
in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to
ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e,, 1 April 2019). Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
in particular the determination over whether an entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the
HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity that applies the
2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of
the amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

2.3 CAEMHMNRERZE

5 B 5 e o 4 H ()

BEMEME LR 1658 2 EFTA
AIAED - ABRARTEERAR
RHPEFZHEABRERZR
i AERE S - AEATSHER
B3 EL PR BR (8 PR 4R A B 2 AT e ek
HEREHE - ZRFEITN_FT -/
F-A— Bz &Mz FEHRE
R WEEBPERRERXERE
BB HREENE 1658ER (B
T-NFOA—B)RIIZZER
HERS  AFFRFER - ZFE
AT U ARE M RRE
EEFRIERTE -

BEAGHERE VR IEBITARNERE
DERRBRIETE R EEAED
HARDIIERDNRTE  LER
ETERBELGaENREHMEESR
DREANEEEEEE - BEMN
DETNEZEBITERANEEES
BEMAEEMTE - ZEBTAR
IEBHAAEEABNEBR - R
ZECF  BAEERMAEHEM
ZTECFERIAR  LE—RE
EERTHEEzBERHT &
EREENME BB 2 AT ST 2 %

HEFEZABEIERRBRIER
B o MO —T - ZFEATARENR
ERFHEIMNIE  HERARELT
BREEZEABE(BRBEANES Y

%12 B RE<FARKEE) - Al
BERLTHEEZABDEAER
&) o 2B ARZEZMF— A
—HE® 2 % RR 7 F M AE R
BIBWIER  RFFRRER 2R
ERAZZE_ZF A2 AR
REA-SZ_FBIEX k2
R o ANEE B A EEEZEER]
AR ERBRBER R R E
15T o IRIBVF G - ZFEFTR
AT S A S B B TS R R IEK
TREATE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities
to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is
permitted. Since the guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures
to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates are
defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

2.3
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2.3
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Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise
a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions.
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to
leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other component
of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be
applied prospectively to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which itisin a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates is included in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the Group, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's investments in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

118

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations under common control

Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted
for using the principle of the pooling-of-interests method. The assets and
liabilities of the acquiree are stated at their historical book values carried
in the consolidated accounts of the controlling shareholder at the date
of acquisition. The difference between the consideration transferred for
a business combination under common control and the total of (i) the
acquisition date historical net asset values of the acquiree attributable to
the Group; and (ii) the pre-acquisition reserves of the acquiree combined
by the Group is accounted for as a contribution from or a distributed to, as
appropriate, holding companies in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Accordingly, there is no goodwill or a gain on bargain purchase
as a result of a business combination under common control. The results
of the acquiree under a business combination under common control are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date such control
ceases.

Other business combinations

Business combinations other than those under common control are
accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Other business combinations (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and
liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance
with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions
as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an
asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the
net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU(s)"), or groups of CGUs, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of
whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
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(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Other business combinations (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU
(group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or group of CGUs) and part of
the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best interest.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

2.4 EREHEBORME @0

EBEHREEE
Hitb K& 6t (F)
MEDZFEBEERCReESL
Bu(-HARSELEM KOS
BMMEE - WREELEM(—H
ReEEEM) 2o B ER
RE(E - RIEREERR - o#R
ZEEREBRT e R AR
M o

WEEBEIAEERSELEEM (K
—HRTELEM) NZEMAZ
MORBRHE  AIRBEHELZ
Wk EER - SHEXBKERL
BESARKREE - ELIBERT
HEZEE - DiRHEXBEMR
BIReELEUHY <AL EER

=
£ -°

DNEFE
AEEREREARRAHETE
BREYME  BAFELBREARLZ
TREE  BAFELEMEEK
SARZEREENRRAHELRE
s ARZEHMEBE - AFEERS
ERNMBE2REZRANAERFRS
T EEERKIZ B
FEESXNZER -SHEAFE
HRRHEEEXBRABEIRS
REESLBEMNTEMSHEER
BEXEMHMER N &EBNTS
T - TBAZEFMHARAE
BEELENTS - BRERMB2EE
ERNRELENDTE  BELA
BEHRFEERTS2EEREE
SR ETEERFMARKE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 = based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.
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(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial assets, properties
under development, properties held for sale, investment properties, deferred
tax assets and non-current assets/disposal groups classified as held for sale),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or CGU'’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU to which the asset belongs. In testing a CGU for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an
individual CGU if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 FEEFBORME @)
(continued)
Related parties BRERS
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETIERT - BEATKHERR
B EEME
(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s family and that @ FBEATRA—BALTHZA
person TRERS  MAT
() has control or joint control over the Group; () TRl EREESARE
;
(i) hassignificant influence over the Group; or iy HAEEAEFEATE
VAR
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or (il AAEEFIAEESGA
of a parent of the Group; AMEZEEREABK
8
or B4
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: b) BEATR/EREMNATE
HeEeE
() the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZEELAAEEBER-—
SEKERA

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of (ih ZEBEAZ —HE(XK

a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity); S—EBNEAT - M
BRralkEARME A
AWM E R AR E &
=k 3

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third (iif) EZEE;%E@Z]K%Z% a—
party; =FREERE

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity vy —EBR—F=-LE®B
is an associate of the third entity; WEErE ME—&

B Aty = B
SW/NC

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of v) E@%ﬁ%ﬁ 7 8] of B 7R

employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group; SEEHENERNE
SRR ENEE

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified Vi) FREBZ@EBEFHERIA
in (a); il sk L RIEH]

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (i) FA(@)( |)I Frasal A ¥
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the ZEBEERTEY
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and BZER(IZERE

RENEEZEERBABK
8 &

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, Vi) ZEEBXEMBEEN
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to G5 E=ENE PN
the parent of the Group. AR B A RRMH
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including owned assets and right-of-use
assets classified as property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of
property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal group held for sale”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of owned property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. Right-of-use assets (ownership of which will not be
transferred to the Group) are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
principal annual rates used for depreciation are as follows:

Owned assets

Buildings 2-3'5% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

20-33'4% or over the terms of the relevant

leases, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 10-20%
Furniture and equipment 20-33'4%
Motor vehicles 10-20%
Computer system 20-33'4%

Right-of-use assets

Leasehold land 2% or over the terms of the relevant leases
ranging from 27 to 68 years, whichever is
shorter

Buildings Over the lease terms of 2 to 6 years
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease
(that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets
(other than those meet the definition of an investment property, properties
under development or properties held for sale) are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.

If ownership of the leased assets is transferred to the Group by the end of the
lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation
is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would otherwise meet
the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties
are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property
are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties or
inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its
fair value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of
change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation. Changes
in the values are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such
assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held
for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment properties
and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated
or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete
the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products not exceeding five to seven years, commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.
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(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. When the right-
of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as properties under
development and properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
policies for “properties under development” and “properties held for sale”.
The right-of-use assets which meet the definition of investment property
are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at fair value in
accordance with the Group’s policy for “Investment properties”. Other right-
of-use assets are included in property, plant and equipment, the accounting
policy of which are included in the policy for “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” above.

(@) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.
The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(a) Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in other payables and accruals.

(b) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of buildings and equipment (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to

capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
that are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a straight-line

basis over the lease term.
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(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there
is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.
When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in profit or loss. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the lease payments and related payments (including
the initial direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to
the net investment in the lease. The finance income on the net investment
in the lease is recognised in profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic
rate of return over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a finance
lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the
sublease as an operating lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees, payments for land use rights and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period. Net
realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the prevailing market
prices on an individual property basis.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is expected to
complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties
are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from purchasers in respect
of the pre-sale of properties under development prior to completion of the
development are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties under development, they are subsequently measured at the lower
of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group'’s policy for
properties under development.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total land and building costs
attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is estimated by the
directors based on the prevailing market prices on an individual property
basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy for properties
held for sale.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's business
model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same manner
as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity
investments as equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss.
Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject
to impairment assessment.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and certain investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-
financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a separate
derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract
is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through
profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset
host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs") for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each reporting date,
the Group evaluates whether the debt investments are considered to have
low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -~

Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage2 -

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that contain a
significant financing component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described
above.
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(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, and loans and borrowings and payables at
amortised cost, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
Ccosts.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and unsecured notes.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities
held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for
the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains
or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the
criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, except for the
gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in
other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and payables)

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that
require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts
at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the
policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised.

Unsecured notes and convertible notes

If the conversion option of convertible notes and the early redemption
option of unsecured notes and convertible notes exhibit characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability component.
On initial recognition, the derivative component of the unsecured notes
and convertible notes is measured at fair value and presented as part of
derivative financial instruments included in financial assets/liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. Any excess of proceeds over the amount
initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised as the liability
component. Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components of the unsecured notes and convertible notes based
on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative components when
the instruments are initially recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognised initially as a reduction of
the liability. The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Share repurchase

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase
in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i)
the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the general policy
for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the amount of income recognised in accordance with the policy
for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods
or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of goods.

Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products provide customers with rights of return. The
rights of return gives rise to variable consideration:

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return the
goods within a specified period, the expected value method is used to
estimate the goods that will not be returned because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the transaction price. For
goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund
liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding
adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Sale of properties
Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point in time
when the purchasers obtain the physical possession and/or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group has the present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

(c)  Provision of management, promotion and property ancillary
services
Revenue from the provision of management, promotion and property
ancillary services is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group.

(d) Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets
Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets is
recognised at the point in time when the services are rendered in
accordance with the terms of the agreement.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract (ie, transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract were those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer it would not have been incurred
if the contract had not been obtained e.g, sales commission to sales agents.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods
expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at the former
carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected costs to
recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of the returned
goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset for any revisions to
the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in the value of the
returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and is measured at the
amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding
change in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Share-based payments

The Company and CAP each operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments (‘equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a trinomial model, further details of
which are given in note 34 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account
when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions
attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected
in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/
or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated
as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.
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(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an
expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings/loss per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China
are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
to a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e, assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e, translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Significant Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties including commercial and industrial properties in
Hong Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China
are revalued at the end of the reporting period on a market value, existing use
basis by independent professionally qualified valuers. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties is considered and
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end
of the reporting period are used. Further details of the valuation are included
in note 15 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties
held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of each unit is determined
using the weighted average method. The estimated net realisable value is
assessed at the end of the reporting period on a market value, existing use
basis by an independent professionally qualified valuer. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties is considered and
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end
of the reporting period are used.

Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-financial non-current
assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment or reversal
of impairment of all non-financial non-current assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-financial non-current
assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Where an indication of impairment or reversal of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets, properties under development, properties held for sale,
investment properties and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
CGU's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset
belongs. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use is calculated to assess for impairment, management
applies assumptions to prepare cash flow forecast, i.e., discount rate, growth
rate for the asset or CGU to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Given that external sources of information and evidence from internal
reporting indicates that the economic performance of some assets or CGUs
are better than expected while some CGUs continue to underperform, the
directors of the Company performed impairment tests of the property, plant
and equipment or related CGUs to determine their recoverable amounts. The
recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and equipment or a CGU is
calculated as the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use,
the calculations of which involve the use of estimates.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based
on their products and services and has four reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products — manufacture, processing and sale of traditional Chinese
medicine which includes Chinese medicinal products sold under the
brand name of “Wai Yuen Tong” and a range of products manufactured
using selected medicinal materials with traditional prescriptions,
mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong (“Chinese Pharmaceutical
Segment”);

(b)  production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health
food products — manufacture, processing and sale of Western
pharmaceutical products and personal care products under the brand
names of "Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s”, respectively ("Western
Pharmaceutical Segment’);

ron

(c)  property investment — investment in commercial and industrial
premises for rental income; and

(d)  management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group's loss before tax except that other income and gains, net,
finance costs, fair value losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, net, head office and corporate income and expenses,
loss on disposal/redemption of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, net, loss on modification of debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income and loss on disposal of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling
prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BHEyERE B
Segment revenue and results DEBURES R AR
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poftorloss SREEBR - (5%9)
Loss before tax WRIER (119%6) @734
Income tax et expense) kAL /%) 15283 ({0519
Profioss) forthe year EFET/(BB) P B8y
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Other segment information
Year ended 31 March

Chingse Pharmaceutical ~ Western Pharmaceutical

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

4. BHEE R @

H it EBE R
BEZ=BA=1+—HLEE

Management and sale of
properties in agricultural

Segment Segment Propertyinvestment  produce exchange markets Unallocated
EEREERER
RAmE LR i

023
ECCE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#L Tan Tn
Othersegment nformation: EhAdEH:
Iterestncome HERA o - - - -
Captl expendiue nte) ErAR () 1850 630 850 g0 -
Depreciaton g 65700 6565 1436 1SH 14006
Fairvluelosses/gang) on fnancilassetsand iites  RAFBEERAB 4R
atfarvaluethrough profit orloss, net EENEE/ATREE/
(hw) 58 S - 2 - -
Netosses from fa vlus acustments forowned TRENZ A TEREEE
propertes 78 - - = S A
Netloses/geins fom fanvlue adusments forsu—— ARRENE L AT ERE
leasedinvestment properties B/ z)5E - - - - -

Loss/gar) on disposalfedemptionofdebtimestments & /BEEATEEE
atfirvalue trough other comprehensiencome et 2EREAE ZBRREL
Ei/lhs) 58 ® - - - -
Losson modiicaionof et mvesimentsatfarale BT RATEARBATYE

through other comprehensivencome NG BHREER - - - - -
Losson diposlof fnancilassesatfarvluethrough - HERATERERAE 2

proftorloss SHEEBR - - - - -
Loss/gan) ondiposaloftems of propery plantend. ~ HEHE » BERHEAR

equipment, net BE/Uh%) 38 (287) 3 - - -
(i on disposal ofnvestment properte, et LERBME NG 58 - - - - -
Impaiment losses/eversal of mpaimentlosseson. - £ REERESE/ (B

financil asets net EERE) 58 5,846 5175 8 [ -
Impaimentlossesfeversa ofimpaiment osseslon 1%~ BB BB EER/

propety,plantand equipment et (HBEERE) 58 3162 % @) b2 9
Wite-down ofproperties underdevelopment HRERRNE - - - - -
Wite-down ofpropertis held for sale KRR ELENE - - - -
Investmentsinassocites PBERE R 4500 38 - -
Shere of profisand osesof assocetes AELTRIREE (294 (57 - - .
Loss ondiposalof a subsiday it A S - 2 - 16

Alowancelleversal of alowance) orcosoletenventores BEF SR/ (BEEM) 3578 24 613 w3

03

-E ZBIzE

HK$'000. HK$'000 HKS'000
T#n T Thn

- S (11528 (536 (1n128) (15376
39513 1088 - 5 5m 7759
8261 17,819 17612 4,087 5195 1304 107797

(214) (6067) 552 37760 5,306 3169

3343 6,887 4980 - - 14076 8253

(2231) 3764 (2.231) 3764

- - (784 4086 (784) 40865

- - 867 867
- - - 59 - 5%
30) 5917 - - (317) 6:3%
(357) (150 - (8019 (357) 8169)

4068 189 6813 48% 16135 12875

173 - - - - %M (6399)
4600 - - - 4,600 -
6,400 - - - 6,400
- - - - 4,500 380
- - - - (2.94) (1572)
- - - - 1,769 -
- - - - 2965 4970

Note: Capital expenditure includes additions to investment properties and property,

plant and equipment (excluding the additions of leased buildings included in
right-of-use assets).

M BEARS BREIEZREMER
W - BE REE (T BEHE
SAAEREEENEEET) o

R EREERERAT
e L



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Ik i 2% B S oap)

31 March2023 —Z2 - =9¢=H=+—H

4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BHEZEHER @
Geographical information HEER
(@) Revenue from external customers (a) RENFEFEzWEHE
2023 2022
—E_= —=FE-
HK$'000 HKS$'000
Tz FHIT
Hong Kong BE 534,760 417,994
Mainland China AR A A 693,746 929,120
Macau SEPY 54,082 40,554
Others Efb 3,840 3,743
1,286,428 1,391,411
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the Lt E R TYVIRE F ATE
customers. HER &5 o
(b) Non-current assets (b) ¥ RBEE
2023 2022
—E-= —=ET-=
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHBxT FHEIT
Hong Kong a5 1,031,337 1,160,730
Mainland China H B A 3,023,311 3,341,909
Macau P 10,687 20,068
4,065,335 4,522,707
The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of FHERBEEEL NIZE
the assets and excludes financial instruments and deferred tax assets. EMEtEss - BNEE

TRTAMEERBEE -

Information about major customers FREXEEFZESR

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no revenue from BEZ-_=fFR-_F-_F=H
transactions with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more of the Z+—HIEFE UERKAHEE—
total revenue of the Group. SN PR F o Was (b AN & B Wz

HEEAAI10%EIA | o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net 5. W R fe A KWk
>
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income and gains, net is as A5 E U as R B A B g F
follows: B2 AT -
2023 2022
—ZE—= —E - F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T F&TT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEFEHZ W e 1,093,775 1,180,132
Revenue from other sources o B E A AR W am
Gross rental income from investment property HEYHEKEHE
operating leases e N L 192,653 211,279
1,286,428 1,391,411

R EREERERAT
Szo—gay 137



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

% e 2 B ko)

31 March2023 —Z2 - =9¢=H=+—H

5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net 5. W R fe A KWk
(continued) 2 o HH @)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) DHFBEEHR
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ZE-_=f=A=+-—
ALEFE
Segments i

Management

Production and sale of

Production and and sale of properties in
sale of Chinese Western agricultural
pharmaceutical  pharmaceutical produce
and health and health exchange

food products food products markets
EERHE
LERFEETE LERNERE REMRXZMS
RRERRER RREBRRER A s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THT

Types of goods or services EMARRKER

- Sale of goods -HEEY) 623,910 82,592 14,714 721,216
~Managementand promotion - BB R EERHE
services 11,048 - - 11,048
- Sale of properties - HEME = = 169,020 169,020
- Commission income from -BERRSTHZ
agricultural produce exchange LiEZ N
markets - - 94,915 94,915
- Agricultural produce exchange - RERR ZTHZ
market ancillary services RERY - = 97,576 97,576
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF A 42 Wiz
customers k] 634,958 82,592 376,225* 1,093,775
Geographical markets wEHE
Hong Kong e 498,879 29,833 = 528,712
Mainland China FEIA 86,654 44,262 376,225 507,141
Macau R 46,879 7,203 = 54,082
Others Hity 2,546 1,294 - 3,840
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA 42 Wz
customers ek 634,958 82,592 376,225* 1,093,775

Timing of revenue recognition Wi RERR R
Goods or services transferred ata MR —BEEBHELEY)

point in time IR 623,910 82,592 278,649 985,151
Services transferred over time BeRs % R 11,048 = 97,576 108,624
Total revenue from contracts with R AR A #) 2 Yizs

customers k] 634,958 82,592 376,225* 1,093,775
* Gross rental income from investment property operating leases of * LiBEETEFARTER

HK$186,605,000 (2022: HK$204,178,000) that was attributable to the EERHEREMRX ST
management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange B2 MED BB E Y
markets segment was not included in the above disclosure. KEHE s e W AERE

186,605,000/ L(ZE ==
£ 1 204,178,000/ 7T) ©
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5.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net

(continued)

(@

5. W K H e A B it
3 o R ()

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEHzWE(E)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) 2PHFUEERGE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_E__f=R=1-—
HLEFE
Segments 2 E
Management
Production and sale of
Production and and sale of properties in
sale of Chinese Western agricultural
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical produce
and health and health exchange
food products food products markets
ERRHE
HERHEETE HERMERE REMXHNS
ERERmER RRERMER 2%
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THT THT FHAT
Types of goods or services BN REER
- Sale of goods -HEEY 507,223 41273 11429 559,925
-Managementand promotion - BB REBRE
services 5,345 - - 5,345
- Sale of properties -HEME - - 418,564 418,564
- Commission income from -RERRSHTHL
agricultural produce exchange EALON
markets - - 94,909 94,909
- Agricultural produce exchange - BERR STHZ
market ancillary services BER - - 101,389 101,389
Total revenue from contracts with R EEF A #) 2 fizs
customers B 512,568 41273 626,291* 1,180,132
Geographical markets wEHE
Hong Kong e 388,093 22,800 - 410893
Mainland China IR 84,271 14,380 626,91 724942
Macau B 36461 4,093 - 40,554
Others i 3743 - - 3,743
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RE B P A4 2 &
customers o 512,568 41273 626,291* 1,180,132
Timing of revenue recognition W E7E S B5
Goods or services transferred ata ~ RE— R ER &
pointin time F IR 507,223 41073 524902 1,073,398
Senvices transferred over time bR RS RIS 5345 - 101,389 106,734
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RE R A #) 2 Yz
customers B 512,568 41273 626291* 1,180,132
U EEEERERAF]
—zo—srm 199



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Ik i 2% B S oap)

31 March2023 —Z2 - =9¢=H=+—H

5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net 5. W R fe A KWk
(continued) i o W @)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEEEHz W (E)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) SDIFBEERE)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with THREINKEEPEH W
customers to the amounts disclosed in the segment information: mEDMERMIEESED
Ei
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ZE-_=f=ZA=+-—
Bk fﬁJE
Segments D
Management
Production and sale of
Production and and sale of properties in
sale of Chinese Western agricultural
pharmaceutical  pharmaceutical produce
and health and health exchange
food products food products markets Total
EERHE
LERSETRE LERFERE RERRXZTS .
RREERER RARERER A /3 st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET THET THET THET
Revenue from contractswith ~ REZF &Mz
customers
External customers INEFE P 634,958 82,592 376,225* 1,093,775
Intersegment sales AEEEE 1,472 537 = 2,009
Segment revenue Ak 06 636,430 83,129 376,225* 1,095,784
Intersegment adjustments and D EREE R
eliminations (1,472) (537) - (2,009)
Total revenue from contracts with € E BPaH e
customers mEs 634,958 82,592 376,225*% 1,093,775
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_Z-_—F=A=+-—
BLEFE
Segments DE
Management
Production and sale of
Production and and sale of properties in
sale of Chinese Western agricultural
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical produce
and health and health exchange
food products food products markets
EERAENE EERPERS
ERERRER RRERGEM i
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000
THT THAT T AT
Revenue from contractswith ~ REEF ANz K
customers
External customers MBER 512,568 41273 626291* 1,180,132
Intersegment sales DEEEE 41 1818 - 1859
Segment revenue 2z 512,609 43,091 626,291* 1,181,991
Intersegment adjustments and DEEFE R
eliminations (41 (1818) - (1,859)
Total revenue from contracts with %€ E BP ANz
customers Fatas) 512,568 41,273 626,291* 1,180,132
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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5.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

5. W K H e A B it
5 o AR ()

REFEFEH Wz (E)

(i)

ﬂ#&iﬁ;ﬁ%ﬂuﬂ\ MmalEz

7 $ i 25 B R ()
TRBURN AR S IR K
BRZEE  HRBEHD
AFARKARILE

2023
—E-=F

2022
—E-
HKS'000
TETT

HK$’000
FTERT

contract liabilities at the beginning of the W iR
reporting period:
Sale of goods HEED 9,240 9,991
Sale of properties SHE W 108,030 389427
117,270 399,418
(i) Performance obligations iy BHEE

The following information about the Group'’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods and
payment is generally due within 7 to 120 days from delivery, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. Some
contracts provide customers with a right of return which gives rise to
variable consideration subject to constraint.

Management, promotion and property ancillary services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered.

Commission income from agricultural produce exchange
markets

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the completion of the
related sales transactions.

Sales of properties
The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical possession
and/or the legal title of the property is obtained by the purchaser.

T EEEERER AR

BRAKEEONEIHNER
Bt

HEXRY

BHEEREYRHEE

B HL%E’\\X1—JLT§7;|:12O
BB R EEPAE

BIRANR - BOBHAE
FREGREHE  EAmMELR
PR il A0 AT AAE -

HH - 5 MR B ENRF
EBHOBRMER RS REHEZ
B o

R R L T 5 2 2

BHOEBERNZXBEREEER
BEFER °

Y H
BHOEBEIRETREMEN
EREAREL, AT EE
PP

ZEC=FFRH 161



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March2023 —Z2 - =9¢=H=+—H

5.

162

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net 5. W R fe A KWk
(continued) 2 o HH @)
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Other income Hepl A
Interest income on loans receivables FEW E T2 M B WA 2,911 4,486
Interest income on financial assets at fair value BATELESZAKR SR
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair BERRATELEMEE
value through other comprehensive income W AR @A E 2 E
WA 2,153 6,842
Interest income on bank deposits BITFER M EWRA 6,064 4,048
Finance income on net investments in subleases DRI EFE 2 A 368 555
Dividends from financial assets at fair value through R EIZ A ELEBRZARZ
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value CRIEEREATELECEM
through other comprehensive income FHWEAR SREE
Z IR 2,120 9414
Rental income from other properties REHEMYE 2 HEIKA 37,642 44,608
Government subsidies** IBUT?@HE** 9,606 2,166
Compensation from litigation judgement (note 43)  FFEAHIR 2 BE{E (M 5F43) = 48572
Others 1 \m 8,666 8,544
69,530 129,235
Gains, net Wi FE
Gain on disposal/redemption of debt investments at & /& @15 A FEL H A
fair value through other comprehensive income, ZHEHBEARZEBFIRE
net Wa - FH 784 -
Gain on early redemption of unsecured notes REPERERRRE 2 WS 11,544 -
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and HEME - BEMEEEE
equipment, net ZWE R 317 -
Gain on modification/termination of lease contracts {28, 4% It TAE & #) 2 Wz 627 491
Gain on disposal of investment properties, net HEREWMHE W - F5E 357 8,169
Exchange gains, net b 5 e - R = 6,974
13,629 15,634
Other income and gains, net EHA WA R as - R 83,159 144,869

** For the year ended 31 March 2023, government subsidies represented (i) the
PRC government subsidies of HK$8,975,000 (2022: HK$2,166,000) granted
to the Group by the local governmental authority in Mainland China for the
business support on its investments in an agricultural produce exchange market
in Mainland China; and (ii) one-off subsidies of HK$631,000 granted by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region’s Research and
Development Cash Rebate Scheme and SME Export Marketing Fund.

The Group has complied with all attached conditions before 31 March 2023 and
2022 and recognised these grants in profit or loss as “Other income and gains,

net” in the respective accounting periods.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Other Expenses, Net

An analysis of other expenses, net is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

HAbP = - HH
HipR% - FEANMT -

2023 2022
—E-= T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B =E FER FAT
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BEREEEE
plant and equipment it i=| = 6,355
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHNBAR 2 EE 37 1,769 -
Loss on disposal/redemption of debt HE EOE AT ELHM
investments at fair value through other ~ 2EWZF AR Z EEIRE
comprehensive income, net ZEER R - 40,865
Loss on modification of debt BETRA T ELEMEE
investments at fair value through other ~ WWZE ABR 2 BEISIE 2 E518
comprehensive income 867 -
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair  HEZ A FELIBRIARZ
value through profit or loss TREEEE - 599
Impairment losses/(reversal of Wz - BE KB RE
impairment losses) on property, plant B8,/ CREEsEREE) -
and equipment, net HEE 14 12,941 (6,395)
Exchange losses, net b HEE - JFRE 3,706 -
19,283 41424
R EEEZERARAR
—=——siy 163



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March2023 —Z2 - =9¢=H=+—H

7. Loss Before Tax 7. BRBLHTEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBEZBRBABERINGR, G

AN TR IRRER

2023 2022

—_——

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THAT

Cost of inventories recognised as an HREAZ 2 FERAK(BE

expense (including allowance for PR &5 137 & #41552,965,0007%8 7T
obsolete inventories of HK$2,965,000 (ZZT = : 4,970,000
(2022: HK$4,970,000)) A7) 392,350 329,948
Cost of properties sold EEWERAR 155,627 352,932
Cost of services provided FriR AR TS 2 B AR 126,674 138,141
Research and development costs 9T R BB A AR 1,897 1,302
Lease payments not included in the Rt AMHEABENEZHE
measurement of lease liabilities (BN 16(c) 15,621 12,398
COVID-19-related rent concessions from A BT BT R B AR RS
lessors R EERENESES 16(c) (774) (3,860)
Auditor's remuneration ZEEN % 5,580 5,580
Depreciation of owned assets FrEBEENE 14 54,609 61,000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRABEEENE 14 58,440 46,797
113,049 107,797
Employee benefit expense (excluding ~ RERAASZ(TEEES
directors' remuneration (note 9)): Bl (F33E9)) -
Wages and salaries and other benefits*  T#& - ¥ & EMEF* 200,416 204,769
Equity-settled share option expense ARG RS E R AR R 2 4,646 1,139
Pension scheme contributions** RIRE FH B 9,610 8,981
214,672 214,889
Foreign exchange differences, net PE R =% F5 3,706 (6,974)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net: & Bl & E BRI « F5E ¢
Trade receivables Z S WA 22 7,983 5,381
Financial assets included in FTATEM A - Be REAM
prepayments, deposits and other EWHRIE, @ BB E
receivables 24 483 31
Debt investments at fair value through  Z AP ELE M2 EKEE A
other comprehensive income RoEBHIRE 18 6,860 4913
Loans and interest receivables FEWE R B FI B 23 1,409 2,550
16,735 12,875
Gross rental income MEWABE (230,295) (255,887)
Less: Direct outgoing expense W BRI 280 87
(230,015) (255,800)
Net fair value losses/(gains) on sub-leased D TAREWE 2 A FERE,
investment properties*** (Ugzs) » SFEE 15 (2,237) 3,764

164 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



7.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Loss Before Tax (continued)

* Wage subsidies of HK$12,034,000 (2022: Nil) granted by the Employment
Support Scheme under the Anti-Epidemic Fund for the use of paying wages of
employees from May to July 2022 had been received during the year ended 31
March 2023. The amount was recognised in profit or loss and had been offset
with the employee benefit expense. The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise
be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to
make redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on
paying wages to the employees.

** There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

***  The expense is included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

o B8 1 s 488 ()

* Hze—_2-_=—F=-A=+—H
IHFEE  ASEEDKEEZE
BEESHRMETSBL AL
N—E2-—FRAZEtAEET
BT & #EL12,034,0000 7T (=
TooFE) - FHESBEER
BniER  WHEESEMNFAIK
Mo ESEEADEREYH
T DURB A B g B (B
B o IRIBMBIER - AEENE
MERATEHE  TEMEES
ARZfRETE -

o R WA SRR AR E AR
F 5 ARINRR A HFKFE -

o SRRHARAREREMEE
Y 35 PO O[S A o

il A
BARRZ AT :

2023 2022

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHBxT T

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMBEEZFE 82,057 59,372
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBZAE 4,423 4,838
Interest on unsecured notes EERBER RS 19,826 23,049
Interest on convertible notes AR EE 2 5B = 8436
106,306 95,695

Directors’ Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules’) issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EHME

IRIREE 22 P A8 0 O B SR P RE 25 £ T
MATERRAD) - FERFED
%£383(1)@a) * (b) * ()R (NIERAF]
(BEEZNEERDROIE —J
BFANESHESWT

2023 2022

—_—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T T
Fees we 876 996
Other emoluments for executive directors: HITEE 2 HEMNE -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREDA = 17,157 9,450
Performance-related bonuses* B SR IR 8 2 TE4T* 775 1,044
Pension scheme contributions IR ETEIE K 63 54
17,995 10,548
18,871 11,544
* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments * KATIEFHRTEEFREZAL

which are determined with reference to the Group's operating results, individual
performance of the directors and comparable market practices during each of
the years.

A M2 ERFEARER
rEkE  BEEERRBLAMH
L8z TS B IFTESE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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9.

166

Directors’ Remuneration (continued) 9. #HHEMEw@W
The remuneration paid to executive directors and independent non-executive FR - BNRAITESREBEIENIT
directors during the year was as follows: EZ7MemT

Salaries,
allowances and Performance- Pension scheme Total
benefitsinkind  related bonuses contributions remuneration

¥& o 2ER BRRHN

e ENFiE 2L BRSHEHR 0 Pt
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TAT AL TR TAT TAT
2023 kg3
Executive directors: WTES:
Mr.Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman ~ B5/& M L £ (KA ]
and Managing Director of the IRFESE
Company ('Mr. Tang’) CSERRL V) 120 14,619 775 27 15,541
Ms. Tang Wai Man BEfat = 1,878 = 18 1,896
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita EHELL = 660 = 18 678
120 17,157 775 63 18,115
Independent non-executive BUFaIES -
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho ZEERE 184 = = = 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BXELE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou EkekE 184 = = = 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FRERE 204 - = = 204
756 - - - 756
Total b 876 17,157 775 63 18,871
2022 —E-CF
Executive directors: WTES:
Mr.Tang s 240 7.800 650 18 8708
Ms. Tang Wai Man HEE v - 1,050 24 18 1,292
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita EHETL - 600 170 18 788
240 9450 1,044 54 10,788
Independent non-executive BUERNTES
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho 2EERE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BXERE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou EpG 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FRELA 204 - - - 204
756 - - - 75
Total @zt 99% 9450 1,044 54 11,544
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive FR - WEEMENBLIERTE
directors during the year (2022: Nil). FErE(ZE__F &)
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive HEZZ-_=FR-_F-_F=H
any remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. =T—BIEFEE - BiEEERES

FEMEETMM S -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

10. Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2022: two)
directors, details of whose remuneration are disclosed in note 9 above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the three (2022: three) non-director,

St B ¥ R W BE ()
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10. WA HiiEER

FR hERSHEEBEMSA
—ECF - WMRB)EE  EiNe
HEREXHEORE - % T =4

highest paid employees are as follows: (ZZEZ=ZF : ZF)FEEHEH
EBEMFAMSFBOT

2023 2022
—_E_= —E-
HK$'000 HKS'000
THxT T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEEDFG 3,846 2,875
Discretionary bonuses BB B 2 TEAT 321 147
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIME R 54 47
4,221 3,069

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

FESEEHEEZABEME N

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

FUATEE -
Number of employees
PN
2023 2022
—=E2-= ===
= 21,000,000/ 7T = 2
1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000/ 7T 2 1
1,500,001/ 7T & 2,000,000 7T 1 -

11. Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The
provision for PRC land appreciation tax (‘LAT") is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with
certain allowable deductions.

11. 58t

BEENERAFRREBEE M
SHERFOEFHZ I R 165%( 2=
ZF 165%) EHEE - Efbitn[R
ZERBEN MECEAEEE
BEBMERR BlAERMIETT
TERHE - P IBER ([T i
WER ) BEIRABPBIAER
SERETEGR EE R AR o LHbIB(E
RERIGEN REF RN EE
WA T AIHIRIER °

2023 2022
—E2-= —=ET-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current = Hong Kong IHR - B/
Charge for the year REEXZ M 547 2,155
Current — Mainland China ARER - R
Charge for the year REELZH 26,823 95,858
LAT T IBET 8,464 28,863
Current — other jurisdiction ARHY - B a) A
Charge for the year AEEZ W 282 377
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHRERE (17,524) (15,686)
Deferred taxation (note 32) IRFER IR (MI5E32) (33,875) (71,048)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year RFEEBERT L (ER) (15,283) 40,519
R EEEZERARAR
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11. Income Tax (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory/applicable rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax
rates is as follows:

11. 5B

RIBEA N &) R E KB B A BT
R AR AAE BREREGE
BREAIEEEANTES N (K
%) BB EERB R ENT AR
SR

2023 2022
—E-= =T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Loss before tax BRE% AT E 1B (11,936) (47,304)
Tax at the statutory/applicable tax rates of different IR TREIER,BlAERE 2
countries/jurisdictions EE/BAREGE 2 HIE (2,861) (5382)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous LB 2 BNER R BB
periods 2R (17,524) (15,686)
Profits and losses attributable to associates Bk & A B AL 2R FI &5 18 (486) (259)
Income not subject to tax BARBA (4,400) (17,069)
Expenses not deductible for tax AAHF A = 7,714 16,084
Tax losses utilised from previous periods E AR R BIREE (9,693) (3,089)
Tax losses not recognised RERMIBERE 11,798 50,103
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences EABTARER AN
previously not recognised BRERE (7,942) (6,148)
Deductible temporary differences not recognised RIERZ B R =R 1,793 458
Effect of tax concession MFERTE (30) (140)
LAT provided T I (E T 8,464 28,363
Tax effect on LAT THIRERMR B E (2,116) (7,216)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's effective rate UREBBEMETE 2
BEZH, (HER) (15,283) 40,519

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the weighted average applicable tax rate
was 24.0% (2022: 11.4%). The change in the weighted average applicable rate
was resulted from changes in the profitability of the Group in the respective
jurisdictions.

12. Dividends

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any dividends in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

168 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

BE-_Z-_=—F=-A=+—HIF
E - MEFERRER24.0%(=
T AR 114%) o T E A
REMEE RN AL B IR A
AR M BRI D IR E) -

12. A

EFe sz T ==
A=+—BItFERMTMEE
(ZE=—F )



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

13. Loss Per Share Attributable to Ordinary Equity

Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2023
is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the parent, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount presented
for the year ended 31 March 2023 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
outstanding share options issued by CAP had no dilutive effect on the basic
loss per share amount presented.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount presented
for the year ended 31 March 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
outstanding share options and convertible notes issued by CAP either had
no dilutive effect or an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount
presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based on:

Loss B8
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, used in the basic and diluted loss per share

calculation

FEIE 1R

13.

RN ESRERREEER
ZRRREBESRAA
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BawmEsER A A
JE A 5 ot s 488

BE-_Z-_=—F=-A=-+—HI#F
EHERERNEBIRES QR
BABERFEEBERRNFED S
TERBINEFSEGTE -

R B REMBITHERITER
Pt 2 51 ) AR 2 A B 1R R 4
BRR BUBHBE_T_=F
ZAZT-HLEFERINEERE
AEBRERIFHEEAE -

RN B REMBITHERITER
Pt e R AR R B P 2 3 2 TR
EXBRHMBERETIRIAARE
BRR BUEBHBE—T_——

ZA=T-HLEFERINTEE
AERERIFLEEAE -

BREAMBEEERZFAETIR
&

2023

—E=-=

2022
—E-
HKS$'000
FETT

HK$’000
TR

(20,515) (108,912)

Number of shares

R BE

2023

—E-=

gy

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in - Fi A FT & S A E AN [ #58 F548

2 EBBAET S

the basic and diluted loss per share calculation

1,216,212,751 1,231,642,888

T E BRI AR AR
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

170

14. W3k ~ Wb Bk ffi

Ouned assets Right-of-use assets
fignaE ERgEE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold  Plantand  andoffice Motor ~ Computer Leasehold
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment  vehicles  equipment Total land  Buildings Total Total
FAR
By HERE BEREE BIERE hE  EERE Bt EELH g fif a3t
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HK$000
TRn  TEn  TEn  TEn 0 TR TEn 0 TEr  TEn 0 TR TEn THR
31 March 203 Y e
At Aprl 022 HZBZZERA-R:
(ost ik B W/ BIN T65M 6676 30028 100922 27791 183308 411099 1420371
Aumuated depreciionandimpaiment ESHTERE (18149 (18809 (47885  (39928)  (2423) (@75 (309069 (52749) (10153  (154902)  (463971)
Net carying amount BESE S 15582 50487 36586 4253 8153 00203 50 81155 286197 956400
At Apr 0 netof accumulted depreciaion W=E-—EMA-H-
andimpaiment MRETERRE S50 1558 50487 36586 4253 8153 700203 1502 8IS 286197 956,400
Addiions & 1,081 389 4300 18531 1602 W2 N8 S M 6a 9160
Depreciaon povided during the ez ERiEAE M%) (676 (O458) (648 (1099 (2706 (54609 (11958 (648  (38440)  (113049)
Impaiment net HE5E (7,041) (109) : (16) - (172)  (sel B3 (5769 (1294)
Disposewien-off il 2 4 (1,069) (399) (638) (138) () (22 S s sy (633)
Lease modification/evision f alase tem REsH/RBpT = - - - - - - (12262 (2262 (12.260)
Trandferfom miestment propertes RENZER 697 ® 607 8988 - onm w0
Transfer to asets classfed as held for sale EEERRAEESE (668) = (668)  (24408) - (u408)  (2507)
Bichange edignment EiE (5,082 (m) (2,708) (249) (336 OM5) o) I8 @) (1338
4131 Match 2003, netof accumulaed WoE-ZE=f=t-R
depteciaton and ipaiment MREHTERRE S 14T 4539 9107 4370 7491 65846 23880 7843 30313 961159
A3 March 2003 e Sl o -
Cost ik 60613 894 10672 T8I 5699 948 100125 278316 18073 459380 1460684
Acumuated deprecitionandimpaiment. ZFEREE (144991) (757 (57343 (9037)  (1329)  (21992)  (B4M9)  (54436)  (102640)  (17.076)  (499,529)
Net caing amourt BusE L2 1A 839 3910 4310 TA 6SBA4 223800 B4 30313 91159
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
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14. M3 ~ B Bk

Buldings

31 Match 2002 ETCEZRT-A
A Aprl 2001 R-ZZ-§RA-B:

Cost ik 69841 Bet5 976% 64204 37 B WS 06 TS A 14160

Acaumuted depreciionandimpaiment BSHTERAE 5039 G800 R (359 1% (7819 07 UBMY(SO8B)  (9%0B) (698

Net carying amount EE% 583372 21065 5896 3607 531 10455 718802 17834 89 93 %1775
At Apr 01 netof accumubted depreciaion =E-—-FMA-H-

andimpaiment MREHTERAE 58330 28065 %% 0 536! 045 788D 1BIM @y W3 SIS
Addiions HE 125 3764 0 17666 6l 18 180% - nw nw %3
Depreciaon povided during the ez ERiENE (2B Y 0B (1158 (1391 BN (6100 6379 @ay eI (o
Reversalof mpaiment/(mpaiment) REED/(5E) 00% (1266 - 174 - o8 W (4 ) 63%
Diposaluten-off e /#i - %) (17) (5261) ] {0 739 - - - 1239
Lease modiication/revison of alase tem BEbY/ B - - - - - - - - (vl (vl (B
Bxchange reaignment EiZE 7% ) - 137 155 38 5008 118 0% 205 7059
4131 Match 2002, netofaccumulaed i o

Gepreciation and impaiment MRETERRE 545142 150 047 %5% 425 813 I 150 15 BT %564
A3 March 2002 e S o

Cost ik Jehe] %3] %37 T8514 6676 N8 M Wl I 4w 1403

Aaumuated depreciionandimpaiment BSHTERAE R T T O 1] e T IO 11 TN 111/ I <L
Netcaing amourt KH5E 585142 155 5047 %5% i 813 I3 504 RS T 3 (/A |
Pledge of assets EEEHR
At 31 March 2023, certain of the Group’s owned buildings with an aggregate RZEZ=F=A=+—H &%

carrying amount of HK$201,362,000 (2022: HK$168,799,000), leasehold land,
which is included in right-of-use assets, with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$211,412,000 (2022: HK$134,846,000) and furniture and equipment of
HK$2,463,000 (2022: HK$3,340,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 31).

Impairment and reversal of impairment

As at 31 March 2023, as mentioned in note 3 to the financial statements, there
were external sources of information and evidence available from internal
reporting indicating that the economic performance of some assets or
CGUs are better than expected while some CGUs continue to underperform.
Accordingly, impairment tests of the property, plant and equipment or related
CGUs have been performed. For the purpose of impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment, each individual retail store or manufacturing
plant is identified as a separate CGU.

B IR 48 {E201,362,0008 T(—ZZ —
Z4F 1 168,799,000 T) v & T B
FEF RRMmAR[E211,412,000 7T
(ZZT = =% : 134,846,000/8 7T) 5
)\ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ?@"ﬂﬁimu&%m
52,463,000 L (Z T ==
3,340,0003%75) B ARG %%Ni
B —MRIBITEEELER T
31) °

Il B8 % 3 L 43 1
RZTZ-_=F=ZA=+—8  wH
TR M3 - RSN E #Y
KREEABHREEBERTETE
EFRTEABVHNKERRKE
Hif - ARETRSELZFEMLMNR
BBERE  HEHYE  BERR
HBABERREELELETRER
o LR - BB MR 2 RIERT
EmsE  SETEELEERED
WEEERBIY RS ELE -

RTEEEERERA

s b A
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14.

172

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Included in Chinese Pharmaceutical Segment

For the year ended 31 March 2023, as a result of the impairment assessment,
impairment losses of HK$109,000, HK$16,000 and HK$6,641,000 were
recognised based on value in use in respect of the leasehold improvements,
furniture and fixtures and buildings included in right-of-use assets,
respectively (2022: impairment losses of HK$ 1,796,000, HK$ 174,000, HK$71,000
and HK$14,224,000 were recognised based on value in use in respect of the
leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and office equipment, computer
equipment and buildings included in right-of-use assets, respectively), of
certain leased retail stores which continued to underperform during the
year ended 31 March 2023 and were therefore partially impaired (2022: fully
impaired). As at 31 March 2023, the aggregated recoverable amount of the
assets of these retail stores for which impairment losses have been recognised
during the year was HK$6,663,000 (2022: Nil). In addition, a reversal of
impairment of HK$3,438,000 was recognised based on value in use in respect
of the buildings included in right-of-use assets of certain leased retail stores
which performed better than expected during the year ended 31 March 2023.
As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate recoverable amount of these retail stores
was HK$3,438,000. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections for
the above impairment assessments was 12% (2022: 12%).

Included in the property investment segment

For the year ended 31 March 2023, as a result of the impairment assessment,
impairment losses of HK$7,047,000 and HK$2,815,000 (2022: impairment
losses of HK$3,430,000 and reversal of impairment losses of HK$1,695,000)
were recognised based on fair value less costs of disposal in respect of
the owned buildings and leasehold land of certain retail stores due to the
decrease (2022: decrease/increase) in the respective recoverable amount of
those retail stores for the year ended 31 March 2023. As at 31 March 2023, the
aggregate recoverable amount of these assets was HK$239,900,000 (2022:
HK$193,400,000) which was determined based on the fair value less costs of
disposal under direct comparison approach determined by an independent
professional qualified valuer, which took into account current prices of
properties of similar locations and conditions and other unobservable inputs,
and accordingly the fair value measurement was categorised within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.
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FTARESE
BHE-_Z-_=ZF=-A=+—HL
FE - ARETRET® - W2
BESE-_S-_=—#=-A=+—
AEFERABERENE TH
ETEERHCHEERE  BRAK
FFAFREEENEFFEREER
7 BIFE SRR B &5 18109,000/8 7T
16,0007 7T }.6,641,000/8 L (Z T =
—F  BERBEHEERE - KL
NEHRM - BIMBRE ARG ALR
BEENEFETREES JIER
JRBEET181,796,00078 7T 174,000
JC ~ 71,0007 7T §2.14,224,000/8 7T)
iE%“ﬁﬁtﬁ::E:%E
WE)  RZEZ=F=A=*+—
SR iwaﬁwﬂﬁEEmM%;
EEREENTRESEST A
6,663,000/ T (== ::“fF -ﬂﬁ)o
toh - BRBEEE T -_=F=A
T+ —HALEFERRENTEEN
ETHEZEEWHTACRESR
EZEFFRAEERRBERD
3,438,000 - RZE-_=F=H
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#B%A 543,438,000/ 7T ° FLUA FIRE
éWEZIEﬁ/mE?E EUﬂﬁﬁZﬁfﬁt
BB ZTEZZF 12%) o

SAMERED

HE-_Z-_ZFZA=+—HIHF
B BARBESH  EREBEAFE
EBERETZEEEHZEAETFR
HETHHEEX T ERBES
187,047,0005% 7T }.2,815,0005 7T (=
T T F{EEE3,430,00008 7T
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—HIEFE  ZETE/EHNEE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 14.

Manufacturing plants

In addition, for the year ended 31 March 2023, reversal of impairment losses of
HK$249,000 were recognised in respect of the leasehold land (2022: reversal
of impairment losses of HK$23,516,000, HK$530,000 and HK$349,000 were
recognised in respect of the owned buildings, leasehold improvements
and leasehold land, respectively) of the Group’s manufacturing plants due
to the increase in the recoverable amounts, of which HK$166,000 (2022:
HK$16,169,000) belongs to the Chinese Pharmaceutical Segment, and
HK$83,000 (2022: HK$8,226,000) belongs to the Western Pharmaceutical
Segment. As at 31 March 2023, the aggregated recoverable amount of
the Group's manufacturing plants for which impairment losses have been
reversed during the year was HK$374,000,000 (2022: HK$376,000,000). The
recoverable amount was determined based on the fair value less costs of
disposal under depreciated replacement cost approach determined by an
independent professional qualified valuer which took into account current
prices of properties of similar locations and conditions and other unobservable
inputs, and accordingly the fair value measurement was categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key input to the
valuation of property, plant and equipment:

St B ¥ R W BE ()
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Y & L)

*ERE

o BE-—E-_=F=H=+—
AILFE - AR Al EezEE P
m ERAsELEERE2HEEL
i T SRRk (B /B 18 48 121 249,000/ 7T
(ZBE——F pafAEgF HE
S RAE L5 BB E R
B [5123,516,0007 7T * 530,000/7%
JT K%.349,000/8 7T) © EH166,000/8
T(ZEZZF 16,169,000/ 7T) B
AR SR K 83,0008 T(ZE - =
F 1 8,226,000/ L) BIATEEE D B o
R-EBE-_=F=A=+—8 " 1k
[l 42 %A374,000,0008 T (=T ==
F © 376,000,000/ 70) BANE B F A
EREERERRLRZRERE - 1
U B & BT R A FERH Sk A
AR — BB UEXEAERGEME
EZEEBRAE  WEEELE
PRI E RARRZ MEZ ERER R
Hip Nl R ABURETE - Bt
AT EFAEFRBARAFEBRHNEZ

TERBAYE - BB LR EEHER
REZEETEAREZHABE

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input
fR{E R & BEATAEHENASE
Commercial properties Direct comparison Price per square foot
method
[EhEZES BELBUA BFHRESE
Manufacturing plants Depreciated replacement Construction cost per
cost method square metre
HERE FTEEERNE TR KEBERAN

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in isolation would
result in a significantly higher/(lower) recoverable amount of the property,
plant and equipment. A significant increase/(decrease) in the construction
cost per square metre in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower)
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment.

Range
&=
2023

—s—-=
HK$8,000 to HK$9,000 to
HK$128,000 HK$137,000
8,000/& T & 9,000 L&
128,0007% JT 137,000/ 7T

HK$30,585 HK$28,329

30,5858 JT 28,3297 7T

FFHREREBAE LA (T
BB EHME - BB KRB
EEEAEEMORD) - BFT7
KIBERABEBAIE L7 (FRE)
BEHRYWE - BEMRETRE S
FARIEIE M, ORD)

R SEEERERAT
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15. {EWE

15. Investment Properties

174

2023 2022
—g== —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYEREE 3,562,503 3,507,623
Additions during the year FRARE 20,387 51,558
Transfer to properties under development EE SRRy - (3,205)
Transfer to owner-occupied property (note 14) s QR4 (90,549) -
Disposals during the year FALE (20,853) (35,802)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37) & — R B A A (M5E37) (48,800) -
Accrued rent-free rental income FEEremEmEs A (262) (147)
Net losses from fair value adjustments for Tk mENTFERAEZ
owned properties 518558 (14,076) (83,253)
Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments for STAYEAFERARE WS
sub-leased properties (E548) 558 2,237 (3,764)
Exchange realignment ME 5, o B (239,911) 129,493
Carrying amount at end of year FAREEE 3,170,676 3,562,503
Less: Included in assets of a disposal company W RTARERE 2 HERQF
held for sale (note 27) & = (B sE27) (71,000) -
Investment properties as stated in the consolidated A =A=+—HBRE&A
statement of financial position as at 31 March RRE AR BB 3,099,676 3,562,503

The Group's investment properties are commercial and industrial properties
in Hong Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China.
The investment properties were revalued by Asset Appraisal Limited and RHL
Appraisal Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at 31 March
2023, respectively. The finance department of the Group has a team that
reviews the valuation performed by the independent valuers for financial
reporting purposes and reports directly to the senior management of the
Company. Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between
management and the valuers twice a year when the valuation is performed
for interim and annual financial reporting. At the end of each reporting period,
the finance department holds discussion with the independent valuers
to verify major inputs to the independent valuation reports. The finance
department also assesses property valuation movements when comparing to
the prior year valuation reports.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

15. Investment Properties (continued)

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases,
further details of which are included in note 16 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2023, the Group's owned investment properties with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$1,937,181,000 (2022: HK$1,946,740,000) and
certain rental income generated therefrom were pledged to secure the
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 31).

As at 31 March 2023, certain investment properties of the Group situated
in Mainland China, with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$411,849,000
(2022: HK$475,418,000), did not have the property certificates registered
under the names of the respective subsidiaries of the Group. In the opinion
of the Company’s directors, the risk of the Group not being able to obtain the
legal titles for the relevant properties is low and the Group will continue to
complete the ownership registration of the investment properties.

At 31 March 2023, the Group's investment properties included right-
of-use assets with an aggregate carrying value of HK$11,056,000 (2022:
HKS$6,411,000).

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are included on page
247.

Fair value hierarchy

The recurring fair value measurement for all the commercial and industrial
properties and agricultural produce exchange markets of the Group uses
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) and details of their movements are
disclosed below.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).

15.
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15. Investment Properties (continued)

176

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the

fair value hierarchy:

Carrying amount at 1 April 2021

RZZE-—FNA—HZ

Commercial
properties

[EliRZES
HK$'000
TET

15. Bt&EWEmw)

ATEER
SEAATEERE=RHATE
B & 2 8 -

Industrial
property

TRME
HK$'000
TET

Agricultural
produce
exchange
markets
EBEMm
RETH
HK$'000
FHT

Total

#st
HK$000
TR

REE 355,899 82,000 3,009,724 3,507,623
Accrued rent-free rental income EETRAES KA (136) ) - (147)
Additions during the year FARE - - 51,558 51,558
Disposals during the year FAME (20,200) - (15,602) (35,802)
Transfer to properties under EREHRPYE
development - - (3,205) (3,205)
Net gains/(losses) from fair value FrEEMENTERZ
adjustments for owned properties Wi,/ (B18) 58 (37,464) 4,011 (49,800) (83,253)
Net losses from fair value adjustments DT E N FEALZ
for sub-leased properties BEFE - - (3,764) (3.764)
Exchange realignment [ 3 % - - 129,493 129,493
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022and  RZZEZZF=A
1 April 2022 =t+—-BRkZZT-_=F
MA—HZREE 298,099 86,000 3,178,404 3,562,503
Accrued rent-free rental income fEET AR KA (251) (11) - (262)
Additions during the year FHRE - - 20,387 20,387
Disposals during the year FRLE - - (20,853) (20,853)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37) HE B AT
(BI5E37) (48,800) - = (48,800)
Transfer to owner-occupied property S Z B R (HiE14)
(note 14) (90,549) - - (90,549)
Net gains/(losses) from fair value FiEEYMEAFERAREZ
adjustments for owned properties Wi,/ (B18)F8 7,800 (14,989) (6,887) (14,076)
Net gains from fair value adjustments for D ¥ A FEHE 2
sub-leased properties e 58 = = 2,237 2,237
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 5 B - - (239,911) (239,911)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—
AZEHEE 166,299 71,000 2,933,377 3,170,676
Less: Included in assets of a disposal B R ABERE 2 HE
company held for sale (note 27) NAIEE (FT3E27) = (71,000) = (71,000)
Investment properties as stated inthe A=A =+—BRE&E
consolidated statement of financial BBIRRERASIR S
position as at 31 March REME 166,299 = 2,933,377 3,099,676

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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15. Investment Properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation technique

BT %

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

15. Bt&EWEmw)

Significant
unobservable input

EXTAUBRBARE

DFHERER (&)
TRBAMREMEHERRA 2
EEREERABUE :

Commercial properties

[EIEEZES

Industrial property
IEYHE

Agricultural produce exchange
markets

oo o
BEMX TS

Direct comparison
method

BEEEBE

Direct comparison
method

BEEEBE

Direct comparison
method and
investment method

BERLBOERRE R

Price per square foot

FFHREHE

Price per square foot
¥ 5 R\

Price per square foot

BT RER

Estimated rental value
per square foot and

per month
§ AGF R
HeEE

Capitalisation rate

BA{E

As at 31 March 2023, the valuations of investment properties were based on
either the investment method which capitalises the rent receivables from the
existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent of the properties
or the direct comparison method by reference to comparable market
transactions.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in isolation would
result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment properties.
A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value per square
foot in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the capitalisation
rate in isolation would result in a significantly lower/(higher) fair value of the
investment properties.

HK$58,000 to HK$58,000 to
HK$87,000 HK$96,000
58,0007 T & 58,0007 7T &
87,0008 JT 96,0008 7T
HK$3,295 HK$3,992
3,295 T 399278 7T
HK$355 to HK$384 to
HK$360 HK$389
3558 T & 3848 TTE
36058 7T 3897 7T
HK$132 to HK$143 to
HK$1,075 HK$1,131
132 T E 1437808
1,07578 ¢ 1131787T
7% t0 9% 7% to 9%
7%ZE 9% 7%ZE 9%

RZF-_=F=ZA=+—H8 K&
WMETIRBREEBF YRR
THERK 2B NBEEERTS
Tﬂﬁéﬁﬁk)‘}zﬁﬁztt?&(ﬂﬂﬁ%
AALBTISRZ5)ETHE -

BT REREBAE LA (T
f) KB EHITE YR A FEKNEIE
m/ ) - it g RESE
EEBAE LT (T S8 BIR
BEYMERXTFEKREEM CRD) -
BEAReREHKRIE LI (TR
BYREMEATERNERD
Ggm) -

T EEEERER AR
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16. Leases

16. &

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold land, buildings
and equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of
27 to 68 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of
these land leases. Leases of office properties generally have lease terms of
2 to 6 years, while retail shops generally have lease terms between 2 and 4
years. Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/
or is individually of low value. There are several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options and variable lease payments, which are
further discussed below.

(@) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are disclosed in notes 14 and 15 to the
financial statements.

(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other payables
and accruals) and the movements during the year are as follows:

AEEEREBEA
AEBEFAHEEFRAZZERE
T BFREBBZAELALD - &K
EECIRAE— RN A mEE
WREMHHE A7 E68FHHE L1 -
miBEZE L HBE 2GR - §
TEBEELMEMKIE - BAE
XHMEZHHBE R2ZE6F - TE
JEf 2 ABAIRE N F224F - H
b 2 FERERE A1 2B AT
%/ SEREESK - BATRI AR
FTREEMRK I LEREMAEHE
ENFZHEESY  BEFHEE—
Famitan T o

(a) FHEEE
AEBEFRAEEECREE
NFERNEB R BRI T
14154 88 o

(b) HEESE
HMEBEG AEMENFHIE
MEFEABET) ZEEER
FREBNT :

HK$'000
TAT

178

Carrying amount at 1 April 2021 RZE-—FMHHA—BZERAEE 108,643
New leases MR HE 84,195
Accretion of interest recognised during the year FNER 2 REF L 4,838
Payments (BN (69,180)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors HAAPTIRE B A E AR S
RBANESRER (3,860)
Revision of a lease term arising from a change AAENFHBARS B mESE
in the non-cancellable period of a lease Z HHEMEET (1,145)
Lease modification HEEET (1,473)
Exchange realignment VE B 1,034
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—HK
—EC_FHWA-BZEREE 123,052
New leases METHEE 68,135
Accretion of interest recognised during the year FRER 2 RIEFRE 4,423
Payments (BN (62,517)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors HHEAREEFE SRR S
R BRENEEER (774)
Revision of a lease term arising from a change HAEEAF T HBARESmES
in the non-cancellable period of a lease Z HHAERT (10,527)
Other lease modification HmEEERT (2,362)
Exchange realignment kS (1,663)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 RNZEZ=F=RA=+—H2
BREE 117,767

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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16. Leases (continued) 16. & @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEERERAE
(b) Lease liabilities (continued) (b) HELEGE
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other payables HEAEG AEMENFHIE
and accruals) and the movements during the year are as follows: REGAEBRET) 2 REER
(continued) FASHOT : (B)
2023 2022
—E-= —F—_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT T
Analysed into: DR
Current portion ENER D 52,162 50,883
Non-current portion SEmBE D 65,605 72,169
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HZEHEE 117,767 123,052
Analysed into: DA
Lease liabilities repayable: ENHEEAE -
Within one year —FR 52,162 50,883
In the second year F_F 34,228 36,036
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-ERF(PREEEM
F) 26,158 32,164
Beyond five years HELA 5,219 3,969
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HZEAE 117,767 123,052
The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities is disclosed in ATREEEBEZ AR STRE
note 46 to the financial statements. TSR M T 46458 -

7 B ANARA T
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16. ML @)

16. Leases (continued)

180

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEERERAE
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as (0 REZBHRAZHEHBEE
follows: LU
2023 2022
—EgE-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEZFE 4,423 4838
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRABEEITERS 58,440 46,797
Expense relating to short-term leases ELES ERTR E MRS 2
(included in selling and distribution GrABE DAY
expenses) 5,988 3,487
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets ~ EMEEEEEMERB M
(included in administrative expenses) GTATTBHS) 1,075 897
Variable lease payments not included Rt AHEEEFECE
in the measurement of lease liabilities HER
(included in selling and distribution GFABE DAY
expenses) 8,558 8,014
COVID-19-related rent concessions from HAAAPTREEIR R E AR S
lessors R BERENEERER (774) (3,860)
Gain on modification/termination of lease BT/ RIEFEE Nz M
contracts (627) (491)
Impairment of right-of-use assets FRAREERE 5,769 12,180
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIERER B3R 82,852 71,862
(d) Extension and termination options (d) FEHERALLERER
The Group has leases with remaining lease terms ranging from less REBFBERBKERNF L5
than 1 year to 15 years (2022: 1 year to 16 years). The leases containing BISF(ZTZZF 1 1FE16%F)
extension and termination options are managed locally and vary in ZHE  BEBARKIEREREY
terms. The Group has included extension or termination options in the AEXRE A TRMEEIR MERE
measurement of the lease obligations when it is reasonably certain to FITE - EAREENFHG R BEE
exercise the options at the commencement date. WEITHEENR R EEER - 18
BRI B ABHERERE -
(e) Variable lease payments (e) HEHEEMNR
The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain variable lease AEBEELHETEEH  ERE
payment terms that are based on the Group's turnover generated ERBAEETEEEEEHE
from the retail shops. There are also minimum annual base rental Z A ENRIGR - ZEHETR
arrangements for these leases. The amounts of the fixed and variable RIEREFEERHE ST - KF
lease payments recognised in profit or loss for the current year for these ERZEHERBERBERZEE R
leases are HK$26,851,000 and HK$8,558,000 (2022: HK$27,942,000 and AR EEN KD B /26,851,000
HK$8,014,000), respectively. 7T 58,558,000 0 (=& = — 4 :
27,942,00078 7T 128,014,000 7T) °
() The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 38(c) to the  FEEZRESRLDEBEATEHRERN

financial statements.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

16. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

(i

(ii)

Operating leases

The Group leases and sub-leases its properties consisting of 4 (2022:
5) commercial properties, 1 (2022: 1) industrial property in Hong Kong
and 11 (2022: 11) agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases
generally require the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was HK$230,295,000 (2022:
HK$255,887,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivables by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

16. ML @)

AEEEREBEA

(i)

ReEHE
AEBBEBELEETHEREEN
MEHEME B8
FE4E(ZE - —4F : 51
REBZEBEMERIA(Z
TOF 1H)TEDE
ARITE(ZZE =% : 11
BINRF RN BE S
RPmMG - ZSEHE 2R
BEZRAFPIMRES -
AEBFRERZEBS WA
#5230,295,0008 T(ZE ==
£ : 255,887,00087T) * B
BRI IS REIFES -

RZE-_=ZFZA=+—
B AEEREEBFSETL
ZAT I ERERN KK
HARE 2 R AR T IR A E 3
W

2023 2022
—E-= g

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —FA 182,392 222,531
After one year but within two years —FREMRFNR 60,695 83,937
After two years but within three years MEREBE=FA 10,761 23,597
After three years but within four years —FREEFN 3,662 9,632
After four years but within five years NEBRERFA 2,989 5116
After five years HF% 5,038 12,762
265,537 357,575

Finance leases (i) mMEHE

The Group sub-leased office premises to its fellow subsidiaries
and 7 (2022: 4) retail shops to its franchisees under finance lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from less than
1 year to 3 years (2022: 3 years). The terms of the leases require the
tenants to pay security deposits.

AEBRERERSRHR
HERMBATSENHAY
(¥kmmEmosf/EMCEE
ZZF 4ETEEH B
ERABNFLMIFREIF(Z
T 1 3F) c HEKK
TP IHRES -

T E BRI AR AR

—zo—sey 181
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16. Leases (continued) 16. & @)
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEBEEREHBAAGE
(i)  Finance leases (continued) (ii) Eﬂﬁ*ﬂﬁ(ﬁ)
The carrying amounts of net investments in subleases and the DEREFBEREENRSF
movements during the year are as follows: WEEIT
HK$'000
FAT

Carrying amount at 1 April 2021 R-E-—FMNA—BZEAE 13,348
Additions arising from new leases AT HEMRE 11,381
Accretion of finance income recognised during the year i NHER 2 2IZEFEUA 555
Proceeds from subleases DTS RIA (10,599)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 BA_giiﬁ A 7‘1‘ A

RmEE 14,685
Additions arising from new leases HFEIHEMARE 3,755
Accretion of finance income recognised during the year  FRTERR 2 2 EFFURA 368
Proceeds from subleases DIFTERIA (6,297)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 WZZE-_=ZFZA=1+—HZ

FRE(E 12,511

2023 2022
—=== —=F-—
HK$'000 HKS1000
FET FAT
Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENER 5,205 5,592
Non-current portion ERBE S 7,306 9,093

Carrying amount at 31 March RZA=+—HZEAE 12,511 14,685

182 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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16. Leases (continued) 16. & @)
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEBEEREHBAAGE
(i)  Finance leases (continued) (i) WMEHREGE
At 31 March 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—
Group in future periods under non-cancellable finance leases with its B AEBEREBEEMEPETZ
tenants are as follows: Z AR HSEREHER KRR
B 2 FEUKR TR A EN R
LU
2023 2022
—F== —F—_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —FR 5,497 5,880
After one year but within two years —FREMRFR 2,501 3426
After two years but within three years MEREBE=FA = 958
7,998 10,264
In addition to the above, the annual contingent rental is calculated on a Br EatESN - FENARSIRIER
percentage of the turnover of the store. EEBIBOEHE -
17. Investments in Associates 17. RBE AW ZHRE
2023 2022
—F== —ZF—_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of investments in associates: B E AT 2 IRERK
Unlisted shares, at cost LT - =AU 4,331 4,331
Less: Impairment losses recognised B DERBEBE (831) (831)
3,500 3,500
Share of post-acquisition profits, net of FE(RILEE R ST - bk
dividends received 2 HEAR B 1,000 304
4,500 3,804
The Group's trade receivable balances with the associates are disclosed in REESEEE N R 28 S ENHIA
note 22 to the financial statements. ERR IS MR 202 EE -

7 B ANARA T
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17. Investments in Associates (continued)

18.

184

The following table illustrates the aggregate summarised financial information
of the Group's associates that are not individually material:

17. RBEE AV Z HBE @)

TRSAAE BB 2 AR ERI T E
AOESTBERES
2023
—E-=
HK$'000
FET
2,946 1,572
2,946 1,572
2,250 600
4,500 3,804

Share of the associates’ profits and losses for the year  FE{f B & A B A8 25 71| 2
[E518
Share of the associates' total comprehensive income  FE{R B2 A Bl 2 E NS 4258
Dividend received B E
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBERBERAIZREZ
investments in associates BEREE

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income

18. ¥ - #8 1 fth 4 Ty U
AR 2 &l

2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET FET
Listed equity investments, at fairvalue ~ ETMARMEIRE - L AFE (), (D), i) 143,649 147,126
Listed debt investments, at fair value FTEKIEE  BAFE ), i) (v), V) 50,056 19,839
193,705 166,965
Portion classified as current assets PEARBEELSY (813) (19,839)
Non-current portion FEmENE S 192,892 147,126
Notes: Btz -
(i) The above equity investments are investments in companies listed on the 0] LR EAEBRA ETA

Stock Exchange and were irrevocably designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the Group considers these investments to be strategic
in nature.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group received dividends in the
amount of HK$928,000 (2022: HKS$5,531,000) from the equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and recognised
them in profit or loss.

The Group's listed equity investments consist of investment in Wang On of
HK$89,271,000 (2022: HK$120,172,000). The remaining are shares of certain
companies listed in Hong Kong. The fair value of each of these companies
represent less than 1% of the net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and
2022.

Assuming the portfolio of the Group's listed equity investments and listed debt
investments remained unchanged, the market values of the Group's listed
equity investments and listed debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income at the date of approval of these financial statements
were HK$123,283,000 and HK$46,686,000, respectively.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

18. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iif)

At 31 March 2023, certain of the Group’s equity investments and debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income of HK$76,867,000
(2022: HK$54,081,000) and HK$50,056,000 (2022: HK$19,839,000), respectively,
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
31).

Impairment assessment of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

As at 31 March 2023, except for a defaulted listed debt investment of
HK$813,000 which was categorised within Stage 3 (2022: a defaulted listed debt
investment of HK$1,825,000 which was categorised within Stage 3 and a listed
debt investment of HK$2,649,000 which was categorised within Stage 2), none
of the listed debt investments were overdue and all of them were categorised
within Stage 1 for the assessment of expected credit losses.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering
the expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of
default approach with reference to risk of default and loss given default of the
issuers or comparable companies. As at 31 March 2023, the probability of default
applied ranged from 0.1% to 100% (2022: 2.8% to 100%) and the loss given
default ranged from 53.7% to 80.8% (2022: 63.0% to 92.4%).

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income are as follows:

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

18. 8 4 P 258 3L fth 4 v Wi
fix A\ MR 2 < il ¥ R (a0)

FifsE - ()

iy M-E_=ZF=ZA=+—H0 &
SEERE TRATELHMLS
A AR 2 RERE R EBE
&5 576,867,000 L (=T ==
£ : 54,081,000/ 7T) 50,056,000
BT (ZZE 4 : 19,839,000
T0) MBS FAEEZ —#%
RITEE (FEE31) -

vy BAFELEGEZERSEARZ
EBRE 2 BER G

RZZ-_=ZF=ZA=+—H K
EHFTEKIRES3,00008 7T
NERE-RBR(ZTEZZF :
B EMEBKIRE,8250008 7T
DEAF=MRER ETEBKIRE
2,649,000 LR B AEE —EE)
Sh o Efb ETEKRERER
B BXEHEERENTGM
T OBEZSEBERENSER

=
B—EE o

REHZREHHEBEFBHEE
BIEETRES T - MEHEE
BEYEBEAEOMEETZR
ZEABRBINEIT A AT ELLE
NEENFHEBEBRETEE - ©
“TE-=F=ZRA=+—08 &%
RN TF01%E100%(—F ==
F 1 28%ZE100%) @ BAIEEN
F53.7%E80.8% (=T = —4F :
63.0%Z92.4%) ©

BAFELEMEERSEARZ

T
2023 2022
—E-= —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At beginning of year REH 14,235 10,021
Assets derecognised WILHERZBE (11,497) (699)
Impairment losses, net (note 7) EEE - FREEY)
Changes in risk parameters R 2B EH 6,859 4913
New investments purchased BEIRA 1 -
6,860 4913
Atend of year RER 9,598 14,235

BB ERAT
—z-—zry 185



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Ik i 2% B S oap)

31 March2023 —Z2 - =9¢=H=+—H

18. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v) In July 2022, one of the issuers of the listed debt investments held by the Group
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$14,323,000 had successfully extended
the maturity date of the issued bond from 12 August 2022 to 12 April 2024 and
reduced the annualized coupon rates from 11.5% to 9.0%. As a result, the Group
recognised a loss on modification of debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income of HK$867,000 in profit or loss.

19. Properties Under Development

18. A FERH

s 4 1 U
fix A\ MR 2 < il ¥ R (a0)

M (8

v) RZE-_—Ft+H AEEEFEHE
BRTH 4218 514,323,000/8 7T 2 £
BERIRE 2 EP —REIT AR
BEETESFISHER =2 ==
F)\A +_E|LE1_7_E¢
MA+=—8  ¥HFIEmH=x
H11.5% N#ZE9.0% ° FIt - &K
EEPNBRERIEANFEFAR
2wz EHIREEREE
867,000 7T °

19. R Y%k

2023

—Eq-=

HK$000 HK$'000
TR TAT

EEER 2 BERTYE -

Properties under development expected
to be completed:

Within the normal operating cycle included under R IEH @A EIRN
current assets HERBIEE

192,950 189,944

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2023, a write-down of properties under development
of HK$4,600,000 (2022: Nil) was charged to profit or loss, which was related to an
agricultural produce exchange market in Mainland China with aggregate carrying value
of HK$148,370,000 (2022: Nil) as at 31 March 2023.

Properties under development expected to be completed within the normal
operating cycle and recovered:

HEAE

HE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—HULFE"
EEBSMBRZERE D YENRA
4,600,000 TT(ZFZZ4F : &) »
AR —_Z-_=ZF=A=+—Hzk
4818 514837000056 TL(Z T - —4F ©
w2 ABRERMRIMSER -

BHIRERSEBHAER K E
ZEBERBYE

2023 2022

—E-= B F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Within one year —FR 13,715 17,816
After one year —Fi& 179,235 172,128
192,950 189,944
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20. Properties Held for Sale 20. #HF1EH W

2023 2022

—EBE-=F —E - F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HZEAE 1,234,419 1,490,847

Notes: Bt -

@) At 31 March 2023, the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate (i) RZEZ=F=ZA=+—H &K
carrying value of HK$477,876,000 (2022: HK$501,572,000) were pledged to S EIERRE 418 5477,876,000
secure the Group's general banking facilities (note 31). BIL(ZZE = 4 : 501,572,000

T ZFEHEME - LEUSE
FAREE 2 —RIRITEE (M=

31) e
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2023, a write-down of properties held for sale (if) HE-_ZT-_=F=-A=+—H
of HK$6,400,000 (2022: Nil) was charged to profit or loss, which was related to FE - HEHEDEMA
two agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China with aggregate 6,400,000 TT(ZF = — 4 : &)
carrying value of HK$261,261,000 (2022: Nil) as at 31 March 2023. RIBRNBR - HREAR =T

TZE-A=t+—HZzEERE
£5261,261,0008 T(ZF = —4F :
EINMERERRIMHE

o
(i) Further particulars of the Group’s properties held for sale are included on page (i)  ANEERBEHEWEZE—PBF
247. TEERANEE 2478 ©
21. Inventories 21. # 8
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —E -
HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#&T T
Raw materials and consumables K 2B 2 fh 68,603 69,443
Work in progress F BN 10,383 4612
Finished goods RIFK oh 130,246 114,124
209,232 188,179

7 B ANARA T
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22. Trade Receivables

22. ¥ 5 MWk IH

2023 2022

—E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Trade receivables B 5 WA 91,062 79,515
Less: Accumulated impairment B BEDRE (23,034) (16,169)
68,028 63,346

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit
period ranges from 7 to 120 days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit and the credit limit is reviewed regularly. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to
a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due from the Group’s
associates of HK$5,908,000 (2022: HK$6,828,000) which are repayable on credit
terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the Group.
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AEBBREZFNEZFEREER
ZE - EEBENT7HEI120H - &
BEEHXRBEaEARE mMEH
ERARESTHERN - AEEH
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BlEERBRERE - BHGKES
HEREEETHERN - ZRUE
Frift ke AN EE K E 5 EBGRIE S &
BETRRF  MITEEXEER
Brferh - REEWELE S UK
HEHFHEAEFRSEMEE
- EHEBFIBELAEE -

REEE FEWRGIES B IEERA
& B 1 & A | 2 FRIE 5,908,000 7T
(ZZ = —% :6,82800087T) + &
ERBRATAEBETEZRFESR
NEBEEREE -



22. Trade Receivables (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

22. B 5 BE Wk TE ()

I RUHERBERRBIEER
B R B R B AR Z R T

N
2023 2022
—_E_= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FETT
Within 1 month KEREI N 29,244 36,209
1to 3 months 12318 A 19,259 7172
3 to 6 months 3Z26(E A 12,864 8,267
Over 6 months HBiEefE A 6,661 11,698
68,028 63,346

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are

B RUGRIA B ERBRREE

as follows: IR

2023 2022

—ZE-= —E - F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FATT

At beginning of year REA) 16,169 18242
Impairment losses, net RIEBE - 35 7,983 5,381
Exchange realignment Gk (1,118) 547
Amount written off as uncollectible Bl sE 2 AN B 5RIE - (8,001)
Atend of year RER 23,034 16,169

RERE ARG RABEREETT
WMEDHT - AFFERBEEEE -
BEXRDLERARAABLUERR

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision
matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e, by geographical region, product type, customer type and rating). AL EAZF o Ef#ErTH 4 mme
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of MEHEERERE - ER
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the A RPAARTR) - %8
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future RS AENELER - EERER
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due RREEBA SN ERBESEMT -
for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity. B AR S R RS B AR TR &
BRAEER - —KifE - e
BR—F R EAIREINITIES
A HH 2 2 FEULEUE -

RITTEBEFEITR AR R
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22. Trade Receivables (continued) 22. B 5 BE Wk TH ()
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's TR AEEF BEFEERS D
trade receivables using a provision matrix: e ZENZENEZEERRER -
As at 31 March 2023 R=-B=-==ZHA=+-—H
Past due
B
Within 1 1to3 3to6 Over 6
Current month months months months Total
e 1EAUR  1ZE3fEA 3Z6fHA BiB6MEA “st
Expected creditlossrate  TEHIEEEIER 0% 0% 2% 5% 84% 25%
Gross carrying amount  #BERTEI{E
(HK$'000) (FHT) 50,210 7,478 4,905 1,436 27,033 91,062
Expected credit losses BEEEBE
(HK$'000) (FHT) 116 37 74 76 22,731 23,034
As at 31 March 2022 R-TE-_—F=A=+—H

Past due
Within 1 1to3 3t06 Over 6
Current month months months months

BIH AR 1Z=318 A 3Z6MAA  HiBofEA

Expected creditlossrate~ TEHAE EEIER 2% 4% 4% 6% 65% 20%
Gross carrying amount  #BBRTEI{E
(HK$'000) (F#&m) 42339 5,551 4,900 3,776 22,949 79,515
Expected credit losses BEEEEE
(HK$'000) (F#&m) 703 197 211 239 14,819 16,169
23. Loans and Interest Receivables 23. MW KA S
2023 2022
—E-=
HKS$'000 HKS'000
FHBxT FAETT
Loans receivables UL E X M, (i) 50,519 56,616
Interest receivables FEULF B 21,025 19,365
71,544 76,481
Less: Impairment allowance R R E R (iii) (43,586) (45,613)
27,958 30,868
Less: Portion classified as non-current B D BEAERSEEY
assets (17,209) (13,340)
Portion classified as current assets NEARBEELSD 10,749 17,528
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

23. Loans and Interest Receivables

Notes:

0]

(iif)

As at 31 March 2023, these loans receivables were stated at amortised cost at
effective interest rates ranging from 1% to 12% (2022: 1% to 12%) per annum.
The credit terms of these loans receivables range from 1 year to 6 years (2022: 1
year to 6 years).

As at 31 March 2023, except for loans receivables of HK$17,209,000 (2022:
HK$13,340,000) with maturity over one year, the remaining loans receivables are
either overdue or with maturity within one year, and they have been classified as
current assets accordingly.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loans and interest
receivables are as follows:

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

JRE WAL B sk % ) B, ()

GEE

() WRZZE-=FZA=+—H &
LRI E RIZH SR AT IR
%ﬁﬂ%ﬂ%z@z@(:%::
FENRE) c ZERKERZ
FEEHN T —FE2RF(ZE=
L —FERE) o

ﬂﬂﬁl}

iy WMZE—_=F=-A=+—H" %
JEUE F017,209,0008 (=& —
Z4F 113,340,000 T0) A — F 1
FIERSN - AR EWEFIE A
FR—FREE - ZEHEAER
BEE -

(iii) réﬂ&z% KN F BB R B B
FEnT

pLipk] 2022

—EC= —E__F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FExT FHET

At beginning of year REH 45,613 44,837
Impairment losses, net SEESTE - JFE 1,409 2,550
Exchange realignment M 5, R (3,436) 1876
Amount written off as uncollectible [REiSic e 37U EEeIE - (3,650)
Atend of year RER 43,586 45613

As at 31 March 2023, except for loans and interest receivables with gross
amounts of HK$1,596,000 and HK$55,985,000 (2022: HK$1,922,000 and
HK$58,351,000) for which had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and were categorised within Stage 2 and Stage 3 for the assessment
of expected credit losses, respectively, none of the loans and interest receivables
were overdue and all of them were categorised within Stage 1 for the
measurement of expected credit losses.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering
the expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of
default approach with reference to the risk of default and loss given default of
the borrowers or comparable companies. As at 31 March 2023, the probability
of default applied ranged from 0.5% to 100% (2022: 0.2% to 100%) and the loss
given default ranged from 59.1% to 77.7% (2022: 56.8% to 77.7%).

R-TE-_=F=A=+—H &
#BEH 51,596,000/ 7T 12 55,985,00078
T(ZZE =4 :1,922,0008 7T K&
58,351 ooo/%n)ZJEH&% 2YSEAI=
B VIR AR 2 EER R AR E 1
mEsEBEEBENEMS 25
DERE_RE-FBEIN - EKE
REFMBHEaH  ApBEHER
BENGTEMS @ IEZSREKE
REFBHEDERE—FRER -

REREHHEREERRBEES
BETHRES T MBEBEES
BNHEREREOREREZLLZE
E X R R Wﬁ*h/\i‘}éftt?@
RENRNEBETHE
7f_¢ A=+—8" L’HE}E
‘n’&os%imO%( T

0.2%1100%) EHEENT59.1%
%77.7%(:2::¢ D 56.8%%
77.7%) °
UTEEZEZERERA
il )
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24. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables 24, THAFSKIH ~ $28 R HAb
&
JRE W K JH
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Prepayments TERTRIR 52,281 31,610
Deposits paid for the acquisition of property, WHEYZ -~ B Rk&E 2
plant and equipment BEfi&Re 1,620 3,040
Rental and other deposits HeMEMZES 101,727 114,933
Other receivables H h FE U TR IR 111,501 84,442
Right-of-return assets REEEE 1,666 1,301
Cost of obtaining contracts BSE 49,2 A 8,252 25,524
Total prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FEF % IE R M H e R
B4 277,047 260,850
Less: Impairment allowance VERE /)ﬁﬁ%ﬁ (751) (288)
276,296 260,562
Less: Portion classified as non-current assets B DBERIERBEERNZD (17,070) (16,558)
Portion classified as current assets AERRBEENE S 259,226 244,004
Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid sales commission paid AL KA IS HE W
in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has capitalised the NWENEER: - AEEEE
amounts paid and will charge them to profit or loss as selling and distribution ${|ﬁﬁﬁ§ﬁ$%§j'[ﬁ/‘7l‘ﬁ BYEEE
expenses when the revenue from the related property sale is recognised. B EERFIIEHEE ko H
During the year ended 31 March 2023, sales commission of HK$11,635,000 Eﬂ § BEENER BE_T_=
was charged to profit or loss (2022: HK$30,063,000). FZA=1t—HILFE " %Eﬁﬁ

11,635,000 LB Bk (ZE =
Z4F :30,063,00075 7T) ©

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits, deposits e REMBUFIEEZEESE
with vendors and receivables from counterparties which have no history of  HRTEIZERERKRELBE
default. The financial assets included in the above balances were not overdue UEEﬁZQ%%T?ZﬁW?XIE Bl
and categorised in Stage 1 for the measurement of expected credit losses, MEEER e S EE E I MR

except for the balance of HK$14,385,000 (2022: HK$14,327,000) which was it Eda ié HEEEBEENTEmMES S
categorised within Stage 2 for the measurement of expected credit losses. *E#r%—ﬁébﬁﬁ MERREE 14,385,000
Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date BIL(ZEZ 4 : 14,327,000 7T)
by considering the expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying E‘JE?E,HETDEJESTEE%‘I'EW SRV

the probability of default approach with reference to the risks of default of ZPEE o HERABRT ﬁf%iﬁ
the counterparties. As at 31 March 2023, the probability of default applied & El BEREREREERRE
ranged from 0.5% to 5.2% (2022: 0.2% to 2.0%) and the loss given default was TREDT - MBEEEEIEE
estimated to approximately range from 59.1% to 63.6% (2022: 56.8% to 63.0%). BERBABRZNZ2ERIEF

MENORRETHE - RNZT =
_E A=+— EI'JEﬁHL%WE%
NFO05%ES2%(ZF ==
02%120%)&1$u+5_i’]ﬁ§5%§ %%’7
59.1%Z63.6%(ZF = —4F : 56.8%

Z63.0%) °
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24. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables 24, THAFSKIH ~ $28 R HAb
(continued) JE W K JH ()
The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of financial assets FFATER IR - e R E A EIGK
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows: By oREERBEBEREZSN
T
2023 2022
—E-= o F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE&xT FAT
At beginning of year REH 288 237
Impairment losses, net BEBE - F58 483 31
Exchange realignment ME B (20) 20
Atend of year RER 751 288
25. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or 25. A FHKHEBEARZ
Loss SRbE E
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FAT
Financial assets cRIEE
Unlisted funds, at fair value FETES  BRATE @), (d) 41,638 99,644
Listed equity investments, at fairvalue ~ _EMARIEIRE » I AFE (b) 123 112
Derivative component of unsecured BERER 2ITET RS
notes 30 5,456 9,849
Put options R HAE (e) 232 -
Interest rate swaps HE 1 Y © - 135
47,449 109,740
Less: Portion classified as non-current B DBARERBEED
assets - (135)
Portion classified as current assets NERRBEENRD 47,449 109,605
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25. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss (continued)

194

Notes:

(@)

The above unlisted fund investments were mandatorily classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest.

The unlisted funds with a fair value of HK$41,638,000 (2022: HK$99,644,000) as at
31 March 2023 that are determined based on the quoted market prices provided
by fund administrators with reference to prices derived from the over-the-
counter market, the fair value of the remaining unlisted funds was determined
with reference to valuations performed by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited,
an independent professionally qualified valuer, at 31 March 2023 and 2022,
based on the discounted cash flow model by applying observable inputs
including interest rates and the value of the underlying asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the unlisted fund investments that are
denominated in USD, other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities, amounted to HK$41,638,000 (2022: HK$99,644,000).

The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value
gain or loss through other comprehensive income.

At 31 March 2022, the Group had several interest rate swaps with a notional
amount of HK$50,000,000. The Group pays interest at a fixed rate of 1.08% and
receives interest at a variable rate of 1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate ("HIBOR"). These interest rate swaps are used to manage its interest rate
exposures arising from bank loans at floating rates and had been terminated
during the year.

These interest rate swaps are not designated for hedge purposes and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of the
non-hedging interest rate derivatives amounting to HK$89,000 were charged to
profit or loss during the year (2022: HK$945,000 were credited to profit or loss).

At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group’s unlisted funds at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$65,963,000 was pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 31).

At 31 March 2023, the Group had put options to require the non-controlling
shareholder of Kingtex and Jet Success, subjected to certain exercise conditions,
to purchase all equity interests held by the Group in each of Kingtex and Jet
Success and shareholder’s loan granted to each of Kingtex and Jet Success
by the Group at the consideration of all monies that the Group has paid or
advanced to Kingtex and Jet Success.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

25. AP KHREARZ
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(d)

a2y

il PE ()

Eii3E ETESRERRHID I
RIBAFELESEARZEHE
E REABHEENANERS
MEBWIEEREEAS RS -

BR-ZE-_=F=—fA=+—HZ
SELETESE 2 AF{E41,638000/8
TL(ZF = —4F : 99,644,000% 7T)
RERESEREARBZAHRT
BESXEREBIINZGMIBZE
BEET #$TELMESZA
FEBME2ERBIEELER
HEMESZATEERATR
ZE I =FRZTF=RA=
+—HEREAEREASE
(BREAEREBEEEBR TR
RemEEAETZHEET -

RBEBRR - LEBEETERY
BEEE N B TTRTEZ IE
FHEELIEE H41,638000% 7T
T T 99,644,000/ 7T) °

LR E DR R A THEK
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5 I8 90 RS PR AR EL A 2 T e e T
RAFEWREIEE
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EBIVTETREASHEA
50,000,0007 70 2 FI 45 HY - ZREE
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WIZAER —EABBRITRIE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

26. Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Bank

Balances and Pledged Deposits

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

26. & RBIEFENIEH -
ZIRHSRITHEBRU LD
PP A7 3

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHER 466,068 513,450

Time deposits TR 106,305 35,257

572,373 548,707

Less: Restricted bank balances B ERBIIRITAE R (12,174) (7.311)

Pledged deposits BTN (33,496) (31,250)
Included in assets of a disposal FFARERFEE

company (834) -

Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeERIER 525,869 510,146

Notes:

(a According to the relevant mortgage facility agreements signed by certain
subsidiaries of the Group with their banks, the subsidiaries are required to place
at designated bank accounts certain amounts as deposits for potential default of
mortgage loans advanced to property purchasers. The deposits can only be used
for payments for construction costs of the relevant properties. These guarantee
deposits will be released after the property ownership certificates of the relevant
properties are passed to the banks.

(b) As at 31 March 2023, the bank balances amounting to HK$33,496,000 (2022:
HK$31,250,000) were pledged to a bank to secure certain bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 31).

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$326,267,000 (2022: HK$442,946,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposits rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

@ BRBRAEEESETHEBEAREHER
TR Z BB E R - %
EMBRARETR —ESERE
FRITEFIERZRS - B4
T RIZIBER 2 MEBRIRHIE
R e ETARIMNAEDE
ZRERK - ZBRESERS
RIAEMEZ EEZZREITE
T LABRRR o

by WM-E—_=F=A=+—8" 1R
1T 45 8833,496,0008 L (ZE ==
131,250,000/ 70) E A F —
RRTURERTAEE 2 ET
RITEE (FTsE31) -

RMER  XEBUAARES
BB e MIRTTA R A326,267,000
BIL(ZZ = — 4 442,946,000
TL) e ARBTAERLRAHM
B o AW - IREH B A (ONE
BIRIER) MEE - EERMNEE
BHEE)  ANEBFEBEREL
EONEEB ZIRITBARKELIRA
Hn g o

RITFRIRIRES B RITERN K
AEZFHNERRERAE - 5B
EHERZERBA/NF—RENX
BA  [RAEEZAEREFRM
TE - AR AR RE AT B E BT BRI R B
HORR - SRITAESR N E BRI
M EENES BEERIFZ
RIT -
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27. Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Assets and 27. AR IEREEED

Liabilities of a Disposal Company

Bt 8 Rl 2 B E MR
&

2023
—— =

— =

HK$’000

FE&xT
Assets classified as held for sale PEABELHEERE
Non-current assets classified as held for sale DERABEHEERBEE
- Property, plant and equipment B ZE NG @) 25,076
Assets of a disposal company HEARZEE
- Billion Good = (b) 71,894
96,970
Liabilities of a disposal company HEATRZAERE
- Billion Good -#E (b) 1,203
Notes: BFE -
(a) On 31 March 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with (a) R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H K

EEE-FBIE-HFIVESE
& WEESEARE LY
MENRFTAYE - BEREE
ZEF - KR{8 566,800,000 T °
ZRGEEHBR T _=FHA
= +HBIFERK °

an independent third party to disposal of a property classified as leasehold land
and buildings included in property, plant and equipment at a consideration of
HK$66,800,000. The transaction is expected to be completed by 30 June 2023.

(b)  On 6 February 2023, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase b)) RZTEZ=FZANAH £&£H
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of the entire equity H—F2BYE =N REESE
interests in Billion Good, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Wk - UHERE (KA RZH
Company and the shareholder's loan owed by Billion Good, for an aggregate ErEMBRE) 2 2 BRER
consideration of HK$71,000,000. Further details of the disposal are set out in WEERZIRRER - BREAR
the joint announcement of the Company and Wang On dated 6 February 2023 71,000,000/ 7T - ARAHEEE 2
and the circular of the Company dated 19 June 2023. The transaction has been E—FHFRERARFRELZH
completed on 19 June 2023. AT _=F-_ANAZHA

AERANGBHAZT==F
NATNABZEH - ZRXHER
ZEC=FRATAARTEK -

The assets and liabilities of Billion Good (excluding inter-company loans and BER-_E_=F=-F=+—
BEZEENRBBEBEREGS
ABRES$1 8 2 £ B A2 A & 5K
R e, FE 1 5 B A R FRIE) 4N

amounts due from/to group companies which are eliminated on consolidation)
as at 31 March 2023 are as follows:

T
2023
—EgE=-=

HK$'000
FER

Assets BE
Investment properties EYE 71,000
Trade receivables B 5 W8 60
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTHE 834
Assets of a disposal subsidiary classified as held for sale AEAFELEZHENBERAEE 71,894

Liabilities BE

Other payables and accruals H A R IE R EET B F 189
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEE 1,014
Liabilities of a disposal subsidiary classified as held for sale AEAFELEZHENBRRIAE 1,203
Net assets directly associated with the disposal subsidiary HHENB AR EEER EEFE 70,691

196 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

27. Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Assets and 27. AR IEREEED

Liabilities of a Disposal Company (continued) EMEAFRZERERA
= T
{51 ()

Notes: (continued) sk« (88)

(@] At 31 March 2023, certain of the Group's assets held for sale with an aggregate () RZE-_=F=A=+—H " K
carrying amount of HK$96,076,000 (2022: Nil) were pledged to secure general S EFRHE 8 596,076,0007 7T
banking facilities granted to the Group. The charges on investment properties of TR CF B 2ETEHED
Billion Good classified as held for sale had been released on 19 June 2023 upon EEECANBRTAEE Y, —
repayment of the secured bank loans. The remaining charges on the Group’s RIBITEEELER - DEAFE
assets held for sale is expected to be released on 30 June 2023, upon partial EREZ#EREYE KD
repayment of the secured bank loans on expected completion date of the RZEZ=FATNLAEEER
transaction. EIRRITEFIL R - REEFF

EHEEEZ S TIRREHRERN
CEC=FRAZTEAEERAR
Z5ek A HIEZEE D A EMRT
BRI

28. Trade Payables 28. © 5 MEATwskHE
2023 2022
== —EF_—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Trade payables B SN HIE 79,489 86,357
An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, B O EMNFIERREARBEER

based on the invoice date, is as follows: AE ZBREC D ATIAT -
2023 2022
—=== -z

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Within 1 month & A AR 29,259 22,339

1 to 3 months 12 31E A 11,236 9,753

3 to 6 months 3%6fEA 1,117 9328

Over 6 months HaiB6(E A 37,877 44,937

79,489 86,357
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of EHRNFELARE  FHERE
30 to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to 3021800 - AKREBE R B KE
ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame. B BIRHCR - BRFTA BN IBER

EEEEMRASA -

7 B ANARA T
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29. Other Payables and Accruals/Contract Liabilities 9. JLAth JRE A5F a3k JH B E it #¢
M,/ & #afH
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Receipts in advance AW GRIE 201,721 243,961
Rental and other deposits received Blie kEMEe 102,021 102,107
Contract liabilities /E.\ Ha’ @) 175,870 242,967
Refund liabilities RRBEE 2,114 1,934
Other payables E A e SRIE (b) 250,181 281,664
Accruals EETE A 82,987 89,255
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 117,767 123,052
932,661 1,084,940
Less: Portion classified as non-current B DB AERBAGES
liabilities (66,403) (72,589)
Portion classified as current liabilities DEARBDEERD 866,258 1,012,351
Represented by: TE :
Contract liabilities aHatE 175,870 242,967
Current portion of other payablesand ~ HAth B RIBREFER 2
accruals mEE D 690,388 769,384
Portion classified as current liabilities SEARBDEAERD 866,258 1,012,351
Notes: PREE -
@@  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@ ABHEEFHBWT:
31 March 2023 31 March 2022 1 April 2021
== —E-— =
=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT FET
Advances received from customers G-IV &40k 374
Sale of goods HEEYD 9,774 9,240 9,991
Sale of properties HEWE 166,096 233,727 586,577
175,870 242,967 596,568
Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in relation to sales AHEEBERHEHERAERR
of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food products and advances BRMEMATFPIENBR KR
from buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sales of properties. Decrease in BRREBEEMEREERN
contract liabilities during the year was due to the sales of properties recognised BR - FRNEHNEERD TIER
during the year. FRNDHERIEE Y FEFTE -
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one (b) ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?y@gﬂ:%ﬁ CREE—
year. FRNEE ©
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30. Unsecured Notes 0. MK 2%
Contractual
interest rate (%)
perannum Maturity 2023 2022
BHEFE% IHA —E-= —T-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Unsecured Notes 2024, liability component 1% 2024
—ZoMFEEEREE  AEY —TmF 125,189 219,497
On 19 May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term note RZZE—MNFRA+TIE F FEE
program. The notes issued under the program are listed on the Stock JEE fn 2% 37.1,000,000,000/% 7T 2 Bf
Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only. CAP further FIBETE - RIBFTEIBIT 2 EBIA
announced that interest on the notes will be payable annually in arrears at the BREEREEFTESFNHARARN
interest rate of 1% per annum. B LEm - PREERE—$T
HRBEN SR FREZN - F75
ER1% °
CAP has totally issued 40 batches of notes with the principal amount of FREEREHIN_ZE—NFH
HK$400,000,000 which bear interest at 1% per annum on 30 May 2014, 11 A=+H ZZ2—K E/\ A+—
June 2014, 25 June 2014, 2 July 2014, 10 July 2014, 18 July 2014, 28 July A ZE—WFA=-+HA =
2014, 29 July 2014, 26 August 2014, 30 September 2014, 6 October 2014 T-MF+HZH  ZF—0EHF+
and 7 October 2014, respectively (the “Unsecured Notes 2024"). The entire A+H - ZE—NF+/+NH "
Unsecured Notes 2024 will mature on 30 September 2024. —E-NFtA=Z+N\H  ZFT—
WFE+A=Z+NB - ZZE—mFN
A= ‘f’/\ B ZZ—NFhLA=+
H- Eﬁz'f’ﬂ NEE—FE—
E¢+ﬂ +HAERBEITIOM AR ST
#3$400,000,000%8 T | % 531 %Z%‘i
BIZE-MF&EHFERE] -
EoNFEEREEREETR
ZHFERA=THEIE -
Details of the Unsecured Notes 2024 are as follows: ZE_MERARERZFEWR
™
Redemption period by CAP: Three specified redemption dates from 31 FREEEMCEREM - =@ETE
December 2023 to 30 June 2024 BRIBEHA-E-=F+=-A=+
—HEZZE-_NFA=+H
Redemption amount on the maturity date; 96.85% of the principal amount REBBEZERSGE : X8
96.85%
CAP has repurchased and cancelled the Unsecured Notes 2024 in an RBEFE  FHEEREHER
aggregate principal amount of HK$110,000,000 in prior years. During the FESH AN 4858110,000,0008 T2 =
year, CAP has repurchased and cancelled the Unsecured Notes 2024 in the ENFEEAREER - FA R
aggregate principal amount of HK$140,000,000 (2022: Nil). Accordingly, a BREMCELORIHEASHBE
principal amount of HK$150,000,000 remained outstanding as at 31 March 140,000,000/ 7T 2 — & — PO 4K
2023 (2022: HK$290,000,000). HEBR(CT-_F &) otk

RZBE-=F=A=+—H &%
#6150,000,0008 L (Z T = —F :
290,000,00078 7T) iKl R (EE ©

T EEEIZERBR A A
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30. Unsecured Notes (continued) 30. JEHCHZIR @)
The interest expenses on the Unsecured Notes 2024 were calculated using CTE D NFEEREE A BT
the effective interest method by using the effective interest rate of 11.1%. HAEBAERI 1% BEFE
JEETE o
The fair value of the unsecured notes had been split into the liability and EIRAREE 2 AT ER YR ERE
derivative components at initial recognition and their movements are as ERSRBERITEIASS  H
follows: 2HHIT

Unsecured Notes 2024
“E_MFEREREE
Liability Derivative

component  component Total
B8EBD TEIATS #Et
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TFET T
(note 25)
(P E25)
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-——FmMA—H 199,348 (3,864) 195,484
Accretion of interest 21878 23,049 - 23,049
Interest paid SEREAIS (2,900) - (2,900)
Fair value gain N EKER - (5,985) (5,985)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-E-_—F=A=+—HE
—E-_FA—H 219,497 (9,849) 209,648
Accretion of interest 22T B 19,826 = 19,826
Interest paid EARAFE (1,898) = (1,898)
Early redemption REEE (112,236) 4,755 (107,481)
Fair value gain A EKE = (362) (362)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=HA=+—H 125,189 (5,456) 119,733
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31. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

Contractual interest

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2023
-

—F==

Maturity

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

31w B SRAT M 3L Ath £

Contractual interest
HK$'000 13 Maturity

rate (%)
EHRIZ(%)
Current:
i
Bankloans - secured HIBOR+(1.08t0 2)/
RER-FER RMB base lending
rate+(0to 1.05)/
Fixed rate of
147t07.35
BERTERRS
+H1.08EZ28)/
ARBEERTAE
HOEZ1.058)/
EFHES
147EZ7.35E
Long term bank loans HIBOR+(1.65t02)
fepayable on demand - secured BREMEERE
RESTER +{1.65EF2E)
REEEKRER - FERA
Qtherloan - unsecured Fixed rate of 7.30
HER - RER BEFIZ7.30E
Qtherloan from a fellow N/A
subsidiary - unsecured TER
RE-HRZNBAR R - BEA
Non-current:
FhE:
Bank loans - secured HIBOR+
RTER-BER (1.08t01.56)/
RMB base lending
rate+1.05/
Fixed rate of
135
BRATRERE
H1.08EZ1568)/
AREERENF %
+1.05E/
e %7358

3

On demand/
REEERE/
2023-2024
ZECCER
“EomE

Ondemand

RERERE

2023
“ECCE

NA
TER

20242029
“ECREE
“EoE

TEn hize &5

534,481 HBOR#(15t02/  Ondemand 481662
RMBhaselendng ~ REEERE/
rteof (0t03)/  2022-2003
Fedrateof ZZZZFZE
W07 “ECZE
EARORERE
H{15EZE)/
AREEEEFFIE
HERE)/
Eha
EEYRE
74,210 HBORH15t02)  Ondemand 88,600
BERARAERE  REERRE
+{15BF2E)

5,699 NA - NA -
TER  TiEE

- Fivedrateof 10 2022 70,000
EfZ0E -F--

614,390 640,262

907,272 HBOR+156/  2023-209 821403
RMBbaselending —F-=F%
ate+0021) —E-NE
Fived rate of
55010735
EERIRERS
11568/
AREEEERFIE
HEE1E)/
Bha
SOEETBE
907,272 821403

1,521,662 1461,665
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31. wF R SRAT B LA A B )

31. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

(continued)

2023
—E-=F

HK$’000
FTERT

HK$'000
TAT

BT
BT FRERZVITER
—EFRINEERLE

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:
Within one year or on demand (Note (a))

(Mf7% () 608,691 570,262

In the second year F_F 213,781 192,263

In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-ZNF(BEEEMRSF) 672,976 592,156

Beyond five years AFELE 20,515 36,984

1,515,963 1,391,665

Other loan repayable: BT FEEE 2 EMER
Within one year —FR 5,699 70,000
1,521,662 1,461,605
Notes: BH5E

(@  As further explained in note 46 to the financial statements, the Group's term (@) IS TRE W iE46FTiE— SR

loans with an aggregate amount of HK$120,681,000 (2022: HKS$130,000,000)
containing an on-demand clause have been classified as current liabilities of
which HK$46,471,000 (2022: HK$41,400,000) are repayable within one year based
on the respective loan agreements. For the purpose of the above analysis, the
loans are included within current interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and analysed into bank and other borrowings repayable within one year or on
demand.

18 ANEELEA120,681,00078
JT(ZZF = =4 : 130,000,0007%
TZEHERSEREZEEE K
FEFKER BE2BEARDA
& H46,471,0008 T(—F =
T4 41,400,000 ) IR IE R B
HERBZER —FREE -3t
Fiomms - ZEEREAR
BFFBRITREMEER - WK
—FRRAREEERREE R
TREMEEEITON ©

MRI|EHR - sHRRITREME
EiREE RS2 5 EIER
HEE 2RI HAEAIT ¢

At the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements is as follows:

2023 2022

Bank loans repayable:

BN FEIEE Z IRITER

—=—=

—_ =

HK$’000
THEx

—E_F
HK$'000
THIT

Within one year —FR 534,481 481,662
In the second year EF 224,241 274,903
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-FEHF(BEEEMRT) 736,726 598,116
Beyond five years AFENE 20,515 36,984

1,515,963 1,391,665

Other loan repayable: RTOIFHER HMERK

Within one year —FR 5,699 70,000

1,521,662 1,461,665
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31. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 31. wH S ERAT B H A A 5 )

(continued)

Notes: (continued) PisE « (88)

(b)  Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the Group's property, plant and b)) AEEEFRITERIARER
equipment (note 14), owned investment properties and certain rental income W B KRS (ME4) -
generated therefrom (note 15), financial assets at fair value through other FriEEREMEREELE AT
comprehensive income (note 18), properties held for sale (note 20), financial AaeW A FIEES) ~ RAFEL
assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 25) and pledged deposits (note Em2EKREARZcREE
26). (ME5E18) ~ FREH EWE (M5

20) MAFELERARZE
A E (M 2s) REERER
FE26) tEHE R -

(© As at 31 March 2023, except for the bank loans of HK$204,267,000 (2022: () R_E-_=%=ZHA=+—8"
HK$337,232,000) and other loan of HK$5,699,000 (2022: HK$70,000,000 from a B #R 7T B 30204,267,0007% 70 (=
fellow subsidiary) which bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at T 4 337,232,000 70) &
floating interest rates. RE—HRRWBAR 2 EME

385,699,000 T (Z T Z =4 :
70,000,00078 7T) T3 1% & & FI| K51
BAN FRBRITERI LS

EEH R o
(d  The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings which are d)  AEREUTIEBHAEZRITR
denominated in the following currencies are as follows: HitBEZRmENT :
2023 2022
—=E_= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
HKS BT 961,701 761,990
RMB AR 559,961 699,675
1,521,662 1,461,665

7% BRI ARA T
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32.

204

Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as

follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

32. EHEHLIAH
ERNELEHEREREEY BBMN

™

EEBRAE

Depreciation Fair value
allowance adjustment
Withholding in excess arising from
tax for of related Revaluation  acquisition of
dividend depreciation  of properties subsidiaries
KB
HEAR
BERRTE e A FE
REFAR ZHELHE MEER R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
j THT THET AT T
At 1 April 2021 W_Z=—F
MA—H 20,000 29767 512,361 148,595 710,723
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to ~ FRMNEZE RIS/
profit or loss during the year GIA) ZBERE (20,000) 4,145 (21,291) (30,166) (67,312)
Exchange realignment BN AR - - 21,710 6,194 27,904
At31March2022and 1 Apri 2022 WZE-—%
“A=t-RAk
MA—A - 33,912 512,780 124,623 671,315
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEMERAR - (9) - - (9)
Deferred tax credited to profit FARBER
orloss during the year FTAZERHE - (6,205) (10,439) (10,146) (26,790)
Exchange realignment R - - (30,495) (19,121) (49,616)
Transfer to liabilities classified BEEHEARED
as held for sale E8E - (1,014) - - (1,014)
At31 March 2023 R-Z_=F
—A=1+—"H - 26,684 471,846 95,356 593,886
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32. & HEBLIH (@)
BEREEE

32. Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Loss available

Depreciation in

for offsetting  excess of related
against future depreciation Impairment of
taxable profits allowance financial assets
Al AR 8
ARERD  BBHEBRE
BAZER  RBEHE  SREERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THET T
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—H 25035 48 245 25328
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profitor  FRIMEZF RN/
loss during the year (?ﬂﬂ%):zﬁﬁiiiﬁlﬁ 3826 - (90) 3736
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 S
=A=t—-RAk
“E-_#NA-H 28,861 48 155 29,064
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHBAR (9 - - 9
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profitor  FRRMEZR KA/
loss during the year (HNBR) 2 EIERIE 7,193 = (108) 7,085
At 31 March 2023 RZZ_=fF
=R=1+-8 36,045 48 47 36,140

MEFRENTMS  BTEEHEE
ENBECESA VB NERANIER
i o U AAEBMIELEREL

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. The following is
an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting

purposes: MY EREBOM S EHODT
2023 2022
—=== —=F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the iR IR R N TR
consolidated statement of financial position BEHIEEEFRE 11,633 48
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE B ISR R R N TERR Y
consolidated statement of financial position BETIE A EFE (569,379) (642,299)
Net deferred tax liabilities included in a disposal qu)\H:'n%’D\ AIZIBEERIRE
company (note 27) &R (P 3527) (1,014) -
(558,760) (642,251)
e EEERARA
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32.

206

Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of HK$915,770,000 (2022: HK$967,733,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Except for tax losses of HK$218,455,000 (2022:
HK$174,915,000) have been recognised as deferred tax assets, deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of the remaining amount of
HK$697,315,000 (2022: HK$792,818,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The Group also has unused tax losses arising in Mainland
China and Macau with an aggregate amount of HK$341,134,000 (2022:
HK$387,879,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Mainland China. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately HK$336,832,000 at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$286,044,000). In the opinion of the directors, the Company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and, accordingly,
the Group has taken into consideration, among others, the probability the
temporary difference being reversed in the foreseeable future, and recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable in the foreseeable future on
distribution of unremitted earnings by the Company’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends
by the Company to its shareholders.
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32. & HEBLIH (@)

EERIEEE ()
RMEPR - AEBEREBE
A7 RENREIIEETE /915,770,000
BIL(ZEZZ4F : 967,733,000/8
J0) - AR EA R EIR B B IR A A
AR RRERFB AT o @mﬁ
[E518218,455000/8 T (—Z T = —
174,915,000 7T) E R A IE LR 1A
BEIN - ARKRIE M R TE
a0 U R B BEE2EE49697,315,000
BIL(ZZEZ 4 792,818,000/
T ERBEERIEEE - NEB N
AR R KR E A 2 KB A
FRIE B84 341,134,000 70 (=&
— T4 1 387,879,000/ 7T) ¢ AIFA{E
AR R ERTUEF - WHER—
AFEANEMm °

BIER B RERMERE - RPBEA
AR S 7 SNEE IR B 1 E MG N
BEESIR BB 10%HTEH
i o MR B R ELE IMEE B TR
AEREFTABBGL - BRI gLE
ABEENHE - pAEEMmE -
WA EE5%310% ° AL » A&
gﬁ%mﬁw¢lmmﬁzzm§
NAMBE_ZEENGF—A—BRE
&2 BRIk 2 IR B TR -

RZZE_=F=A=+—8 " #HH
KIERIEET 8 B E 2 P B R
BRIz Bz R EEA &
#9336,832,0008 (= = —4F :
2860440005&77?) EEZRAE AR
Hla THIE O TR EERE B
CAREEBEEE(EFBE)RA
ﬁﬁ%X%@ﬁM%£ZT%ﬁv
KRR ARR EARARNFER
M 2B AR MEEE
2B DEARELANN  BRY
R AR IBHATER

R B [A) B P SRR A A B 3 4R B 7
ERMAEHEE -
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33. Share Capital 33. kAR
Shares g
2023 2022
—E—-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Authorised: VETE ¢
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 60,000,000,0008% & f20.01 7.2
HK$0.01 each R 600,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRER
1,204,642,888 (31 March 2022: 1,231,642,888) 1,204,642,3880%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (ZBE=—=—F=A=+—H8":
1,231,642,888 %) & %0.01
BTz FiRR 12,046 12,316

During the year, the movements in the share capital and share premium FRN - ARABREAERDBER . EEH

account of the Company were summarised as follows: Bt -
Number of
shares in issue Issued capital ~ Share premium Total
ERTROYE ERTRE R aRE @t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT T
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 RZFEZ—FMA—-H "
and 1 April 2022 ZZZF=A=+t—-HBRk
T -FMA—H 1,231,642,888 12316 2,106,799 2,119,115
Cancellation of shares repurchased 758 E B BIR 7 (T 7E)

(Note) (27,000,000) (270) (9,690) (9,960)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-=F=A=+—H 1,204,642,888 12,046 2,097,109 2,109,155
Note: The Company repurchased 27,000,000 of its shares on the Stock Exchange at PR 2 Al R B R BT RS B A

a total consideration of HK$9,960,000. The repurchased shares were cancelled 27,000,0000% & 1h - BRE A
during the year ended 31 March 2023. 9,960,000/ 7T © BB B AR 0 AL
BZTZ-_=F=A=+—HIF
EE D -
Share options B AE
Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 34 to the RNAE 2 ERER B 2 SRR BT
financial statements. TR M 5134,
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Share Option Scheme

The Company’s Share Option Scheme

On 22 August 2013, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the 2013
Scheme”). The 2013 Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years from
that day, unless otherwise terminated earlier by shareholders in a general
meeting.

The 2013 Scheme is for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible persons for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the board of directors may grant options to
directors and eligible employees of the Company or its subsidiaries to let them
subscribe for shares in the Company at a consideration equal to the higher
of the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
at the date of offer of grant and the average closing price of the shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days from the date of grant,
upon payment of HKS$1. Options may be exercised at any time from the date
of grant of the share options up to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant
as determined by the directors at their discretion.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which options
may be granted, when aggregated with any other share option scheme of the
Company, shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time excluding any shares issued upon the exercise of options
granted pursuant to the 2013 Scheme. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2013 Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of approval of the 2013 Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to an
eligible person under the 2013 Scheme is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
aggregate number of shares for the time being issued and issuable under the
2013 Scheme.

No share option has been granted as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 since the

adoption of the 2013 Scheme.

There were no share options granted or exercised during the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

There was no share-based payment recognised during the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued)

CAP’s Share Option Scheme

CAP adopted a new share option scheme (the “CAP 2022 Scheme”) with
the approval of the shareholders of CAP at the annual general meeting of
CAP held on 26 August 2022 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
and recognition to eligible participants (the “CAP Participants”) for their
contribution or potential contribution to the CAP and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “CAP Group”) with the same terms as the share
option scheme (the "CAP 2012 Scheme") adopted by CAP on 3 May 2012.
CAP Participants include directors of the CAP Group, including independent
non-executive directors and employees, who work for any member of the
CAP Group and/or any person or entity that provides services to any member
of the CAP Group. The CAP 2022 Scheme became effective on 26 August 2022
and will remain in force for a period of 10 years to 25 August 2032.

Under the CAP 2022 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP (the “CAP Board")
may grant share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for the Shares.
The offer of a grant of share options must be accepted by the relevant
CAP Participants within 14 days after the date of grant upon payment of a
consideration of HKS$1 for each lot of share options granted. The exercise price
is to be determined by the CAP Board and shall not be less than the highest
of:

(@)  the official closing price of the shares of CAP as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(¢)  the nominal value of a share of CAP.
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Share Option Scheme (continued)

CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the CAP 2022 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in CAP in
respect of which options may be granted when aggregated with any other
share option scheme of CAP is not permitted to exceed 995,306,782 shares,
representing approximately 10.0% of the issued share capital of CAP as at
the date of this report. Subject to the issue of a circular and the approval of
the shareholders of CAP at general meeting and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time, the CAP Board may
refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of CAP’s shares in issue
as at the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares of CAP which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
CAP 2022 Scheme and any other share option schemes of CAP at any time
shall not exceed 30% of CAP's shares in issue from time to time.

The number of shares of CAP in respect of which options may be granted to
the CAP Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of CAP’s shares in issue at
any point in time, without prior approval from the Shareholders. Any further
grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of
the shareholders of CAP in general meeting. The participant and his associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) are abstained from voting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time. Options
granted to substantial shareholders of CAP or independent non-executive
directors of CAP, or any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
CAP’s shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
must be approved in advance by the CAP's shareholders. There is no specific
requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before it
can be exercised but the CAP Board is empowered to impose at its discretion
any such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. The
period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the
CAP Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised for
a period of more than ten years from the date of grant.
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued) 34. V@R RE Gt 3 ()
CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued) TEEERZERETE(E
No share option has been granted as at 31 March 2023 since the adoption of BRANPREZER T - —F:tE
the CAP 2022 Scheme. UWERHE-E-_=F=A=+—

B EERRER L

During the year, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled FA-PEREM_T__F:E
under the CAP 2022 Scheme. BTHEEREERLY 112

RIS -

The following share options were outstanding under the CAP 2012 Scheme BEPEEER _T— 458
during the year: AT BB AR RN A M RAT(E
ZEZ=
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
LS T
TR BREZE 16EE BREHE
HKS per share '000 '000
SRAET T4 g Tp
At beginning of year RER 0.118 226,000 - -
Granted during the year RERE N/A
TEA - 0.118 226,000
Forfeited during the year RERZIK 0.118 (15,000) - -
At end of year RER 0.118 211,000 0.118 226,000
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued) 34. FhJBCHE T #) (0
CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued) TEEERZERETE(E
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding RREPRRPRAEEN T —Z=F
under the CAP 2012 Scheme as at the end of the reporting period are as FFEIETHARITHE BRECITE
follows: BRITEEBNT
2023 —E-=
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE* 1T1EH
‘000 HKS per share
T4 BRERT
42,200 0.118 3.1.2025 to 2.1.2032
—E-_RFE-A=HE-E="%—HZH
42,200 0.118 3.1 2026 to 2.1.2032
—E_RFE—HA=ZHE=-E="%—H=H
42,200 0.118 3 1 2027 to 2.1.2032
—E-tF5—-HA=HZE —F—H=H
42,200 0.118 3.1 .2028 to 2.1.2032
—ECN\F-A=ZHEZE==—-H=H
42,200 0.118 3.1.2029 to 2.1.2032
—E_hF-A=HE=-ZE=_"%—HZH
211,000
2022 —E--
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
FEIRRES B IfEE* 1IfEHA
‘000 HKS per share
T1n BiRATT
45,200 0.118 3.1.2025t0 2.1.2032
—E - RF—A=HEZET=-"%—HZ=H
45,200 0.118 3.1.2026 t0 2.1.2032
—E-RF-A=ZRAE_ET=—_F—H=H
45,200 0.118 3.1.2027 t0 2.1.2032
Rt F-ACZHAE-T=_—_F—A_-H
45,200 0.118 3.1.2028 t0 2.1.2032
—E ) \F—HA=HEZT=-"%—HZ=H
45,200 0.118 3.1.2029 t0 2.1.2032
T NF—A=ZHEZE=Z—F—A=H
226,000
* The exercise price of the share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme is subject * TREER-Z——F:EETR
to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in FEIRAE 2 1T B AT AR SAT AR
CAP's share capital. BT RRERRAPBER

o AB L B B T 1L 3 -
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued)

CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

The fair value of the share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme granted
during the prior year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$21,915,000 (HK$0.097
each), of which the Group recognised a share option expense of HK$4,646,000
(2022: HK$1,139,000) during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The fair value of equity-settled share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme
granted during the year ended 31 March 2022 was estimated as at the date of
grant using a trinomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to
the model used:

34.

St B ¥ R W BE ()
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i J5% RE BT B ()

PEEERZBRETE (@)
REE-—Z-_—_F=A=+—H1F
EHFERIFREER T —
ZHEFHEBETEREZATEAS
21,915,000 7T (& %0.0978 L) -
EHffs-—ES-—=F=f=+—
BIEFE @ ANEEER H%Hxﬁéfﬁ
4,646,000 T (ZF ==
1,139,000/ 7T).

REE-—Z-_—_F=A=+—H1F
FERHIYTEHEER-_Z——F

AAEETNARDEE CBREZA
FERERHAMSER=AAEE G
it B ER RN B Z R
R - TRETIFTBER Z 8 A
g

Dividend yield (%) % B, 5K (%)
Expected volatility (%) TEHRR 18 (%
Historical volatility (%) WEE?)ME %)
Risk-free interest rate (%) % ) 2 (%)
Expected life of options (year) fﬁﬁﬂﬁxﬁi,ﬁﬂ(i)

Weighted average share price (HKS per share)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of CAP's
share price over the approximately previous 10 years. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on the directors’ best estimate,
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

No other feature of the share options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, CAP had 186,000,000
share options outstanding under the CAP 2012 Scheme.

I BB (BB TT)

97.03
97.03
144
10
0.118

8 A U5 PR 4B 1 A 401048 o
BERRBOBLRIEET - B2
T PR R A4 A AR R B B A
HBRTEE  TERERTAS
B ETIUBE -

HE N T EREEY AL ERE
HIE A o

RUEZEUEHERER PR
EnBETRFREER T ——F
512175 186,000,00017 & A& 17 15 B8 A%
1 o

T EEEERER AR
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35. Reserves

214

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 97 and 98 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share premium

The share premium mainly represents the difference between the par
value of the shares issued and the consideration received, which is
governed by the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of ordinary shares issued by the Company and the
aggregate nominal value of the issued ordinary share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in 1995.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the credits arising from the capital
reduction effected by the Company less the amount utilised for the
purpose of the bonus issue of shares by the Company.

Reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China, a
portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China
has been transferred to the reserve funds which are restricted to use.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the amounts of
consideration paid and the net assets of the entities acquired by the
Group under business combinations under common control.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the amounts of
net consideration and the carrying values of non-controlling interests
acquired or disposed of.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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36. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material Non- 36. WA HRIEHRMELGZ
Controlling Interests vk 23 B A FR R 4 )
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests BB ERIFERER 2 NS E
are set out below: NRFEFRAMNT -

Percentage of equity interest held by IRt A 2 IR
non-controlling interests: Btk
CAP B RE M 46.63% 46.63%
2023 2022
—E-= —ZF—_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Profit for the year shared by non-controlling interests  FEFERSHE RS 7 (i 2 NG S )% 7| 23,815 21,184
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests of H¥R4E A HiR B2 E M
CAP at the reporting date eV BT AR 1,334,437 1,440,104
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of the CAP TREMFEREREE CHMBE
Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: BE - FE2SERNBREME

BARBEHIHEA 225

2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T T

Revenue for the year FRleE= 562,830 830,469
Loss for the year FNEIE (5,532) (16,609)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FREMEERE(B1B) (238,497) 130,104
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FREmRE (BB @5 (244,029) 113,495
Net cash flows from operating activities BEXEBB RS MNEFEE 63,530 160,216
Net cash flows used in investing activities BEEZBAZRSREFH (10,523) (105,655)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEREFRAZR S =S5 (145,637) (43,827)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents I8¢ MIBE&ERIBE LN,

ORt ) 558 (92,630) 10,734

2023 2022
—Eg== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT T 7T

Current assets MEVEE 1,987,239 2,380,679
Non-current assets EMEEE 3,041,379 3,275,543
Current liabilities mEEE (1,076,262) (1,885439)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (1,764,144) (1,338,488)
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37. Disposal of a Subsidiary

For the year ended 31 March 2023

On 22 March 2023, the Group disposed of its entire equity interests in
Sino Fame, which was holding an investment property in Hong Kong,
together with the shareholder’s loan owed by Sino Fame to the Group to an
independent third party at an aggregate consideration of HK$48,416,000.

Details of the net assets of the subsidiary disposed of during the current year
and the financial impacts are summarised below:

37. & — B E A W

BE-_Z-=F=A=+—HLHF
E

A\ZEZ=F=A=+=H &%
B LA 48R 848,416,000/ JT ] — &
BYF=-THREERNEFEES
—EAEBREWE) 2 2 -
HREEFERAEB ZIREENK °

RAFELEZMBAREERE
HERFBREERMELT

Notes HK$’000
Bt e FEx

Net assets disposed of: FriteE v EEFE
Investment property wEYHE 15 48,800
Other payables and accruals HA R HIBRETER (384)
48,416
Professional fees and expenses EXEAMMY 1,769
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary e B AR 2 kA 6 (1,769)
48,416

Satisfied by: HEAN

Cash Bk 48,416

An analysis of the net inflows of cash and cash equivalents for the year in
respect of the disposal of Sino Fame is as follows:

FAREEEFZRELREFR
HERANFEZAWWT

HK$’000
TERT

Cash consideration
Professional fees and expenses paid

ReRE 48,416
BEYXNEXERANAY (1,769)

Net inflows of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of REEMBRARIZES MRS

subsidiaries

FRIABRAFE 46,647
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38. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 38. HAEBEWERMGE
Flows
(@ Major non-cash transactions (@ FEXBLEXS
The Group has the following major non-cash transactions during the REBFAZEZIRERFHMWN
year: T
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to lease liabilities, FAR AEEREELHRESF
right-of-use assets included in property, plant and equipment JHEZHERBEEAE T AY
and investment properties of HK$68,135,000, HK$65,434,000 and ¥ BMEMERBAMKEDEZ
HK$2,880,000 (2022: lease liabilities and right-of-use assets included in EREEEZIIFRSAED IR
property, plant and equipment of HK$84,195,000 and HK$72,297,000), 68,135,000/ 7T * 65,434,000/8 7T &
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for leasehold land and 2,880,000 T (Z T4 : &
buildings. BERETAYE  BEREH#HE
¥ & E 7 Bl /584,195,000 7T M
72,297,000/ 7T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BMETHELEZEEEH
Bank and other Lease Convertible Unsecured
borrowings liabilities notes notes
RITREMEE HERE TRRFE BERZE
H|\$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
THL TATL THAT
At Apri 2021 W-F-—#mA-A 13988 108643 131,938 199348
Changes from financing cash flows BERSTER 109,504 (69,180) (134800) (2,900)
New leases G - 84,195 - -
Interest expense FIEREY - 4838 2899 23,049
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors LA FTIR (LA
BRAEMAERN
ik - (3860) - -
Revision of alease term arising from a change inthe T & 7 Al 34 £
non-cancellable period of a lease EymEL L RBET - (1,145) - -
Other lease modification At EBE] - (1473) - -
Fair value gain on derivative components of TRREEZITETR
convertible notes Br 2 AT ENE - - (37) -
Foreign exchange movement SNERE 2333 034 - -
At31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZZ%=R
St-ARZZ-CF
mA—H 1,461,665 123,052 = 219,497
Changes from financing cash flows BERLRELY 102,042 (62,517) = (97,835)
New leases MHE = 68,135 = =
Revision of a lease term arising from a change inthe A E R A s HEE)
non-cancellable period of a lease MEEHBET - (10,527) - -
Other lease modification i H) - (2,362) - -
Interest expense HERES = 4,423 = 19,826
Gain on early redemption of unsecured notes REBOEERZEL
Yz - - - (16,299)
COVID-19-elated rent concessions from lessors A IR AT R AR
mENABENES
% - (774) - -
Foreign exchange movement SNERE) (42,045) (1,663) = =
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F
=A=t-H 1,521,662 117,767 - 125,189
Tiﬁ;%%iﬂxﬁ\ﬁ/\u 217
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38. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 38. B EWEERMEE@®
Flows (continued)
(c) Total cash inflow/(outflow) for leases (0 MHERSHEAGR
The total cash inflow/(outflow) for leases included in the statement of qu)\fﬁﬁumiﬁzifﬁfEﬁﬁﬁ
cash flows is as follows: A (L) @gEmT
2023 2022
—E-= o F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FAT
Within operating activities KT (8,550) 2,061
Within financing activities BB (62,517) (69,180)
(71,067) (67,119)
39. Pledge of Assets 39. % kA
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group’s bank and other loans are AAERRITREAMEFERTD
included in note 31 to the financial statements. REBEEFBHN M B REME
31.
40. Commitments 40. &%
@  The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the @ MRI|EBAKR AEEZEXR
reporting period: AEEWNT
2023 2022
—_E_= — g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: EETAVERFHR B
~ Property, plant and equipment - - BB KEE 6,948 14,360
~ Properties under development - ERPYE 5,738 16,693
~ Properties held for sale -RHELEmE 45,591 61,508
= Investment properties -REME 167,624 180,289
225,901 272,850
(b)  The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet commenced as (b) $E EEZEHEESHRN -
at 31 March 2023. The future lease payments for these non-cancellable T__F=ZA=t+—HBEX
lease contracts are HK$1,566,725 (2022: Nil) due within one year and Fig - ZZE A HEAES
HK$4,866,295 (2022: Nil) due in the second to fifth years, inclusive. A2 REMER T ,566,725

BT(ZTZZF - B)R
FRFIHA K 4,866,2957 7T (—
T ﬂ)ﬁ’\ i£$
(BEEEMT)E
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41. Related Party Transactions

(a)

Transactions with related parties

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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41. BB 5
EEBS X5

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following material transactions with

related parties during the year:

(a)

3
7R B

S mREM AN FF

MZRXBN  REBRER
HEBODETUATEAR

5

2023 2022
—E-= —EC-F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr TR

Wang On and its subsidiaries (other than the Group)

ERREMBRARRAEE

~Rental income eamed by the Group* AEBEHRM B BA ) 925 2924
~ Finance income on net investments in subleases -HRREFEIHMBRA ) 79 345
= Sales of pharmaceutical products by the Group* -AEBHEER (i) 4,662 8,245
- Recognition of right-of-use assets -RREREEAE
Retail premise™* TENEY (v) = 3,99
Wet markets* > (vili) 9,644 -
~ Interest expense on a loan incurred by the Group -FEEEAZENAEH
5 (i) 2,378 7433
- Management fees incurred by the Group -FEEEACERE 0) 396 585
= Acquisition of subsidiaries NN (ix) 997 -
Associates B RE
= Sales of Chinese pharmaceutical products by the Group -AREHEVEER (i) 36,366 22,144
~Rental income eamed by the Group -FEERRASHA ) 1,702 1720
~Finance income on net investments in subleases -HREBEFELHBRA W 166 165
- Management and promotion fees eamed by the Group -ARERRMEEER
SEE 0 1,099 1,044
Easy One Financial Group Limited (‘Easy One’) and its subsidiaries, % 5= % BEEAR A
a group of companies controlled by Mr. Tang (I82E)RARBAR
B ERFNATEE
~ Interest expense on convertible notes -TAREE 2 FERE 0) - 3462
= Recognition of a right-of-use asset -RREAEEE (vi) - 313
* These related party transactions also constitute continuing connected * ZEBWE T X5 MR

transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

** These related party transactions also constitute connected transactions

as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

*%

BRERXS(EERLTR
BIE14AF) o

ZEBY AR5 B
ERG(EER EMRBIE
T4AFE) ©

T E BRI AR AR
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41. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(@) Transactions with related parties (continued)
Notes:

(i) The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the
Group and the related parties.

(if) The sales to the related parties were made according to the published
prices and conditions that the Group offered to its customers.

(i) The interest was charged by a related party on a loan advanced to
the Group. The loan balance was fully repaid during the year. Details
of the terms of the relevant loan are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements.

(iv) On 2 June 2021, the Group entered into a three-year lease agreement
with a fellow subsidiary in respect of leasing a retail premise for the
Group's retail operation. The amount of rent payable by the Group
under the lease was HK$115,000 per month, which was determined
with reference to the prevailing market conditions in the vicinity. At the
commencement date of the lease, the Group recognised a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability of HK$3,996,000 and HK$3,912,000, respectively.

(v) The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with certain
associates in respect of the sub-licensing of certain retail premises. The
aggregate average amount of rent payable by the associates under the
sub-licensing agreement was HK$ 188,000 (2022: HK$187,000) per month,
which was determined with reference to terms mutually agreed between
the Group and the associates.

(vi)  The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with two
fellow subsidiaries in respect of the sub-licensing of office premises.
The aggregate amount of rent payable by the fellow subsidiaries under
the sub-licensing agreement was HK$619,000 per month, which was
determined with reference to terms mutually agreed between the Group
and the fellow subsidiaries. The agreements were expired during the year.
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41. BB T 22 5 ()
B > X 5 ()

(a)

GEX

(iif)

(vi)

5% 5 TR 5 K B 5
R 7 0 1 2 R
7

HEBOEH ZHETDR
BEAREARTEPREHRZ
B AMER RRIETT -

BB TN TALEZ
ERURERA S - ERER
RERNBBBEE - 186
ERZERZHBER
MR ML -

RZEZ—F"A=H "
REBHERRWB AR
AEBTEEBKHETE
WEIIL=ZFHHEEW
FoARERBHEEEN
MEeSE AT A115000
I BT R E R
BERTISGHKAMEBE ©
REERKRAE  XEE
WREAEEEREES
&5 Rl 43,996,000/ 7T &
3,912,000/ 7T ©

REBEETHEATM
AHETEEMEII LA
FoipE - BeE AR
BolpRENHTEEAE
4% A A188,0007% 7T
ZEZZF 187,000
T0) ¢ UL R E R L E
B N B H BB E 2 RN
MEE °

7N £2 B B T (R R B B A
AMAMB A AMET LA
FoEkzE - REWNBA
AIRIE D i E RN R
BB HRETA619,000%
TC o WSS E AR EEH
RAEWEBRARERBEZ
ERMETE - ZEHER
FNEEM °
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41. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(@) Transactions with related parties (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

On 20 April 2021, the Group entered into a three-year lease agreement
with a subsidiary of Easy One, in respect of leasing a premise for the
Group's retail operation. The average amount of rent payable by the
Group under the lease is HK$9,317 per month, which was determined
with reference to the prevailing market conditions in the vicinity. At the
commencement date of the lease, the Group recognised a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability of HK$313,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, CAP Group entered into various
lease agreements with a subsidiary of Wang On in respect of leasing
certain retail premises for the Group’s wet market operations in Hong
Kong. The amount of rent payable by the CAP Group under the lease
ranged from HK$23,000 to HK$88,000 per month, which was determined
with reference to the prevailing market conditions in the vicinity. At the
commencement dates of the leases, the Group recognised right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities in aggregate of HK$9,644,000 and HK$9,644,000,
respectively.

On 1 October 2022, the Group entered into shares transfer agreements
with a fellow subsidiary of the Group to acquire 60% equity interests in
each of Kingtex and Jet Success together with the shareholder loans at a
total consideration of HK$997,000. Details of the transaction are disclosed
in note 1(b) to the financial statements.

41. BEE T2 5 @

(a) EBREBIZXES(E)
BifsE - ()

(vii)

(vii)

(ix)

RZEZ—FWOA=-+
A AEEERZHEZH
BRARMAERTEER
HEWMET L =—FHHEE
W& o AEBERIBEHERE
N FEYiesmEAsE A
9317/7L + T2 ZEH]
T Hb [ & BT S AR U i
E e RNHEEMBABE - K
SEBHRATAEEERE
EB81E313,0008 7T °

REBE-_ZT-_=F=R=
+—RLEEFEE hHRE
mEERRT —EHNBA
AR Z M E RS
REBHERTZEEME
AHAREBREBLEE
me FEEEREBEIRIE
HEEMZBESENT
& A23,0007% 7T £88,00078
TC o B ERILE 2
THRETE - REERMR
HH - AEE D RIERE
AREENEEAEAH
9,644,000/ 7T 5.9,644,00074
5T o

WZE-—_F+A—R"
AEEBEAEE -HRR
BB A BT SRR 10 B E 1
Ho NREBERENS
B2 60%RIEERKRRE
o BRER97,000%8
TL e RPABRFERE
MIFE1(0) I FE -
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41.

42.

222

Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

1. BT 32 5 ()
b) AEETTEEAS>HE

2023 2022

—E-= =z
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHETT
Fees we 876 996
Short term employment benefits EHEERA 22,900 12,386
Post-employment benefits B2 tm A 134 82
Total HEt 23,910 13,464

The above compensation of key management personnel includes the
directors’ remuneration, details of which are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements.

(c) Outstanding balance with related parties
Details of the Group's trade balances due from associates as at the
end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Financial Guarantees

As at 31 March 2023, the Group provided guarantees of approximately
HK$36,077,000 (2022: HKS$45,474,000) to customers in favour of certain banks
for the loans provided by the banks to the customers of the properties sold.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on mortgage
payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the guarantees, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together with
the accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the
banks, net of any sales proceeds as described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged
to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, in the event of default on
mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to take
over the legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through open
auction or other appropriate means. The Group is responsible for repaying the
banks when the proceeds from the auction of the properties cannot cover
the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate ownership
certificates to the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the directors of the
Company consider that in the event of default on payments, the net realisable
value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

43. Litigations

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-
Product Grand Market Company Limited (‘Baisazhou Agricultural’) from
independent third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and Wuhan Tian
Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co., Limited (“Tian Jiu") for their
respective 70% and 20% interests in Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Baisazhou
Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of civil proceedings
in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil proceedings in Mainland
China and Hong Kong in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition are set out
below:

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the
CAP Group:

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced legal proceedings
against the PRC Ministry of Commerce ("MOFCOM") in the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court, seeking, inter alia, a direction that MOFCOM
revoke its approval in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition.

Itis alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

a) Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements (the
"Contended Agreements’) in relation to the Baisazhou Acquisition
wherein the related consideration was understated and the manner of
settlement of the consideration was inaccurately described;

b) Baisazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation for filing with
MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For Industry and Commerce
(the "Hubei AIC"), and that such documentation and the Contended
Agreement involved forged signatures; and

o MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou Acquisition and
processed the related fillings on the basis of the above documents that
are allegedly forged.

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court directed
MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In May 2016, MOFCOM decided
that its approval issued in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be
revoked and shall remain to be in force (the “Reconsidered Decision’”).

43.
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224

Litigations (continued)

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the
CAP Group: (continued)

In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced administrative
proceedings against MOFCOM in the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s
Court seeking to set aside the Reconsidered Decision. In March 2017, the
Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court dismissed the application of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu (the “31 March Judgement’). On 20 December 2018,
the Beijing Higher People’s Court upheld the 31 March Judgement (the “20
December Judgement’). Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the Supreme
People’s Court for a retrial and for dismissal of (i) the 31 March Judgement,
and (i) the 20 December Judgement, but this application was dismissed by
the Supreme People’s Court on 29 December 2020.

As advised by the CAP Group’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by
MOFCOM in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be
revoked and remain to be in force, and the CAP Group continues to be the
legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

In May 2015, the CAP Group commenced legal proceedings against Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province (‘Hubei
Court’) seeking, inter alia, declarations and orders that the sales and purchase
agreements for the Baisazhou Acquisition (the “SPA”) have been legally made,
and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge
its contractual duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM (which were subsequently withdrawn in April 2019 in light of the
decisions in respect of the MOFCOM approvals). Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed
their counterclaim for, inter alia, the return of the CAP Group’s 90% interest in
Baisazhou Agricultural, which was dismissed by the Hubei Court in December
2019 (the “23 December Judgement’).

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23 December
Judgement. On 29 March 2021, the CAP Group received the judgement of the
Supreme Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29 December Judgement”)
which upheld the 23 December Judgement and dismissed the appeal of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu. As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the CAP Group,
according to the 23 December Judgement and the 29 December Judgement,
the CAP Group continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

43. Litigations (continued)

In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as
defendants:

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the Court of First Instance in the
High Court of Hong Kong (the “CFI") against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. CAP (as
purchaser) sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their
breach of various provisions of the SPA. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu counterclaimed
for, amongst others, an order that CAP shall cause and/or procure the shares
in Baisazhou Agricultural to be transferred back to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect that
undertakings (the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not
to (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the two instruments (purportedly
described as promissory notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (i) enforce
payment in relation to the SPA by presentation of the Instruments until the
final determination of these proceedings or further court order. Pursuant to
the Undertakings, the Instruments will no longer fall due for payment by CAP
on 5 December 2012.

The CFl handed down its judgement on 18 January 2021 awarding damages
in favour of CAP for sums exceeding the sum owed under the Instruments ("HK
Judgement’). The CFl also ordered that the damages awarded to CAP be set-
off by the sum owed under the Instruments, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
not be allowed to enforce the Instruments against CAP. In effect, CAP is not
required to make any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian
Jiu. Further, as the counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed, CAP
continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

On 20 April 2023, the CFl ruled in respect of the total damages that Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to CAP in respect of the HK Judgement and
ruled that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to CAP damages in the sum of
HK$567,037,000, together with interest thereon at judgement rate from 18
January 2021 until payment.

The case has now come to an end during the year.

Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, CAP is seeking legal
advice for the recovery of damages against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.
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Litigations (continued)

Prosecution commenced in the PRC by Wuhan Jianghan District
People’s Procuratorate against the former director of Baisazhou
Agricultural, Mr. Zhou Jiu Ming

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Jianghan District People’s
Court (“Jianghan Court’) dated 19 November 2021 (the “19 November
Judgement’), the former director of Baisazhou Agricultural, Mr. Zhou Jiu
Ming ("Mr. Zhou"), during the period of 2009 under the employment of
Baisazhou Agricultural, instructed other associated personnel of Baisazhou
Agricultural to unlawfully misappropriate funds of Baisazhou Agricultural
in the sum of RMB40,000,000 for his personal use. Wuhan Jianghan District
People’s Procuratorate commenced prosecution against Mr. Zhou for a
penalty. Jianghan Court ordered in the 19 November Judgement that: (1)
Mr. Zhou was guilty of misappropriation of funds and was sentenced to five
years of imprisonment; (2) Mr. Zhou shall return the misappropriated funds of
RMB40,000,000 to Baisazhou Agricultural in accordance with the law.

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Intermediate People’s Court
("Wuhan Court’) dated 11 January 2022 (the “11 January Judgement’),
Wuhan Court ordered that the appeal by Mr. Zhou against the 19 November
Judgement be dismissed. The 11 January Judgement is final.

The case has now come to an end.

Further details regarding the civil proceedings of the CAP Group can be found
in the interim/annual reports and announcements issued by CAP in due
course.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

44. Financial Instruments By Category

44.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 March 2023
Financial assets

Financial assets

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

0 B 43 0 2 ik T H

RBEHARSHERZEMTAEZER
HmENT :

—E-=F=H=+—H
SREE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

RAVEREE R SREE

atfair value
through other Designated Mandatorily
comprehensive as such upon designated Financial assets
income initial recognition assuch  atamortised cost Total
BATESH
2EREAR RERERE B RESRHAZ
LEREE ulligifd ulligiyy SREE &zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER AR AR TER
Listed equity investments ERER 143,649 123 = = 143,772
Listed debt investments EmERR 50,056 = = = 50,056
Unlisted funds kETES - - 41,638 = 41,638
Derivative component of unsecured notes  EEMZE 7 F4E TR
35 - - 5,456 = 5,456
Put options RbHE = = 232 = 32
Trade receivables B5RUTR - - - 68,028 68,028
Netinvestments in subleases PEREFE = = = 12,511 12,511
Loans and interest receivables EUEFRAE = = = 27,958 27,958
Financial assetsincluded in prepayments, P ATEIFE - e RE
deposits, and other receivables HENTE S REE = = = 191,212 191,212
Pledged deposits BERER = = = 33,496 33,496
Restricted bank balances RBHIBTER = = = 12,174 12,174
Cash and cash equivalents ReRASERER = = = 525,869 525,869
193,705 123 47,326 871,248 1,112,402
Financial liabilities SRIBE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

BB 2

SREE

HK$'000

FET

Trade payables B 5T 3RIA 79,489
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals FFAHAMENRIBEREFER

(excluding lease liabilities) cRBEFEAa BRI 352,202

Lease liabilities HEAaE 117,767

Unsecured notes EEPERE 125,189

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHESRITREMER 1,521,662

2,196,309

T EBEIER AR AR
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44. Financial Instruments By Category (continued)

31 March 2022

44, FH B4 00 R T H @
—F--f%=A=t—-H

Financial assets

Financial assets
atfair value
through other
comprehensive
income

2

HK$000

TREE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Designated
as such upon
initial recognition

Mandatorily
designated as such

EG)
Mt s gy
HKS'000
TR

Financial assets
at amortised cost

.‘.
HK$'000
Thr

Listed equity investments rikERE 147126 12 - - 147238
Listed debt investments FREBRE 19839 - - - 19839
Unlisted funds FrmEe - - 99,644 - 99,644
Derivative component of unsecurednotes  EEMZHE 7 T4 T &
5 - - 9849 - 9849
Interest rate swaps Fipcch - - 135 - 135
Tradle receivables EHRYE - - - 63,346 63346
Netinvestments in subleases PERETE - - - 14685 14,685
Loans and interest receivables EUERRAE - - - 30868 30868
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATENZUE » ke RE
deposits, and other receivables HERFIE, SREE - - - 170,868 170,868
Pledged deposits BERER - - - 31,250 31,250
Restricted bank balances XRAFITER - - - 7311 7311
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBLERER - - - 510,146 510,146
166,965 12 109,628 828474 1,105,179
Financial liabilities SRAaE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

REESER AN 2

TRBE

HK$'000

FAT

Trade payables B S ENFHIA 86,357
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals FFAEMENRIEREFERZ

(excluding lease liabilities) cRIBEMEEAGERIN 383,771

Lease liabilities MEAE 123,052

Unsecured notes AR 219,497

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHESRITREMBER 1,461,665

2,274,342
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial instruments,
other than those carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values,
are as follows:

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

S THZAPFEEA
P55 5k
A%ESBIA(EEERATE

ABAENSHET AR ZRE
BERAFEWAT

Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE YN
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2023
—E-=
=ZH=+—-H
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS’OOO
FHET THET THET FET
Financial liabilities TRAE
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEBRITREMEE
borrowings 1,521,662 1461665 1,568,461 1,498,839
Unsecured notes BIRARIE 125,189 219,497 134,615 246,473
1,646,851 1,681,162 1,703,076 1,745,312

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted bank balances, pledged deposits, trade receivables, net investments
in subleases, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, loans and interest receivables, trade payables and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of the Company
are responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the Company's directors and the audit committee. At
each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in
the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the Company’s
directors. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount
at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

EEECHERELRREFREA
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45.

230

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result
of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings as at 31 March 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.
The fair values of the liability portion of the unsecured notes are estimated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using an equivalent market
interest rate for similar securities with consideration of the Group's own non-
performance risk.

The fair values of listed equity investments and listed debt investments are
based on quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted fund investments
are determined based on the quoted market prices provided by fund
administrators with reference to prices derived from the over-the-counter
market. The fair values of unlisted debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income have been estimated using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported
by observable market prices or rates. The directors of the Company believe
that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which
are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the
related changes in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of the embedded derivatives in unsecured notes is determined
by valuation techniques and based on assumptions on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period. The valuation model requires the
input of subjective assumptions, including the expected volatility, discount
rate, risk-free rate and mean reversion.

The fair value of the put options is determined by valuation techniques
and based on assumptions on market conditions existing at the end of
the reporting period. The valuation model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, including the implied volatility, risk-free rate and dividend yield.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 45. il THZ AFH A

Instruments (continued) P18 % 8 a0
Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation WTARZEZ_=Fk=_F ==
of financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at =B=+—8H @mﬁlﬂﬁﬁZiﬁ
31 March 2023 and 2022: AR B R A BB E X F 8 UK
B
Significant
unobservable
Valuation technique  input Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EXFTEE
ER % BAYE RE AVEHBARBZERE
As at 31 March 2023
WR-B-=ZfF=A=1+-H
A derivative component from unsecured notes  Hull-white one factor ~ Volatility 15% 1% increase/(decrease) in volatility would have
classified as financial assets at fair value trinomial model g no material impact on the fair value
through profit o loss HEEEE-Ax KiEEh,/ (R 19T e H A TFEBRE
PERRATERBR AR EREBEY ZEARRN 5%
BEAZBZITHETARS
Discount rate 7.7% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount rate would
R E have no material impact on the fair value
FREEN,/ (R 19T HATEER
EPNZ |
Mean reversion 58% 1% increase/(decrease) in mean reversion
HERS would have no material impact on the fair
value
f’]fﬁ@ﬁmiﬂﬁbﬂ/ N eHRTE
EREATE
Put options classified as financial Binomial option pricing  Implied Volatility 149% 1% increase/(decrease) in implied volatility
assets at fair value through profit or loss model S E MR value would have no material impact on
PEARATERBES AR eREEY ZHEABEEERS the fair value
RnEE BRREEM (D) 1T A TE
ENEAYE
Risk free rate 33% 1% increase/(decrease) in risk free rate would
BRI R have no material impact on the fair value
|RRFIEEN,/ (RO TEHATE
ENEATE
Dividend yield 0% 1% increase/(decrease) in dividend yield would
hgsp:d have no material impact on the fair value
BREEEN/ (RINBTEEH ATFEEK
EXYE
fITEHERIERBRA
TR 23
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 45. il THZ AFH A

Instruments (continued) PAH S S @)
Significant
unobservable
Valuation technique  input Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EXTAHE
RER % BAHE AVEHUABE ZHRE
As at 31 March 2022
W-B-=—f=A=1+-H
A derivative component from unsecured notes  Hull-white one factor Volatility 21% 1% increase/(decrease) in volatility would have
classified as financial assets at fair value trinomial model W& no material impact on the fair value
through profit or loss HREFE AR RIEEM (RN e e H A FEEKE
PEREATELEEA AR eHEEL =EAER vE
EERZERZITETES
Discount rate 77% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount rate would
fRE have no material impact on the fair value
FRERN (50 TR AT EER
EXFE
Mean reversion 46% 1% increase/(decrease) in mean reversion
HEERS would have no material impact on the fair
value
BERSZEN/ (RD) 1w ey RTE
EREAYE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

45. it THZ AFE LA

P 5 AR )

DFHESR
TRAUPAEEEHMTAZATE
AEER

BEAVEGEBZEE

Fair value measurement using

ERTIIZE AV EE

Quoted prices
in active markets
(Level 1)

RERTHE
ZHE
(E-%)
HK$'000
TEn

Significant Significant

Observable Unobservable

Inputs (Level2)  Inputs (Level 3)

BXTEE  EXTUEE

BAHE BARE
(=R (E=H) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THT THER

As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=#=h=1-H
Financial assets at fair value through other BATEEHM2EREAE
comprehensive income: LEREE:
Listed equity investments IhRERE 143,649 = = 143,649
Listed debt investments rhEHRE 50,056 = = 50,056
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: BATESERARL
SREE
Unlisted funds FEITES = 41,638 = 41,638
Listed equity investment IhRERE 123 = = 123
Derivative component of unsecured notes BERZB AR S = 5,456 5,456
Put options RhEE S = 232 232
193,828 41,638 5,688 241,154
As at 31 March 2022 RZF-_-#=R=+-H
Financial assets at fair value through other BOFECH2ERENE
comprehensive income: LERAE:
Listed equity investments FiRERE 147,126 - - 147,126
Listed debt investments IEBRE 19,839 - - 19,839
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: BLTECEREA AR
Unlisted funds FEmES - 99,644 - 99,644
Listed equity investment FiRERE 112 - - 112
Derivative component of unsecured notes BEREEITETIRSES - - 9849 9849
Interest rate swaps Fili5 - 135 - 135
167,077 99,779 9849 276,705

7 B ANARA T
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

45. it TH2Z A PHREA

46.

234

Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years are as
follows:

-1 25 A (@)

AREESHC )
BRAVEHBZEE (R
RATEE  BE=RATVEFEZ
HEHMT

HK$'000
TR

At 1 April 2021 RZE-—FlA—A 43,936
Disposal of unlisted funds HEELTES (15,876)
Fair value losses recognised in profit or loss RIBRER 2 AT EEE (18211)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-E-_—_F=A=+—HEK

T _FmA—H 9,849
Addition NE 391
Early redemption of unsecured notes REREREKRRE (4,755)

Fair value gains recognised in profit or loss, net

R8T R 2 A FEWRES - FE 203

At 31 March 2023

R-_ZE_=F=A=+—H

5,688

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial
assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall
strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
unsecured notes and bank and other borrowings disclosed in notes 30 and
31 to the financial statements, net of cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits and equity attributable to owners of the parent, which comprises
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

46.

RER - @ RAER SR B
mE—BRE-MATETERN
ZHB - EESARBEE=R
—E-—f @) -

=

St 265 D o A B H B B B
R

AEBEEEEEARUAERAEEE
ERAFELE  RREBEL
B R r) FEEEE AR O
o ARBERRBEREFERFT

& .

AEEEAEBBRRBEEHFR(E
BRI B mRM 30 RII BB &
BERRBRUARRITREMER)
BRRe MRS ERIER - 2
TFRARBGRBEE AN EHEER
(BREDBITRA LR -

ARREEFYFERNELEE -
IEBENMS  EFFRERE
AR 2 PR R B FR Rl & AR AR 2 R
- REEERRE  AEEKES
BT - BERD RBITHE
BRBEEREER  FEHHEEEE
RILHE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

St 5 ¥ A W a2)

31March2023 —E-=F=A=+—H

46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 46. 4755 B 4 PR H B S B
Policies (continued) R ()

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group'’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
loans and interest receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, net investments in subleases, financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, restricted bank balances, trade payables, bank and
other borrowings, unsecured notes, and financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Market risks

(i)  Currency risk
The Company and several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases and foreign currency
bank deposits, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Substantially most of the Group's bank deposits and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings are denominated in the
relevant group entities’ functional currencies. Substantially most
of the Group’s sales and purchases are denominated in the
relevant group entities’ functional currencies.

The Group currently does not implement hedging activities to
hedge against foreign currency exposure.
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

236

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risks (continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign exchange rate
fluctuation of the foreign currencies stated above against the
functional currencies of the respective group entities.

If the RMB exchange rate had increased/decreased by 5% and
other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the
year ended 31 March 2023 would have increased/decreased by
HK$282,000 (2022: HK$51,000).

The Group's exposures to currency risk of other currencies
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 31 to the financial
statements) and bank deposits (see note 26 to the financial
statements) at prevailing market interest rates. The Group
monitors the movement in interest rates on an ongoing basis
and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the
need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. The
Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of one to three months Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate. The Group currently does not use any derivative contracts
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, management
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risks (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings
and bank deposits at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had increased/decreased by 50 basis points and
all other variables were held constant, the Group's loss for the
year ended and the total equity as at 31 March 2023 would have
increased/decreased and decreased/increased by HK$5,476,000
and HK$5,476,000, respectively (2022: HK$4,047,000 and
HK$4,047,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure
to interest rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

The Group's sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the
current year mainly due to the increase in variable-rate interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on bank balances
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)
a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a.

Market risks (continued)
(iii)  Price risk

238

Price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and

B2 EE R EE
UK R 8B 7 75 2

the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity EEZHUBRAES
price risk arising from individual equity investments included N ETEZRE - R
in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive ZEZ=F=A=1+—
income (note 18) and financial assets at fair value through A NEERAFAERR
profit or loss (note 25) as at 31 March 2023. The Group’s listed FELHEM2E RS A
investments are listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued at FeomEE (I8
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. R A ELEE AR

Z A E (ME25 8

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange at the close of
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the
reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points
during the year are as follows:

1851 B 4 4% 2 1 1D A
RERER - NEEZ
ETRE T R AR
£ WAREIRZ
MIZWELETTHE -

REROBEPRRORS
B SR R A R A - B
R TSR 8 &
HERESHMZER
L

31 March High/low High/low
2023 2023
—E=-= —E-=
=A=+-H &/ B
Hong Kong e
- Hang Seng Index KR 20,400 22,701/ 21,997 29,491/
14,597 18,235

The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that may
affect the value of these financial investments.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 46. HA% )R P PR H R S B
Policies (continued) R )
a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a. UXEREEEEREEGE
Market risks (continued) TG R ()
(iii)  Price risk (continued) (i) 1B B ()
Sensitivity analysis BURRZE ST
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every TRERERREAMZBUR
10% increase/decrease in the fair values of the listed equity AW B AR EHIR
investments with all other variables held constant and before FER  EHRERE
any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end REERR 2 REE
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, for the HEAFE10%E N,/
listed equity investments included in financial assets at fair value W7 GURE - LA D
through other comprehensive income, the impact is deemed to MmE - HitAKRAF
be on the fair value reserve (non-recycling). BELEEME2EKEAR
ZEREER TR
BE R BERIEER
TEFEECTTEE) 2

S 40
Tl o

Carrying Increase/
amount of Decrease/ (decrease) in
equity (increase)in other components
investments loss before tax of equity

REREZ BREAER REZHGH?
fRE{E B/ () #m,/ (B

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T TAT
2023 —BCCR
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: &S L
wE:
- Financial assets at fair value through -RATEEERA
profit or loss RZemEE 123 12/(12) -
~ Financial assets at fair value through -BATELEME
other comprehensive income YN ks
BEE 143,649 - 14,365/(14,365)
2022 —BC-CE
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: &S L.
RE
~ Financial assets at fair value through -BATELEEA
profit or loss FremEE 112 11/(11) -
~ Financial assets at fair value through -BATELEME
other comprehensive income YN
MEE 147,126 - 14,713/(14,713)
Liquidity risk REBESER
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and EERBHESRARIE - A
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by FEERNAEBEEERR
management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects TRz BRe kA2 ERIEER
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of K AR EEEERM
bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants. EeRRERBEeRERBT

2 -EEABRERRITEER
BR THEAREKERR
#) o

fR R ERAT
—zo—sry 239



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

46. 0% R B 4 B H B R K
)

a.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a. HEEREEBZERIEGEKGE
Liquidity risk (continued) REE S E ()
Liquidity and interest risk tables I B B <2 Je P 3 Jl Bt 7
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity TERHAVNAEESRAET
for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the BRAEKTH - WRBEBEAE
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date ExFEEEOH SRA
on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates of all BERFTRBSRERE - FF
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. EemBaEsIHAER

HEERBE -

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent TERBEEMNERRAERENR
that interest cash flows are at floating rates, the undiscounted amount E -WAMERERE AR F
is derived from the interest rate at the end of the reporting period. B RKWRSBAIKRERE

HRR 2 Fl% o

On demand Total
or less than 1to Over undiscounted Carrying
1year 5years Syears  cashflows amount
RERS, ARRS
SR-F  -ZEE  RENE  HEAE BEE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Thn Fhn T T THT
Asat 31 March 2023 RZBZZF=A=1-H
Tradle payables BREMATE 79,489 = = 79,489 79,489
Other payables and accruals (exclucing lease EEATERETBR(RES
libilties and including liabiltes of a disposal ERIRBELERRZER)
company) 352325 66 - 352,391 352,391
Lease labiltes HERE 56,296 68,443 3,659 128,398 117,767
Bank and other borrowings - variable ates (note)  SRATREMEE - F2 () 33913 1,113,762 57374 1545049  1,311,69
Bank and other borrowings = fixed rates (note) FOREMEE - E2 ) 151,658 65,194 22,008 238,860 209,966
Unsecured notes BERZE 1,653 151,500 = 153,153 125,189
1015334 1,398,965 83041 2497340 2,196,498
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZE=A=1-H
Tradle payables BHERNTA 86,357 - - 86,357 86357
Other payables and accruals (excluding lease AERFAREHER(ESE
liabilties) BRI 383351 40 - 383771 383771
Lease labiltes HEBE 55471 N7 5537 132725 123052
Bankand other borrowings ~variable rates hote)  RITREMEE - ZR () 4340 680443 - 113873 1054433
Bank and other borrowings = fixed rates (note) RITREMEE - M) 272335 163,667 39412 475414 40723
Unsecured notes BERZE 2900 286,665 - 289565 219497
1243844 1202912 44949 2491705 2274342

)% 82 BRI E R RAETE %

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments

for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes LR E 2 hEHAR - AILA ESRIEDT
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates AemBEZFETAFAZERE
determined at the end of the reporting period. A e #E) -

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 46.

Policies (continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)
Note:

Included in interest-bearing bank loans of the Group are term loans with an
aggregate principal amounted to HK$120,681,000 (2022: HK$130,000,000), of
which the respective loan agreements contain a repayment on-demand clause
giving the bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any time and
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total amount is
classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that these
loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they consider that
the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
respective loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial statements; the
Group's compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and
the fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled repayments on time.
In accordance with the terms of these loans, the contractual undiscounted
payments are as follows:

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

$o 5 T\ B 4 PR H B R B
)

a. UREREEBEERBEGE
B E & EEE ()
I B) B <2 B P LB 7 ()
BsE

AEBFAERTERBELASE
%8120,681,0008 T(ZF ==
130,000,000/ 70) U EHAE 7K -
HPhREERBAHERERE
BIE O BT IRTEEIEEED
BERFMERE SN - FtL - gt EatE)
HERME 2B HES
MREREE] -

BEALMGTMRE  BEFL
TRE - ZEERHR12EAR
2EHE - MEERR/ZEER
BIRES BERBHEAHNSE
BEEHEE - BRFETIEE
BT mET AT - AEER
MRS A/ B SV RSO
REBETERRY - R#EE
EBHEMF  URARECIREE
BB LEANBIER - RIEZ
EWR G - BRRFTBA M

T

Within 1 year 1to 5 years Total

—fFR —ZhHE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFHET FHET

31 March 2023 —E-=F=ZA=+—H 48,763 77,769 126,532

31 March 2022 T F=A=+—H 44,228 90,128 134,356
Credit risk EERE

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
[tis the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In order to minimise
the credit risk on trade receivables and prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
credit risk is significantly reduced.

AEBELRLRITAEERFNE
=HETRS c AREBRAME
BAERATAETRZNEFY
BB TERRRERF - BREES
FEMFRIA R FENFIE - RE R HEAM
EURIBZ EERR - AEEEE
ABEERER NEARETEREE
B BHREEREMERER - A
FEIRBRHRBR A #65 7E J D B HA(E 0R -
AN - REBER R E HIR R @
PIEMIR Z AT I 58 - ARELR
BRI E S EH R HRER
BEE -l ARREERRE
BB BERE -

R ERERER AR
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

242

Policies (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based
on past due information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March.
For listed debt investments, the Group also monitors them by using
external credit ratings. The amounts presented are gross carrying

amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2023

Listed debt investments at fair value through other

12-month ECLs
12f8 A
RHGEERE

Stage 1
K&
HK$'000

TiEn

BOTEEEG2EREARL LT

46. 0% R B 4 B H B R K
)

Stage2
KR
HKS'000

TiEn

BBEREEREREEKGE
B E & EEE ()

5% 1 L Bt D AF 4 I
TRETENAEENEE
BENEREEEM&ESEER
Rk - TEERBHEHFR
FEMERAAEBAN BT
BEERAREE NNIER T #E
) RR=A=+—HBHF
KRB - AEEITAA
SMBEEFRER ETWER
KE -V EEAERE
EAREE -

R-EBE-=%5=A=+—H
Lifetime ECLs

2HRHEEER
Simplified
approach Total
L1905 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR Thn

Stage3
#=RA
HKS'000

TiEn

comprehensive income — A to C [ERRE - MEC 49,243 = 813 - 50,056
Trade receivables* AR = = = 91,122 91,122
Net investments in subleases PEREFE = = = 12,511 12,511
Loans and interest receivables EUEFTRAE 13,963 1,59 55,985 = 71,544
Financial assets included in prepayments, depositsand AR » ke REMENFE

other receivables LEBEE

- Normal** R 176,827 = = = 176,827

- Doubtful** TR = 14,385 = = 14,385
Pledged deposits BEAER 33,496 = = = 33,496
Restricted bank balances R HIHTLES 12,174 = = = 12,174
Cashand cash equivalents (including assets ofadispossl -~ & R 2SR (BELELA

company) LEE) 526,703 = = = 526,703

812,406 15,981 56,798 103,633 988,818

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 46. 4755 B 4 PR H B S B
Policies (continued) R )
a.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a. HXEEBREEBERBEKGE
Credit risk (continued) FEE & E kR ()
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) I 15 L B e 4 4 I B ()
As at 31 March 2022 R-_ZE-__F=A=+—H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Simplified

Stage3 approach
£=B5 iy
HKS000

Listed debt investments a fair value through other BATEEENAEREAR LT

comprehensive income - Bto C [EB%E-BEC 15,365 2649 1825 - 19839
Trade receivables* B AR - - - 79515 79515
Net investments n subleases PRREFE - - - 14685 14,685
Loans and interest receivables RUEFTRAE 16208 1922 58351 - 76481
Financial assets included in prepayments, depositsand AT » ke REMENFE

other receivables LEHEE

- Normal** g 156829 - - - 156829

- Doubtful* TR - 14307 - - 14307
Pledged deposits BEAER 31250 - - - 31250
Restricted bank balances RRHFTES 731 - - - 7311
Cash and cash equivalents ReRASEREE 510,146 - - - 510,146

731109 18898 60,176 94,200 910383
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * MASBEEAG T EFERE
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in ZEBHRWGIEME @ RIFEE
note 22 to the financial statements. FEEETE 2 BER NIRRT
224K o
*  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, * fWEFATEMNIE - ke REME
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they WHRIEz &R E E M A S H R
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial BEENBATEMEEBVHRER
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. LRZIZERBEZEM - 2
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be BEEEHGEAIER] - B8 &
“doubtful”. MEEZFEAZRBRRABIF
5] o

7 B ANARA T
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

b.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by equity attributable to owners of the parent of the Company.
Net debt is calculated as the total of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and unsecured notes, less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

46. 0% R B 4 B H B R K
L)

b.

AEXrEH
AEEERERNTIERR
EREAEEFELEHNL
N RERREEEARNLD
BRI S R BRRE
B&EAL -

A 55 B R A RS 4 2
HEARBETEERSH
% o AR E I HEARER
RIS EARETRRE
BTHRG c BE-T==
ER-E-—F=A=+-—
BIEFER  ARERNA
12 BRI IR
% o

AEENAABLE(EAR
WEABRGRERAGHF
FEZER - B FREIIR
STERITREAE & A R &
EREB 2 BBRRE LR
©ERER REEIPFRE
B oREHRNBELEN
T

2023 2022
—=== —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT F&TT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTEIRTT R EAM
BE 31 1,521,662 1,461,665
Unsecured notes AR 30 125,189 219,497
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and pledged &l : & MR &%
deposits RIIER &
HIRTF R 26 (559,365) (541,396)
Net debt BE5FER 1,087,486 1,139,766
Equity attributable to owners of the parent [SY/NCIE PN
FEhHE = 2,349,191 2,515,798
Gearing ratio AfEtx 46% 45%

47. Events After the Reporting Period

244

On 12 April 2023, CAP repurchased outstanding unsecured notes in
an aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 via open market. The
repurchased notes had been cancelled on 21 April 2023. Details of repurchase
were disclosed in the announcement of CAP dated 12 April 2023.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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48. Comparative Amounts

49.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the

current year's presentation and disclosures.

Statement of Financial Position of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries

Financial assets at fair value through other

FRBEE
KRB RRZRE

48. bR

ETHBRSHEECEHNDHE - UFE
REEZ 20 RHE -

49. A2 v B B IR DL
BB EERER AR FHRREZ

AR

2023
—— =

— ==

HK$’000
FTERT

B EEEMEE RS AR

2022

—E -
HK$'000
T T

comprehensive income JEREE = 3,146
- 3,146

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries FE W B A BRI 2,735,077 2,911,535
Other receivables Hib el k18 681 321
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEeERIER 76,576 2,114
2,812,334 2,913,970

CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Due to subsidiaries R NGIE 643,820 770,268
Other payables and accruals HEtb SN ERTE R 6,978 7,699
Interest-bearing bank borrowing FFRRITEE 4,331 -
655,129 777,967
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETFE 2,157,205 2,136,003
Net assets BEFE 2,157,205 2,139,149

EQUITY i
Issued capital BEITIRAR 12,046 12316
Reserves (note) w1 () 2,145,159 2,126,833
Total equity g 2,157,205 2,139,149
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
& WEH
Director Director
EF EE

R % AR AT
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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49. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

(continued)
Note: B E -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RARHREHZERI T

Share
premium

Special
reserve

KGR

000

49, A2 W) WK DL FE @0

Contributed
surplus

Fair value
reserve

(non- recycling)
ATEEE
(Fa&s)

0

Accumulated
losses

At April 2021 WZE-—FNA—H 2,106,799 (27,150) 275693 (2135) (245934) 2107273
Profit for the year REFHH - - - - 23695 23695
Other comprehensive loss for the year: TEEEMEEEE
Change in fair value of equity investments at fairvalue AT ESE B 2AREAR
through other comprehensive income LRERE 2 AT ERE) - - - (4135) - 4139)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year REE2ENE/ (BE) g - - - 4135) 23695 19560
At31 March 2022and 1 April 2022 RZZZZF=R=1-AkK
—Z--EmA-H 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 (6,270) (222,239) 2,126,833
Profit for the year TEERT - - - = 27,459 27,459
Other comprehensive income for the year: REEEM2ENS :
Change in fai value of equity investments at farvalue A FESEM2EREAER
through other comprehensive income LREREATEEY - - = 557 = 557
Total comprehensive income for the year TEERENRER = = = 557 27,459 28,016
Shares repurchased and cancelled BEREERR (9,690) - - - - (9,690)
Reclassification acjustment for a loss on disposal of equity 1 ERATFEEE 2 AN
investments atfair value through other comprehensive ~ ABxZ RIER B 518 2 &3
income HRBE - - - 5713 (5,713) :
At31 March 203 RZE-Z%ZF=+-H 2,097,109 (27,150) 275,693 - (200,493) 2,145,159

50. i o 1 %% 0 % ek

MEBRRECAEFSTR_T_=F
NAZHN\BHEIL T o

50. Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board
of directors on 28 June 2023.
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Particulars of Key Properties

ERYEGF N

BEWE

Investment Properties

Attributable interest

Location Tenure of the Group
sk FH AEBEZELER
Wuhan Baisazhou Agri-Products Market, Agricultural produce Medium term lease 53%
Special Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling exchange market
Country, Hongshan District, Wuhan City,
Hubei Province, the PRC
PEMILARETRILRBTERSTEHE RERKINS R EATEAY
—SREVE B DM R BIE M AT IS
Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products Agricultural produce Medium term lease 53%
International Logistics Centre, West of Luoji exchange market
Expressway, Laocheng District, Luoyang
City, Henan Province, the PRC
REEARGETERRRTRRBERRN REEMRZTS FEATEAY
AGE REIE BRI O
Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Market,  Agricultural produce Medium term lease 27%

East of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan District,

exchange market

Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
REDT & A RN TR I EDEAERA
HINERIERT ORI ETS

T HITE A

BREMXZ N

SR (TR LIS

Attributable interest

Properties Held for Sale

Approximate

Location saleable floor area of the Group
it BOTHEZEEE AEBEZELER
(Square feet)
SN
China = ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products 1,673,000  Agricultural produce 53%
Market, North of Jinhaiwan West Avenue exchange market
(Entrance of Nanbei Highway), Qinzhou
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
the PRC
B EFAL R B AR N T &8 ET RS REMRXFH NS
JbAI(Fadb R e A B ) AR B - 3RER (BRH)
REMAT S

T EBEIER AR AR
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Five Year Financial Summary

o 4E B R

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests ~ NN AAEBEBRE AEMRFEE 2 £45£
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited MEE - BERIEEREREE - TX
financial statements is set out below. TiEsk BB A S BRI -

Results E3)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= z 2 —E-TF ZThHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&TT F&TT FH&IT F& T
Revenue I zs 1,286,428 1,391,411 1,108,565 620,741 751,443
Profit/(loss) before tax BELRTER
(B518) (11,936) (47,304) (303,131) 455,167 81,694
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,
(FA%) 15,283 (40,519) (148,132) (17,199) (7,448)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FORTHE YEAR  ZANFE %A,
(E18) 3,347 (87,823) (451,263) 437,968 74,246
Attributable to: AT AL -
Owners of the parent ISI/NEIE PN (20,515) (108,912) (375,995) 438,548 74,627
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR e 23,862 21,089 (75,268) (580) (381)
3,347 (87,823) (451,263) 437,968 74,246
Assets, Liabilities and Non-Controlling Interests HE - AR IERE B R
At 31 March
R=A=+—8H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= 28 2 —E-TF ZT—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&TT F&TT T T
Total assets BEE 7,013,815 7,597,713 7,964,526 7,730,183 3,454,670
Total liabilities BEE (3,325,431) (3,637,102) (4,014,177) (3,736,796) (1,006,581)
Non-controlling interests EE O (1,339,193)  (1444813)  (1,385024)  (1,350,601) (3971)
Equity attributable to owners of A FEEA A
the parent FE(LRER 2,349,191 2,515,798 2,565,325 2,642,786 2,444,118

248 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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